Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

5-22-2014 12:00 AM

Role Of Nitric Oxide In Embryonic Heart Development And Adult Aortic Valve Disease

Yin Liu, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Qingping Feng, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Pharmacology and Toxicology © Yin Liu 2014

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Cellular and Molecular Physiology Commons, Developmental Biology Commons, and the Molecular Genetics Commons

Recommended Citation

Liu, Yin, "Role Of Nitric Oxide In Embryonic Heart Development And Adult Aortic Valve Disease" (2014). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 2108. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/2108

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

ROLE OF NITRIC OXIDE IN EMBRYONIC HEART DEVELOPMENT AND ADULT AORTIC VALVE DISEASE

(Thesis format: Integrated Article)

by

Yin <u>Liu</u>

Graduate Program in Pharmacology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

The University of Western Ontario

London, Ontario, Canada

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Yin Liu 2014

Abstract

Congenital heart disease (CHD) is the most common birth defect in infants. Identifying factors that are critical to embryonic heart development or CHDs in general could further our understanding of the disease and may lead to new strategies of its prevention and treatment. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS3/eNOS) is known for many important biological functions including vasodilation, vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. Previous studies have shown that deficiency in NOS3 results in congenital septal defects, cardiac hypertrophy and postnatal heart failure. In addition, NOS3 is pivotal to morphogenesis of aortic valve and myocardial capillary development. The aim of my thesis was to investigate the role of NOS3 in the embryonic and adult heart. I discovered that NOS3 deficiency resulted in coronary artery hypoplasia in fetal mice and spontaneous myocardial infarction in postnatal hearts. Coronary artery diameters, vessel density and volume were significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at postnatal day 0. Lack of NOS3 also down-regulated the expression of Gata4, Wilms tumor-1, vascular endothelial growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor and erythropoietin in the embryonic heart at E12.5, and inhibited migration of epicardial cells into the myocardium. In addition, my data show that the overall size and length of mitral and tricuspid valves were decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with WT mice. Echocardiographic assessment showed significant regurgitation of mitral and tricuspid valves during systole in NOS3^{-/-} mice. Immunostaining of Snail1 was performed in the embryonic heart. Snail1 positive and total mesenchymal cells in the AV cushion were decreased in NOS3^{-/-} compared with WT mice at E10.5 and E12.5. Finally, in the adult aortic valves, NOS3 is important in inhibition of thrombosis formation. Deficiency in NOS3 leads to aortic valve thrombosis

and calcification. At 12 months old, 72% (13/18) of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis compared with WT mice (0/12). *Ex vivo* culture of aortic valves showed that platelet aggregation and adhesion were significantly increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves compared with WT aortic valves. There was also a significant regurgitation of the aortic valve during systole in the *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with WT mice. In addition, *NOS3* deficiency resulted in significant aortic valve stenosis, calcification and fibrosis. In summary, these data suggest NOS3 plays a critical role in embryonic heart development and morphogenesis of coronary arteries and inhibits thrombosis formation in the adult aortic valves.

Co-Authorship Statement

The studies outlined in **Chapters 2-4** were performed by Yin Liu in the laboratory of Dr. Qingping Feng, with the assistance of co-authors as listed below.

Dr. Qingping Feng contributed to experimental design, data interpretation, and manuscript preparation for all experiments. Drs. Robert E. Poelmann, Adriana C. Gittenberger-de Groot, Jeffrey Robbins contributed to manuscript preparation for **Chapter 2**. Additionally, Dr. Sharon Lu assisted with the troubleshooting in all the experiments. Mrs. Murong Liu coordinated the animal breeding and genotyping.

Chapter 2: Dr. Fuli Xiang performed the EPDC cultures and western blot analysis of hu-NOS3 expression (**Figure 2.1 and 2.8**).

Chapter 3: Dr. Lu Man assisted with the echocardiography imaging (Figure 3.5, 3,6 and 3.7). Dr. Fuli Xiang helped with the endocardial cushion explants. (Figure 3.10)
Chapter 4: Dr. Fuli Xiang helped with echocardiography imaging. (Figure 4.3, 4.4).

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, mentor and friend **Dr. Qingping Feng** for his help, support, and guidance throughout my Ph.D. studies. Dr. Feng's passion for science and research truly inspired me to join his lab for PhD studies. It is a pleasure working with him over the past 5 years. I have learned many things, both academic and personal, over the course of my PhD studies. He taught me the characteristics of a good scientist and more importantly a good person. I have learned many important life values from him which would benefit me for life. For that I thank him dearly.

To the Feng laboratory, I had an excellent experience over the past 5 years. Without each and every member of the Feng lab this would not have been possible. I would like to thank **Dr. Sharon Lu** in particular in helping and troubleshooting with me on my experiments. She always gave me excellent advice when I am in need of anything in the lab. More importantly, she makes the most amazing food and brings them to the lab to share with everyone.

To my advisory committee **Dr. Douglas Jones, Dr. Donglin Bai and Dr. Thomas Drysdale and Dr. Arthur Brown**: you have provided excellent suggestions and feedback to my studies and helped me tremendously over these 5 years. On an individual level Dr. Drysdale was the most approachable and easygoing person to talk to, Dr. Brown was a constant source of support and was there whenever I needed help. Dr. Jones and Dr. Bai, were models of professionalism and their guidance with regards to my career will always be appreciated. To my parents and all my friends who have been there for me, providing me with all the supports I need, I could not have done this without you! In particular I would like to thank my mom and dad for their unconditional love for me over these years.

I also would like to acknowledge the Lawson Health Research Institute, and the Department of Physiology and Pharmacology at Western for providing me with a very stimulating and supportive environment that helped me to converse scientifically and become a skilled presenter. Additionally, I truly enjoyed my TA experience for Pharmacology 3550. Drs. Cook, Hammond, Chidiac were all wonderful to work with. I learned how to be a good lecturer and mentor over my course of TAing.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Co-Authorship Statement	iv
Acknowledgments	v
Tables	xii
Figures	xiii
List of abbreviation, symbols and nomenclature	XV
1 CHAPTER 1	1
1.1 Congenital Heart Disease	1
1.2 Valvular Heart Disease	1
1.3 Hypoplastic Coronary Artery Disease	2
1.4 Formation of the Four-Chambered Heart	
1.5 Formation of the Coronary Arteries	4
1.6 Atrioventricular Valve Development	4
1.7 Factors in Heart Development	5
1.7.1 Transcription Factors in Heart Development	5
1.7.2 Growth Factors in Heart Development	8
1.8 Endothelial Activation and Thrombosis Formation	9
1.9 Aortic Valve Calcification	12
1.10Nitric Oxide Synthase	13
1.11NOS3 Expression in the Embryonic Heart	15
1.12NOS3 and Heart Development	16
1.13NOS3 and Its Upstream Activators	
1.14NOS3 and Its Downstream Effectors	
1.15NOS3 Promotes Cardiomyocyte Proliferation	

	1.1	6NOS3	Promotes Postnatal Heart Maturation	22
	1.1	7NOS3	and Myocardial Capillary Development	23
	1.1	8NOS3	and Aortic Valve Development	24
	1.1	9NOS3	and Thrombosis	26
	1.2	0NOS3	and Aortic Valve Calcification	27
	1.2	1 Summa	ary of Heart Defects in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice	28
	1.2	2Ration	ale and Hypotheses	30
	1.2	3Refere	nces	35
2	Cha	apter 2		49
	2.1	CHAP	TER SUMMARY	50
	2.2	INTRO	DUCTION	51
	2.3	METH	ODS	52
		2.3.1	Animals	52
		2.3.2	Generation of Human NOS3 Transgenic Mice	53
		2.3.3	ECG Monitoring	54
		2.3.4	TTC Staining	55
		2.3.5	Three-Dimensional Reconstructions and Histological Analysis	55
		2.3.6	Ex vivo Heart Cultures	55
		2.3.7	Co-culture of EPDCs and Cardiomyocytes	56
		2.3.8	General Tissue Processing	56
		2.3.9	Real Time RT-PCR	56
		2.3.10	Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence	57
		2.3.11	Western Blot Analysis	58
		2.3.12	Heart Function Measurements	58
		2.3.13	EPDC Outgrowth	58

		2.3.14	Statistical Analysis	. 59
	2.4	RESU	LTS	. 59
		2.4.1	Characterization of NOS3 ^{TG} and NOS3 ^{TG} ;NOS3 ^{-/-} mice.	. 59
		2.4.2	Deficiency in NOS3 results in spontaneous myocardial infarction	62
		2.4.3	Deficiency in NOS3 impairs coronary artery development	. 65
		2.4.4	Down-regulation of transcription and growth factors in E12.5 NOS3 ^{-/-} hearts.	. 73
		2.4.5	Deficiency in NOS3 decreases epicardium-derived cells (EPDCs) migration.	. 76
	2.5	DISCU	JSSION	. 81
	2.6	REFE	RENCES	. 84
3	СН	APTER	.3	. 87
	3.1	СНАР	TER SUMMARY	. 88
	3.2	INTRO	DDUCTION	. 89
	3.3	METH	IODS	. 91
		3.3.1	Animals	. 91
		3.3.2	Generation of Human NOS3 Transgenic Mice	. 91
		3.3.3	General Tissue Processing	. 92
		3.3.4	Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence	. 92
		3.3.5	Three-Dimensional Reconstructions and Histological Analysis	. 92
		3.3.6	Heart Function Measurements	. 93
		3.3.7	Ex vivo Heart Cultures	. 93
		3.3.8	Real-time RT-PCR	. 94
		3.3.9	Measurement of cGMP	. 94
		3.3.10	Endocardial Cushion Explant Culture	. 95
		3.3.11	Statistical Analysis	. 95

	3.4	Result	S	95
		3.4.1	Deficiency in NOS3 impairs AV valve formation	95
		3.4.2	Regurgitation of AV valves in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice	. 105
		3.4.3	Snail1 ⁺ and total mesenchymal cells are decreased in endocardial cushion of NOS3 ^{-/-} mice	. 113
		3.4.4	cGMP signaling is decreased in NOS3 ^{-/-} hearts	. 116
		3.4.5	EndMT is impaired in NOS3 ^{-/-} endocardial cushions	. 119
	3.5	DISCU	JSSION	. 122
	3.6	REFE	RENCES	. 126
4	СН	APTER	. 4	. 129
	4.1	СНАР	TER SUMMARY	. 130
	4.2	INTRO	DDUCTION	. 131
	4.3	METH	IODS	. 133
		4.3.1	Animals	. 133
		4.3.2	General Tissue Processing	. 133
		4.3.3	Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence	. 133
		4.3.4	Heart Function Measurements	. 134
		4.3.5	Platelet Adhesion and Aggregation on Aortic Valves	. 134
		4.3.6	Aortic Valve Interstitial Cell Cultures	. 135
		4.3.7	Real Time RT-PCR	. 135
		4.3.8	Statistical Analysis	. 136
	4.4	Result	S	. 136
		4.4.1	Severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice	. 136
		4.4.2	Deficiency in NOS3 results in aortic valve regurgitation	. 142
		4.4.3	Deficiency in NOS3 results in aortic valve fibrosis and thickening of the aortic wall.	. 147

		4.4.4	Deficiency in NOS3 results in endothelial cell activation/damage	. 150
		4.4.5	Deficiency in NOS3 results in severe aortic valve calcification	. 153
	4.5	DISCU	JSSION	. 159
	4.6	REFE	RENCES	. 162
5	СН	APTER	5	. 165
D	ISCU	JSSION	1	. 165
	5.1	SUMN	ARY OF MAJOR FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	. 165
	5.2	STUD	Y LIMITATIONS	. 169
		5.2.1	Mouse Models of Human Disease Conditions	. 169
		5.2.2	Use of Pharmacological Inhibitors to Delineate Signaling Pathways	. 174
	5.3	SUGG	ESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	. 175
	5.4	CLINI	CAL APPLICATION	. 178
	5.5	CONC	LUSIONS	. 179
	5.6	REFE	RENCES	. 180
A	PPEI	NDIX		. 183
C	urric	ulum V	itae	. 184

Tables

	Table 2.1 Gene name,	accession numb	per and primers	used.	
--	----------------------	----------------	-----------------	-------	--

Figures

Figure 1.1. NOS3 is crucial during heart development.	
Figure 1.2 Summary of studies 1, 2 and 3.	
Figure 2.1 Generation of mice with cardiomyocyte specific overexpression of	of human
nitric oxide synthase-3 (hu-NOS3) during embryonic development	610
Figure 2.2 Deficiency in NOS3 results in spontaneous myocardial infarction.	63
Figure 2.3 Immunohistochemical analysis of coronary artery development at	: P067
Figure 2.4 3D reconstruction of coronary artery development at P0	69
Figure 2.5 Coronary artery development at E15.5	71
Figure 2.6 Myocardial mRNA expression of transcription and growth factors	5 74
Figure 2.7 Characterization and quantification of Wt1 ⁺ epicardial progenitor	cells 77
Figure 2.8 Migration of epicardium-derived cells (EPDCs)	79
Figure 3.1 Malformation of mitral and tricuspid valves in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice	97
Figure 3.2 Three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions of mitral valve of WT, N	OS3 ^{-/-} ,
NOS3 ^{Tg} and NOS3 ^{Tg} ;NOS3 ^{-/-} mice at P0	
Figure 3.3 Three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions of tricuspid valve of WT	, NOS3 ^{-/-} ,
NOS3 ^{Tg} and NOS3 ^{Tg} ;NOS3 ^{-/-} mice at P0	101
Figure 3.4 Mitral and tricuspid valve length measurements at E15.5.	103
Figure 3.5 Regurgitation of mitral valve in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice at P0	107
Figure 3.6 Regurgitation of tricuspid valve in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice at P0	

Figure 3.7 Cardiac function determined using echocardiography at P011
Figure 3.8 EndMT is impaired in the AV cushion of NOS3 ^{-/-} hearts at E12.5
Figure 3.9 cGMP regulates expression of Snail1, TGF β and BMP2 in E12.5 hearts 117
Figure 3.10 Atrioventricular (AV) endocardial cushion explant culture from E10.5 NOS3
Figure 4.1 Severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 4.2 <i>Ex-vivo</i> aortic valve cultures treated with platelets
Figure 4.3 Severe aortic valve regurgitation in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 4.4 Impaired cardiac function of NOS3 ^{-/-} mice at 12 months
Figure 4.5 Aortic fibrosis and aortic wall thickening in the NOS3 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 4.6 Endothelial cell activation/damage in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 4.7 Severe aortic calcification in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 4.8 <i>Ex-vivo</i> aortic valve cultures showed the degree of calcification can be modulated by NO
Figure 5.1 Summary of cardiac phenotypes and possible mechanisms in NOS3 ^{-/-} mice 170
Figure 5.2 Summarized the role of NOS3 demonstrated this thesis

List of abbreviation, symbols and nomenclature

3D: Three dimensional

- Ad-GFP: adenoviral green fluorescent protein construct
- Ad-LacZ: adenoviral LacZ construct
- Ad-NOS3: adenoviral nitric oxide synthase-3 construct
- ALS: Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
- ANP: Atrial natriuretic peptide
- ARS: Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome
- ASD: Atrial septal defect
- AV: Atrioventricular
- BMP-2: Bone morphogenetic protein-2
- BrdU: bromodeoxyuridine
- CAVS: Calcific aortic valve stenosis
- CHD: Congenital heart disease
- DAB: diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride
- DETA-NO: Diethylenetriamine NONOate
- E: Embryonic
- ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
- EndMT: Endocardial to mesenchymal transition
- EPDC: Epicardial-derived cells
- EPO: Erythropoietin
- EPOR: Erythropoietin receptor
- FGF: Fibroblast growth factor

GFP: Green fluorescent protein

H/E: Hematoxylin/eosin

HCAD: Hypoplastic coronary artery disease

IGDS: Iridogoniodysgenesis syndrome

KLF2: Krüppel-like factor 2

LCA: Left coronary artery

L-NAME: N^G-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester

LV: Left ventricular

LVIDd: LV internal end-diastolic dimension

LVIDs: LV internal systolic dimension

Mef2C: Myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2

MHC: Myosin heavy chain

MMLV: moloney murine leukemia virus

NF-κB: nuclear factor kappa B

NO: Nitric oxide

NOS1: Nitric oxide synthase isoform 2 or neuronal nitric oxide synthase

NOS2: Nitric oxide synthase isoform 2 or inducible nitric oxide synthase

NOS3: Nitric oxide synthase isoform 3 or endothelial nitric oxide synthase

P0: Postnatal day 0

PBS: Phosphate buffered saline

PCR: Polymerase chain reaction

PEO: Pro-epicardial organ

PI3K: Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase

PKB: Protein kinase B

PKG: Protein kinase G

RCA: Right coronary artery

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

RV: Right Ventricle

SNO: S-nitrosothiol

Tgfβ: Transforming growth factor beta

TTC: Triphenyltetrazolium chloride

VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor

VHD: Valvular heart disease

VICs: Valve interstitial cells

VSD: Ventricular septal defect

WT: Wildtype

Wt1: Wilm's tumor -1

 α -SMA: α -smooth muscle actin

 μ was used for micro, α was used for alpha, and β was used for beta.

*, † and ‡are used for denoting statistical significance.

1 CHAPTER 1

Literature Review

1.1 Congenital Heart Disease

Congenital heart disease refers to a defect in the structure of the heart and/or vessels present at birth. This defect, however, can be detected earlier by prenatal diagnosis such as fetal echocardiography. The disease affects up to 5% of people of the general population and is the leading cause of death in infants during the first year of life in the industrialized countries.^{1, 2} It is estimated that 96,000 adults in Canada have congenital heart disease.³ These patients have increased risk of arrhythmia, bacterial endocarditis and heart failure later in life.⁴ Thus, congenital heart disease is a major cause of mortality and morbidity in both infants and adults. The cause of congenital heart disease may be either genetic or environmental, but is usually a combination of both. It is estimated that only 15% of all congenital heart disease can be traced to a known cause.⁴ Some genetic factors have been linked to cause congenital heart disease, while the majority of factors are still unknown. Thus understanding the mechanisms that regulate the formation of the heart and the coronary artery system could further our understanding of the disease and lead to new strategies of its prevention or treatment.

1.2 Valvular Heart Disease

Valvular heart disease is a significant health problem and contributes to more than 44,000 deaths in United States annually.⁵ The causes of valvular heart disease include congenital malformations such as bicuspid aortic valves and rheumatic disease which is secondary to bacterial infection. Congenital valve disease affects about 2% of the general

population.^{6, 7} More specifically, bicuspid aortic valve disease is the most common congenital heart defect.⁸⁻¹⁰ As the name suggests, the bicuspid aortic valve is typically made of 2 unequal-sized leaflets rather than the normal three. Bicuspid aortic valve disease is often asymptomatic during childhood. In adulthood, complications commonly arise and the burden of disease from bicuspid aortic valve disease is more significant than any other congenital heart disease. Despite this heavy economic burden, our understanding of bicuspid aortic valve disease is limited. Incidence of valvular heart disease dramatically increases to more than 13.3% over the age of 75.^{11, 12} The disease may manifest as valvular stenosis, an obstruction of outflow, or as regurgitation, a defective closure resulting in backward flow. Congenital valve malformations tend to cluster in families among both close and distant relatives, suggesting a genetic component to this disease.^{13, 14} However, underlying molecular mechanisms responsible for congenital valve disease are still not fully understood.

1.3 Hypoplastic Coronary Artery Disease

Congenital coronary anomalies affect up to 5% of the general population.^{15, 16} Most of them are asymptomatic and therefore often unrecognized. However, people with major congenital coronary artery malformation are at greater risk for myocardial ischemia, infarction and sudden cardiac death.¹⁷ Hypoplastic coronary artery disease (HCAD) is a rare congenital coronary abnormality. It is characterized by malformation of one or more major branches of the coronary arteries with a marked decrease in luminal diameter and length.¹⁸⁻²⁰ HCAD can be asymptomatic, but it can be associated with myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death under stress, usually in the form of intense physical activity.^{17, 21} However, the molecular mechanisms responsible for development of HCAD remain unclear.

1.4 Formation of the Four-Chambered Heart

Heart development is a complex process involving many coordinated processes including, migration, differentiation and proliferation of cardiac progenitors. The cardiac progenitors are derived from three distinct origins: the anterior lateral plate mesoderm or the primary heart field; the second heart field which is located dorsal and anterior to the primary heart field; and the cardiac neural crest from the dorsal neural tube.²²⁻²⁴ In addition. the epicardium is also a source of cardiac progenitors which give rise to coronary arteries and possibly cardiomyocytes.^{24, 25} Cardiac morphogenesis starts from the fusion of the 2 patches of anterior lateral plate mesoderm to form the cardiac crescent at embryonic day (E) 7.5 in the mouse embryo.²⁶ By E8 the primitive heart (or heart tube) is formed. As the heart tube forms, cells from the second heart field migrate into the dorsal aspect to the heart tube in the pharyngeal mesoderm. Upon rightward looping of the heart tube, they cross the pharyngeal mesoderm and populate the outflow tract with contributions also from the cardiac neural crest. As the heart develops, the primitive heart undergoes specification processes including chamber specification, septation and trabeculation. The atrial and ventricular septum starts to form at E10. Multiple primordia contribute to a central mesenchymal mass, including the mesenchyme on the leading edge of the primary atrial septum, the atrioventricular endocardial cushions, and the cap of mesenchyme on the spina vestibule.^{27, 28} Fusion of these components closes the ostium primum, completing atrial and atrioventricular septation. The mitral and tricuspid valves are derived from the endocardial cushion while the aortic and pulmonary valves are formed from endocardial cushions and with a contribution of neural crest cells.²⁹ The formation of atrioventricular septum and valves is tightly regulated

by coordinated cell proliferation, apoptosis and remodelling. By E14.5, a fully functional four-chambered heart is formed in mice.²⁶

1.5 Formation of the Coronary Arteries

The development of the coronary vessels is an important event at the later stages of cardiogenesis. Coronary development starts at E9.5 in mice from proepicardial organ (PEO) located at the pericardial surface of the septum transversum close to the sinus venosus.^{30, 31} Cells from PEO migrate and spread over the surface of the myocardium to become the epicardium. Concurrent with formation of the epithelium, some epithelial cells migrate further into the subepicardial space and undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) to become mesenchymal cells, which migrate throughout the developing myocardium and give rise to vascular smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts and possibly endothelial cells, and form coronary vasculature of the heart. The proximal ends of the coronary arteries connect to the ascending aorta through coronary orifices at the level of the left and right sinuses of the semilunar valves. Coronary veins connect to the right atrium via the coronary sinus. By E15.5, a complete coronary vascular system is established.^{30, 31} Over the past decade, many factors have been shown to be crucial in the formation of the coronary arteries,^{30, 32} but the role of NOS3 in this process is still not well understood.

1.6 Atrioventricular Valve Development

The atrioventricular (AV) valve development starts at E9 with the formation of endocardial cushions. A subpopulation of endocardial cells of the endocardial cushion undergoes endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EndMT) and provides the primary cell source for the development of AV valves.³³ Proliferation of the mesenchymal cells and matrix deposition extend the cushions into the cardiac lumen and form primordia of each

distinct valve. This is followed by elongation and remodeling of the valve primordia, which leads to the gradual maturation of valves by E15.³⁴ EndMT is a crucial process for proper formation of AV valves.³⁵ Transforming growth factor (Tgfβ), bone morphogenetic protein (Bmp)-2, and Snail1 have been shown to promote EndMT and valve formation.³⁶ In addition, Notch-dependent NOS3 activation has been shown to promote EndMT in the developing atrioventricular (AV) canal from E9 to E11.5 via activation of the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway.³⁷

1.7 Factors in Heart Development

The formation of the heart is highly regulated and complex in nature. Studies have shown both environmental and genetic factors play a crucial role in heart development.³⁸ Well known environmental factors such as drug abuse, alcohol abuse and maternal diabetes all have been linked to as risk factors for congenital heart disease.³⁹ In addition, several lines of evidence also support a genetic contribution to congenital heart disease.^{40, 41} Over the past 50 years, through the use of genetically modified animals various factors have been identified to govern different aspects of heart development. In 2003, the completion of the human genome project allowed us to further test the importance of these factors in humans through the use of gene sequencing. These factors can be grouped into 2 categories: first, transcription factors that are responsible for initiating and regulating heart development and second, growth factors that acts as effectors to guide heart development.

1.7.1 Transcription Factors in Heart Development

Gata4 has been shown to be crucial in both human and murine heart development.^{42, 43} Interestingly, *Gata4* is one of the earliest transcription factors

expressed in the developing heart.⁴⁴ More specifically, *Gata4* mRNA can be detected as early as E7.0 in the pre-cardiac mesoderm and during formation and bending of the heart tube in endocardium, myocardium and pre-cardiac mesoderm at E8.0.⁴⁴ It is worth noting that abundant *Gata4* continues to be expressed in the heart throughout adulthood. Transgenic mice with inactivation of the *Gata4* gene die during embryonic development due to the failure of ventral morphogenesis and heart tube formation between E8.0-E9.0.^{45, 46} In addition, functional mutation of *GATA4* in humans has been linked to congenital heart disease.⁴⁷ Together, as a master regulator of cardiogenesis, *Gata4* is required during embryonic heart development in both mice and humans.

Nkx2.5, a direct binding partner of Gata4 through its homeodomain, has also been shown to be involved in early heart development.^{48, 49} As one of the earliest identified factors associated with human congenital heart disease, Nkx2.5 has been studied quite extensively throughout different organisms.⁵⁰⁻⁵³ Mutations have been identified in patients with a variety of congenital heart malformations including septal defects, conotruncal abnormalities, and atrioventricular conduction defects. Similar to *Gata4*, Nkx2.5 is also expressed early during heart development.⁵⁴ Nkx2.5 is thought to act together with *Gata4* to control the complex and precise regulation of heart development.

Heart development involves the precise looping and formation of the heart chambers, the development of the cardiac conduction system as well as the coronary vascular system. Wilm's tumor -1 (Wt1) is a transcription factor that is involved in the formation of the coronary vasculature system. Wt1 has been shown to regulates epicardial epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), a process which is required for coronary artery formation.^{55, 56} Wt1 regulates epicardial EMT and heart development

through multiple signaling pathways. It has been shown Wt1 promotes canonical Wnt/βcatenin signaling and Raldh2, a regulator of retinoic acid signaling.^{55, 56} By controlling epicardial EMT, Wt1 directs the coronary vasculature development in the heart.

Snail1, a zinc finger transcriptional repressor, has been studied extensively in developmental EMT. Mice with conditional knockout of *Snail1* form a mesodermal layer with distinctly epithelial characteristics and die early in gastrulation around E7.5.⁵⁷ Snail1 is also required for EMT-mediated mesoderm formation in zebrafish and for neural crest cell migration in mice.⁵⁸ EMT is a crucial process during heart development which contributes to coronary artery formation, valve formation and septation of the ventricles and atria.^{59, 60} Taken together, the role of Snail1 in EMT and the importance of EMT in heart development, Snail1 dictates the proper formation of the heart by regulating EMT.

The transcription factors listed above are factors investigated in the current thesis, but this only represents the tip of the iceberg, as the majority of the transcription factors that are important during various aspects of heart development are beyond the scope of this thesis. Other transcription factors that are notable include Tbx5, Mef2C, NFATc1 and Pitx2. Txb5 is a T-box containing transcription factor, that is expressed early in heart development at E8.0.⁶¹ *TBX5* deficiency in humans results in Holt-Oram syndrome, a condition inherited as autosomal dominant , and the range of cardiac abnormalities include atrioventricular blocks, failure of septa formation and hypoplastic left heart syndrome, aortic stenosis, mitral valve prolapse, and the tetralogy of Fallot.⁶² Mef2C is a member of the myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2 (Mef2) family of transcription factors and is also important for cardiac muscle formation.⁶³ In addition, recent discoveries reveal the specific role of Mef2C in second heart field development. Mef2C drives the

development of the right ventricle, septum formation and contributes to the proper development of the atria, the outflow tract, pulmonary and aortic valves and endothelial cells in the coronary artery.⁶⁴ Specific deletion of *Mef2C* in the heart results in right ventricle defects as well failure of the heart tube to undergo looping morphogenesis.⁶⁵ NFATc1, a transcription factor required for heart valve formation in mice, starts to be expressed early during murine heart development around E8.5.^{66, 67} Specific deletion of *NFATc1* in the hearts results in complete absence of pulmonary and aortic valves, leading to congestive heart failure and death of the animal between E13.5-E17.5.⁶⁷ Finally, Pitx2 is a crucial transcription factor in early heart development as it is responsible for the establishment of left-right symmetry.⁶⁸ *PITX2* mutations in humans result in varies complex syndromes such as Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome (ARS), iridogoniodysgenesis syndrome (IGDS), and sporadic cases of anterior segment mesenchymal dysgenesis.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹

1.7.2 Growth Factors in Heart Development

Growth factor signalling is a crucial component in heart development. It provides the local niche for the migration and expansion of cardiomyocytes and other precursors in the heart. Many growth factors have been identified, via mainly genetically modified animals, to provide fundamental insights into their role in heart development. More specifically, growth factors in the heart can acts as a chemokine that attracts precursors in the epicardium to migrate into the myocardium and form coronary vasculature³² Without the proper guidance provided by the local growth factors, coronary vasculature cannot be correctly formed.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) have been shown to the crucial in coronary artery formation. More specifically, inhibition

of VEGF and FGF decreases capillary formation and arterial growth.^{30, 32, 72} During early stages of coronary artery development, the expression FGF is high throughout the myocardium and VEGF expression is locally high at the site of early vascular tube formation.^{73, 74} It is worth noting that both factors have the potential to stimulate vascular growth in the embryonic heart.⁷⁵ Myocardium specific overexpression of *Fgf* increases coronary artery density and branching, while *Vegf* conditional knockout impairs the recovery of coronary vessels from ischemic injury in mice.^{76, 77} Interestingly, the arterial diameter can be increased via the administration of anti-FGF-2 and anti-VEGF antibodies.⁷⁸ These data suggest VEGF and FGF are crucial growth factors that is required during coronary artery formation.

Erythropoietin (EPO) is known for its vital role in the formation of red blood cells by binding to its receptor (EPOR).⁷⁹ Through the use of genetically modified animal, Epo signalling through its receptor Epor was shown to be crucial in embryonic coronary artery formation. *Epor* is expressed in the epicardium and pericardium of the developing heart from E10 to E14. In Epor knockout mouse embryos, the epicardium was thin and detached from the myocardium. In addition, the coronary vessel network was severely affected with disorganized structures.⁷⁹ This shows that inactivation of the Epo pathway leads to decreased epicardial precursors, and the detachment of the epicardium from the myocardium inhibited the crucial EMT process that is required for coronary artery formation.

1.8 Endothelial Activation and Thrombosis Formation

Endothelial activation generally refers to endothelial dysfunction or damage which may eventually contribute to vascular disease or thrombosis formation. Endothelial activation represents a change in phenotype of the endothelial cells from the quiescent state towards a state that involves host defense response.^{80, 81} Most cardiovascular risk factors activate the endothelium which results in expression of chemokines, cytokines, and adhesion molecules that interact with the immune system to target inflammation to damaged tissues.^{80, 81} The molecular change involved in endothelial activation is switching from NO-mediated cellular processes, such as cGMP signalling or snitrosylation, to the activation of ROS signalling.⁸² This process is largely mediated by the uncoupling of NOS.⁸³ Uncoupling of NOS3 is related to the depletion of important cofactor BH4, phosphorylation of specific residues of NOS3, mainly on residues serine 114, threonine 495, serine 615, serine 633 and serine 1177, increased S-glutathionylation and increased production of peroxynitrite.^{83, 84} NOS3 ROS production deteriorates cellular function via phosphorylation of transcription factors, induces adhesion molecule production and protease activation. Endothelial activation and ROS production can be a part of the normal host defense. It is when this process is extended, prolonged and/or in combination of the pro-inflammatory stimuli that results in endothelial damage.⁸⁵ The damaged endothelium then contributes to vascular disease such as atherosclerosis or thrombosis formation.

Endothelium integrity not only depends on the extent of injury, but also on the ability of the endogenous capacity to repair.⁸⁶ Repair mechanisms mainly occur in two ways. First is the replication of the mature endothelial cells which replaces the lost and damaged cells. Second is recruitment of circulating progenitor cells. These cells originate from the bone marrow and upon injury can be recruited to the site of injury to differentiate into endothelial cells.^{87, 88} Mobilization of these cells is in part NO-

dependent. Factors that have been shown to improve endothelial function and NO bioavailability such as statins and exercise have also been shown to promote endothelial progenitor cell mobilization.⁸⁹⁻⁹¹ Therefore, it is a balance of repair and extent of endothelial damage that ultimately determines the integrity of the endothelium. Endothelial activation and damage, if unresolved, may result in thrombosis formation and vascular disease.

Arterial and venous thrombosis and thrombus embolization can be life threatening and if left untreated may lead to death. Arterial and venous thrombosis are blood clots that are formed in arteries and veins. The arterial clot is predominantly caused by platelets aggregation while a venous thrombus is mainly composed of fibrin and red blood cells and variable amount of platelets and white cells.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ Thrombi can occlude vessels locally at the site of formation or travel to other organs through blood and cause occlusion in distal vessels. Occlusions in the brain or the heart are especially dangerous and can cause stroke or heart attacks. However, thrombi may be spontaneously formed and lysed by local conversion of plasminogen to plasmin, a proteolytic enzyme which degrades plasma fibrinogen.⁹⁵ The dynamics of platelet deposition and thrombus formation are modulated by the type of injury and the local geometry at the site of damage.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ Arterial thrombosis formation involves 3 distinct steps. First, platelets adhere at the recognition sites and are activated by the thromboactive substrates. The second step involves platelets spreading on the surface of attachment. Finally, platelets aggregate with each other to form a platelet plug. This process greatly depends on the efficiency of platelet recruitment and local geometry. Once platelets aggregate, other blood cells are recruited such as red blood cells, neutrophils and sometimes monocytes.⁹²⁻

⁹⁴ The formation of a thrombus on the heart valve usually involves prosthetic valves. The process of thrombus formation is initiated during heart valve replacement surgery. The damaged peri-valvular tissue and prosthetic materials activate platelets as soon as blood starts flowing across the prosthetic valve. This results in the immediate deposition of platelets. In addition, the abnormal hemodynamic characteristics of mechanical prosthetic devices promote platelet activation.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁹ It is worth noting that bioprosthetic valves made from animals such as pig are considerably less thrombogenic mainly because of the biological properties of materials used in their construction.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁹ The spontaneous formation of a thrombus on the aortic valve is extremely rare in humans with only less than a dozen of case reports in the literature.¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰⁹ However, aortic valve thrombosis is extremely dangerous, as it could lead to embolization, and subsequent cerebrovascular events such as stroke, myocardial infarction and death.^{101-104, 108} Surgery is the only available treatment for these patients. Anti-coagulant therapy is still under debate as to whether the beneficial effects outweigh the deleterious effects.¹⁰⁰ To our knowledge, spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis has never been studied in animal models.

1.9 Aortic Valve Calcification

Calcific aortic valve stenosis (CAVS) is the most common valvular disease.¹¹ CAVS is characterized by progressive narrowing of the aortic valve resulting in aortic stenosis, calcification and thickening of the aortic valves and aortic valve regurgitation.¹¹⁰ Traditionally, calcified aortic valve stenosis has been associated with normal aging and valve degeneration. However, recent studies suggest that CAVS can be attributed to a genetic origin. Mutations in *Notch1*, an important factor that is involved in many developmental processes, has been shown to cause aortic valve disease similar to

CAVS.¹¹¹ Notch1 functions by repressing the activities of Runx2, a central transcriptional regulator in osteoblast cell fate.¹¹¹ The origin of calcification in the aortic valve is still under debate. Studies have shown that calcification originates from circulating progenitor cells that would reside on the aortic valve and differentiate into bone marrow–derived type I collagen⁺ osteocalcin (OCN)⁺ CD45⁺ subpopulation of mononuclear adherent cells, these cells then cause ossification.^{112, 113} Another hypothesis is that valvular interstitial cells undergo differentiation and they would gain an osteoblast-like phenotype and cause calcification.^{114, 115} It is likely a contribution of both scenarios that result in valve calcification. Environmental influences may also play a role in CAVS. Cardiovascular risk factors such as smoking, hypercholesterolemia, hypertriglyceridemia, diabetes mellitus, and chronic kidney disease all have been shown to contribute to CAVS.¹¹⁶ Currently, the only clinical treatment for CAVS is valve replacement surgery. Effective medical treatments to alter the course of CAVS are non-existent.

1.10 Nitric Oxide Synthase

Nitric oxide (NO) is produced from the guanidino group of L-arginine in an NADPH-dependent reaction catalyzed by a family of NO synthase (NOS) enzymes in living organisms.^{117, 118} Originally identified as a vasodilatory agent, NO is now recognized as an important signalling molecule involved in a wide range of physiological and pathophysiological processes including cell growth, apoptosis, antithrombosis, neurotransmission, and immunological regulation.^{118, 119} The wide range of functions and physiological importance of NO were recognized by the Nobel committee and awarded the 1998 Nobel prize of medicine to Drs. Furchgott, Ignarro and Murad for their contributions towards the discovery of NO. The vasodilatory function of NO was first discovered by Dr.

Furchgott and was termed endothelium-derived relaxing factor (EDRF).¹²⁰ Later on, EDRF was identified as NO by Dr. Ignarro.¹²¹ The ultimate signalling of NO through cGMP was shown by Dr. Murad.¹²² There are 3 distinct isoforms of NOS: neuronal NOS (NOS1), inducible NOS (NOS2) and NOS3. Each NOS isoform is encoded by a distinct gene and is expressed in a variety of tissues and cell types. NO produced from NOS1 and NOS3 is involved in intracellular and intercellular signalling, whereas the high output NO produced by NOS2 is associated with inflammatory processes.^{118, 119} NO produced by different isoforms of NOS contributes towards signalling in the neuronal, immune, reproductive, vascular and most importantly, cardiovascular systems.^{118, 119} Shear stress induces NOS3 expression in the cardiovascular system during chick embryonic development.¹²³ In addition to shear stress, NOS3 can also be induced and activated by Krüppel-like factor 2 (Klf2), an endothelial transcription factor that is crucially involved in vasculogenesis.^{124, 125} In the adult heart, NO released from NOS3 has several major roles including coronary vasodilation and tonic inhibition of mitochondrial O₂ consumption.^{118, 126} NO may also play a role in the muscarinic-cholinergic inhibition of β -adrenergic-stimulated chronotropy,¹²⁷ inotropy,¹²⁶ and atrioventricular nodal conduction. The effects of NO are mediated by the cGMP-dependent signaling and protein modification through S-nitrosylation.^{118, 128} In cGMP-dependent signalling, NO would activate downstream guanylate cyclase which leads to the production of cGMP. Binding of cGMP to the regulator domain of protein kinase G or cGMP dependent protein kinase induces a conformation change which stops the inhibition of catalytic core and allows phosphorylation of other downstream proteins. Protein kinase G is a serine/threonine-specific protein kinase that phosphorylates a number of important biological targets. ^{118, 119} These targets drive many cellular processes which may regulate

smooth muscle relaxation, platelet function, sperm metabolism, cell division and nucleic acid synthesis. Other NO mediated signalling includes S-nitrosylation. This is defined by the process of covalent incorporation of NO into thiol groups forming S-nitrosoprotein (SNO). ^{118, 125} This modification allows activation or deactivation of proteins. The activation or deactivation of proteins depends on the type of protein. For example, caspases that are important in cellular apoptosis have been shown to be inhibited by SNO. On the other hand, metalloproteinases which are important in degrading extracellular proteins are activated by SNO. SNO is an extremely complex process which remains poorly understood.

1.11 NOS3 Expression in the Embryonic Heart

NOS3 is expressed in the heart early during mammalian embryonic development. ^{129,130} Although this expression is not restricted in the heart, other organs such as lung, liver, gastrointestinal tract, reproductive organs and brain hippocampus all have NOS3 expression. Immunohistochemical analysis in mice using NOS3 specific antibodies revealed that the heart, including cardiomyocytes, start to express NOS3 at E9.5 and expression remains high up to E13.5. Starting from E14.5, levels of NOS3 expression decrease in both atria and ventricles. After E19.5 low NOS3 levels are still detectable and this level of NOS3 expression in the myocardium remains to adulthood.¹³⁰ Parallel with NOS expression, there are also changes in guanylate cyclase and cGMP production indicating the NO-cGMP signaling pathway in the heart development. The production of NO from NOS3 regulates the voltage-dependent L-type Ca²⁺ current in cardiomyocytes during early embryonic development and has been shown to promote cardiomyogenesis from mouse embryonic stem cells.¹³⁰⁻¹³² It is important to note that although NOS1 and

NOS2 are expressed during cardiogenesis, *NOS1* and *NOS2* knockout mice have normal cardiac phenotype.

1.12 NOS3 and Heart Development

Septal defects are the most common cardiac malformations in humans.¹³³ However, the molecular mechanisms that govern the formation of atrial and ventricular septum remain poorly understood. In recent years, through the use of genetic knockout mice, several transcriptional factors including Gata4, Nkx2.5 and Tbx5 have been identified to be critical in the development of atrial and ventricular septum.^{133, 134} In addition, mutations in these factors are associated with congenital septal defects in humans.^{133, 135} Feng et al. show that deficiency in NOS3 results in congenital septal defects and heart failure, and is accompanied by 85% postnatal mortality.¹³⁶ All mortalities occur within the first 7 days after birth. Postmortem examination show NOS3^{-/-} mice have a high incidence of congenital septal defects with 64% atrial septal defects and 11% ventricular septal defects. Congenital septal defects can be a result of improper fusion of the atrioventricular cushions during embryonic heart development. In addition, increases in apoptosis in atrioventricular cushions can also contribute to congenital septal defects.^{137, 138} In order to investigate the role of NOS3 in septal development, myocardial apoptosis was analysed in WT and NOS3^{-/-} hearts at E12.5, a crucial time point in which the atrioventricular cushions start to fuse together. Feng et al. show that there is an overall increase in the apoptotic activities in the *NOS3*^{-/-} compared with WT hearts as measured by both caspase 3 activity and cytosolic DNA fragments. In order to determine the apoptotic activity in the atrioventricular cushion, TUNEL staining was used. Feng and colleagues show that there is a significant increase in the apoptotic activity in the region of the atrioventricular cushions, which may contribute at least in part to the increased

incidence of congenital septal defects seen in the postnatal day 1 NOS3^{-/-} mice.¹³⁶ Low levels of NO produced by NOS3 inhibit apoptosis via S-nitrosylation of caspase-3, a critical protease responsible for the execution of apoptosis, and by promoting expressions of cytoprotective proteins including heme oxygenase-1, heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) and metallothionein.¹¹⁹ In addition, NO has also been shown to inhibit mitochondrial cytochrome c release and decrease permeability transition pore opening via mitochondrial membrane depolarization and inhibition of Ca²⁺ accumulation.¹³⁹ These mechanisms may explain the increased apoptosis in the embryonic heart of *NOS3*^{-/-} mice.

Many factors may regulate the expression of NOS3 during embryonic heart development. Bio-informatics analysis of the mouse *NOS3* locus showed three canonical Tbx5 binding sites, two of which are flanked by Gata binding site that binds to both Tbx5 and Gata4 with high affinities.¹⁴⁰ Using genetically modified animals, Nadeau *et al.* showed that endocardial specific knock-down of *Tbx5* results in atrial septal defects with a 100% penetrance, suggesting Tbx5, a potential upstream regulator of NOS3, is also crucial in the proper formation of the atrial septum.¹⁴⁰ Furthermore, compound haploinsufficiency of Tbx5 and NOS3 exacerbates the cardiac phenotype caused by deletion of a single Tbx5 allele from endocardial cells, suggesting that NOS3 may be a genetic modifier of Tbx5.¹⁴⁰ Interestingly, decreases in enzyme activity and NO production in an 894G>T polymorphism of the NOS3 gene are associated with increased risks of CHD.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴³ Environmental factors and maternal conditions including psychological stress, hypertension and diabetes have been linked to increased risks of congenital heart disease.¹³ It has been shown that these environmental and maternal conditions can decrease NOS3 expression and/or activity.^{144, 145}

interacts with Tbx5, suggests the importance of gene–environment interactions in the setting of congenital heart disease and may help to explain the variable expressivity of the same mutation among affected family members and the complex inheritance patterns of congenital heart disease.^{140, 146}

In addition to the congenital septal defect, cardiac hypertrophy is also seen in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at postnatal day 0.¹³⁶ From gross inspection and quantification, the NOS3^{-/-} hearts are significantly larger than WT hearts. In order to determine if the cardiac function is impaired, *in vivo* heart shortening was determined in the anesthetized P1 mice using ultrasound crystals that were placed on the surface of the heart. Feng *et al.* show that percent shortening is significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared to WT hearts. In addition, LV chamber size is significantly increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts. Furthermore, severe pulmonary congestion with focal alveolar edema is also seen in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at P1. Cardiac dysfunction and pulmonary congestion are typical clinical manifestations of heart failure. These results suggest that the higher mortality in postnatal *NOS3^{-/-}* mice is likely due to the development of heart failure after birth.¹³⁶ However, the exact cause of heart failure remains unclear. Congenital heart defects and decreased capillary density in the heart and lungs may contribute to the development of heart failure after birth of heart failure after birth in NOS3^{-/-} mice.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵⁰

1.13 NOS3 and Its Upstream Activators

In addition to transcription factors, NOS3 activity and expression are also regulated by a serine/threonine kinase Akt, also known as protein kinase B (PKB).¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵³ Akt is an important mediator of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) signaling that regulates a wide variety of cellular functions including survival, growth, proliferation, glucose uptake, metabolism, and angiogenesis.¹⁵⁴ The effects are achieved through the
regulation of genes and proteins involved in these processes including NOS3.^{155, 156} There are three Akt isoforms, Akt1, Akt2 and Akt3, which have similar structures and molecular sizes (57 kDa). All three Akt isoforms are expressed in the embryo starting from two-cell stage to virtually every organ during embryonic development. Inhibition of PI3K or Akt attenuates cardiomyocyte differentiation in embryonic stem cells, suggesting a critical role of PI3K/Akt signaling in early stage cardiomyocyte differentiation.¹⁵⁷ Three Akt isoforms have similar but yet distinct physiological roles. Targeted disruption of the *Akt1* gene in mice results in growth retardation with 20% reduction in body size as well as septal defects.^{158, 159} *Akt2* knockout mice display insulin resistance and growth retardation while *Akt3* knockouts show reduced brain size.^{160, 161} It is worth noting that the septal defects seen in the *Akt1^{-/-}* resembles to that of the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.^{136, 158} *Akt1^{-/-}* mice showed perimembranous and muscular ventricular septal defects as well as atrial septal defects which are similar to those of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.

The effect of Akt is mediated in part by upregulation of *Gata4* expression via phosphorylation of Gsk-3 β .¹⁶² Gsk3 β inhibits the DNA binding activity of Gata4. Upon phosphorylation by Akt, Gsk3 β exits the nucleus, which curtails the inhibitory effect of Gsk3 β on *Gata4*, leading to increases in Gata4 activation.¹⁶² Gata4 is a transcriptional factor that belongs to an evolutionarily conserved family of zinc finger-containing proteins, which has 6 members.¹⁶³ Gata-1, -2 and -3 are expressed in hematopoietic stem cells while Gata-4, -5 and -6 are expressed in various mesoderm- and endoderm-derived tissues including the heart, liver, lung, gonad, and gut. Gata4 is a critical regulator of early cardiogenesis. Homozygous *Gata4* knockout mice die at E9.5 and display defects in heart and foregut morphogenesis.⁴⁵ Using tetraploid embryo complementation, Zhao *et al.* (2008)

showed that Gata4 controls cardiomyocyte differentiation in mice. It appears that in the $Gata4^{-/-}$ mice, initiation of cardiomyocyte differentiation starts normally, but progenitors cannot differentiate into terminal cardiomyocytes as shown by the lack of smooth muscle actin, myosin heavy chain or sarcomeric actin staining.¹⁶⁴ In humans, heritable mutations of *GATA4* result in congenital heart defects including, atrial septal defects, ventricular septal defects, atrioventricular septal defects, pulmonary valve thickening or insufficiency of cardiac valves.¹³⁵ Interestingly, the promoter region of NOS3 contains *Gata4* binding sites.¹⁴⁰ Studies have shown that *Gata4* binds to these sites and increases NOS3 promoter activity,¹⁶⁵ suggesting *Gata4* also serves as an upstream activator of NOS3.

1.14 NOS3 and Its Downstream Effectors

A classic pathway by which NO mediates its biological function is through cGMP-dependent protein kinase G (PKG) signaling.¹⁶⁶ Activation of PKG has been shown to up-regulate varies downstream transcription factors that are important in heart development.^{167, 168} Thus, a deficiency in *NOS3* decreases NO and cGMP production, and may lead to decreased PKG activation and down-regulation of transcription factors in heart development such as *Gata4*. *Gata4* is a master regulator of heart development, and controls the expression of many growth factors including VEGF, FGF and EPO, that are important for coronary vessel formation and heart formation.¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷¹ NO can exert its biological effect through other mechanisms. First, NO can cause oxidation of iron-containing proteins such as ribonucleotide reductase. Ribonucleotide reductase is an important enzyme in formation of formation of deoxyribonucleotides from ribonucleotides. In addition, NO can activate proteins via sulfhydryl group nitrosylation.¹⁷² Nitrosylation involves the covalent binding of a nitric oxide into thiol

groups, to form S-nitrosothiol (SNO). S-nitrosylation has since been shown to be ubiquitous in biology.¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵ Dysfunction in S-nitrosylation has been associated with cardiovascular disease, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS). Finally, there is an emerging role of S-nitrosylation in cancer biology.¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁷⁹

1.15 NOS3 Promotes Cardiomyocyte Proliferation

NOS3 is important to cardiomyocyte proliferation during early postnatal cardiac development.^{180, 181} To assess proliferation, cardiomyocytes were isolated from neonatal mice born within 24 hours and cultured for up to 96 hours. Cell proliferation was determined by bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation and cell counts. Lepic et al. showed that cultured *NOS3^{-/-}* cardiomyocytes displayed fewer cells and lower BrdU incorporation compared with WT cardiomyocytes.¹⁸¹ In order to analyze if the decreased cardiomyocyte proliferation is related to the level of NO produced by NOS3, NOS3^{-/-} and WT cardiomyocytes were treated with an NO donor and a NOS inhibitor, respectively. Treatment with the NO donor diethylenetriamine NONOate increased BrdU incorporation and cell counts in NOS3^{-/-} cardiomyocytes. Inhibition of nitric oxide synthase activity using N^G-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) decreased the level of BrdU incorporation and cell counts in WT cardiomyocytes. Furthermore, to investigate cardiomyocyte proliferation in vivo, neonatal mice were treated with BrdU. Deficiency in NOS3 significantly decreased BrdU labeling indexes in neonatal hearts.¹⁸¹ These data suggest that NO production from NOS3 is necessary for postnatal cardiomyocyte proliferation, providing a crucial role of NOS3 during postnatal heart development. However, despite decreases in cell proliferation, the overall size of the heart is enlarged

in *NOS3^{-/-}* as compared to WT mice (Figure 1A). This is probably due to the fact that cardiomyocyte proliferation is low and cardiac hypertrophy is the predominant response during early postnatal heart development.^{182, 183}

1.16 NOS3 Promotes Postnatal Heart Maturation

The fetal and neonatal hearts develop through both hyperplasia and hypertrophy, which are increases in cell number and cell mass, respectively.^{183, 184} During early postnatal cardiac development, proliferation still occurs, albeit at a much lower level compared to fetal hearts. However, shortly after birth cardiomyocytes undergo binucleation, accompanied by a cessation of proliferation and a complete switch to hypertrophic growth.^{182, 183} In rodents this transition from hyperplastic growth to hypertrophic growth occurs within approximately 1-2 weeks after birth.^{182, 183} Embryonic heart development is characterized by the expression of cardiac specific proteins such as atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) and proteins that form the contractile apparatus such as myosin heavy chain (MHC). After birth, as the heart gradually gains a mature phenotype, ANP expression is decreased and there is also a switch from beta to alpha isoform of MHC in cardiomyocytes.¹⁸⁵ In the mature myocardium, α -MHC is the predominant isoform.^{186, 187} Lepic et al confirmed these postnatal changes in the WT mice and showed that cardiac ANP expression is progressively decreased from postnatal day 1 to day 7 while the expression of α -MHC is increased.¹⁸¹ On the other hand, in the NOS3^{-/-} hearts, the levels of ANP remain high and the levels of α -MHC are significantly decreased at postnatal day 7, suggesting that NOS3 deficiency disturbs the normal temporal changes of ANP and α -MHC during postnatal heart development. These data support the notion that NOS3 plays an important role in promoting postnatal heart maturation.¹⁸¹ However, the

underlying molecular mechanisms responsible for these changes are not fully understood. Studies have shown that NF- κ B, a transcription factor that is involved in inflammation, cell survival and growth, can modulate the expression of ANP and α -MHC.^{188, 189} In addition, NO can increase or decrease the expression of NF- κ B depending on its concentrations and the cell types.^{190, 191} It is possible that NO produced from NOS3 may act through the NF- κ B pathway to modulate expression of ANP and α -MHC in postnatal hearts.

1.17 NOS3 and Myocardial Capillary Development

NOS3 is crucial in the formation of capillaries and angiogenesis.¹⁴⁹ To investigate the role of NOS3 in capillary development, myocardial capillary densities were measured morphometrically in P1 mouse hearts. Zhao *et al.* showed that myocardial capillary densities were decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with WT mice.¹⁴⁹ Next, *in vitro* tube formation of cardiac endothelial cells was investigated on Matrigel. Lack of NOS3 impaired tube formation of endothelial cells. In order to analyze if the decreased tube formation is related to the level of NO produced by NOS3, *NOS3^{-/-}* and WT endothelial cells were treated with an NO donor and a NOS inhibitor, respectively. *In vitro* tube formation was inhibited by N^G-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME, a NOS inhibitor) in wild-type cells and restored by a NO donor, diethylenetriamine-NO, in *NOS3^{-/-}* cells. In addition, angiogenesis was evaluated via implanting Matrigel in the myocardium of the adult heart. Following 3 days of implantation, significant angiogenesis is seen in the implanted Matrigel in WT mice. The angiogenic response was significantly decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. These data show that deficiency in NOS3 impairs myocardial

angiogenesis and capillary development, suggesting an important role of NOS3 in myocardial capillary development.¹⁴⁹

1.18 NOS3 and Aortic Valve Development

The morphogenesis of the heart valves occurs concomitantly with changes in the cardiac morphology and in a complex process that includes initiation, cushion formation, elongation, valve remodeling and maturation.^{7, 34} Valve development is initiated during cardiac looping when the primary myocardium secretes a hyaluronan-rich matrix called cardiac jelly that projects into the lumen at the atrioventricular junction and the outflow tract at E9.0 in mice. The underlining myocardial cells produced factors including bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP2), BMP4 and transforming growth factor (TGF)-β, which activate the overlaying endocardium. At E10.5, the activated endocardial cells undergo EMT to become spindle shaped migratory cells (mesenchymal phenotype) and invade the cardiac jelly. Proliferation of the mesenchymal cells and matrix deposition extend the cushions into the cardiac lumen and form primordium of each distinct valve. This is then followed by elongation and remodeling/thinning of the valve primordial at E12.5, which leads to the gradual maturation of the valves that are rich in elastin, fibrillar collagen and proteoglycans. During valve remodeling, cell proliferation decreases, and subsequently there is little to no proliferation of valve interstitial cells in the adult. Formation of four distinct valves is a result of septation of the outflow tract into a rta and pulmonary trunk giving rise to aortic and pulmonary valves, and fusion of the atrioventricular canal endocardial cushions giving rise to mitral and tricuspid valves.²⁹

Normal aortic valves have 3 distinct cusps (or leaflets) while bicuspid aortic valves have only 2 cusps.⁶ Lee *et al.* were the first to show that deficiency in NOS3

results in the formation of bicuspid aortic valves. The adult *NOS3^{-/-}* mice had high incidences (5/12, 42%) of bicuspid aortic valves.¹⁹² Subsequent studies confirmed bicuspid aortic valves with an incidence of about 30% in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.¹⁹³ In patients with bicuspid aortic valves, the common subtypes are fusion of right and left coronary leaflets (R-L) as well as fusion of right and non-coronary leaflets (R-N).^{6, 194} In *NOS3^{-/-}* mice, the bicuspid aortic valve is the R-N subtype in which the left leaflet develops normally.¹⁹³ Data from the Feng lab also showed that *NOS3^{-/-}* mice have bicuspid aortic valves.¹⁹⁵ Furthermore, these mice have significant aortic regurgitation at postnatal day 1 as demonstrated by pulsed-wave Doppler and color flow Doppler echocardiography. The data is consistent with aortic regurgitation seen in patients with bicuspid aortic valves.¹⁹⁶

Notch signalling is essential for early embryonic development of aortic valves and postnatal repression of calcium deposition in the aortic valves. Mutations in the *NOTCH1* gene cause autosomal-dominant anomalies of aortic valves and severe valve calcification in humans.¹¹¹ In mice, *Notch1* transcripts are the most abundant in the developing aortic valves. Furthermore, Notch1 inhibits the activity of Runx2, a central transcriptional regulator of osteoblast cell fate. Thus, decreases in Notch1 signaling result in developmental defect in the aortic valve and postnatal calcification that causes progressive aortic valve disease.¹¹¹ Additionally, Notch signalling is also required for the EMT process in endocardial cushions during early valve development.¹⁹⁷ Interestingly, recent studies have shown that Notch signalling activates NOS3 and its downstream target, soluble guanylyl cyclase via PI3K/Akt pathway.³⁷ Therefore, NOS3 is likely a potential downstream target of Notch signalling that governs aortic valve development and postnatal remodeling.

1.19 NOS3 and Thrombosis

The role of NO in thrombosis formation has been investigated in animal models using NOS inhibitors and its substrate L-arginine. Stagliano et al. have shown infusion of L-NAME, a NOS inhibitor, caused an increase in platelet adhesion in a rat brain stroke model.¹⁹⁸ In a glomerular thrombosis model, administration of endotoxin increased NO production and this effect was inhibited by infusion of L-NAME. Kidneys from rats given endotoxin and L-NAME showed enhanced thrombosis in glomeruli as compared with control with either L-NAME or endotoxin treated alone.¹⁹⁹ In a canine model of coronary occlusion, L-arginine treatment increased lysis of thrombus in the coronary arteries and inhibited platelet aggregation ex vivo.²⁰⁰ The importance of NOS3 in the prevention of thrombosis formation has also been demonstrated in the NOS3 knockout mice.²⁰¹ These mice showed increased susceptibility to thrombosis, stroke and atherosclerosis.²⁰²⁻²⁰⁵ Exogenously, treatment with a NO-donor inhibited the upregulation of platelet surface glycoprotein including selectins and integrins, which are important for platelet aggregation.²⁰⁶ The molecular basis of the NO effect on platelets has been mainly attributed to cGMP dependent signalling.²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁹ The increased production of cGMP leads to protein kinase G stimulation which results in fibrinogen binding to calcium-dependent heterodimeric complex of glycoproteins.²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁹ This glycoprotein complex serves as an activation-dependent receptor for adhesive proteins such as fibrinogen.²¹⁰ Binding of fibrinogen to glycoproteins mediated platelet aggregation which is crucial in thrombus formation. Decreased NO levels are also associated with thrombosis in human diseases.^{211, 212} It is well known that thrombosis is a common cause of myocardial infarction and unstable angina, and platelets from these patients show increased surface

expression of selectins and active glycoproteins.^{213, 214} Interestingly, platelets isolated from these patients produce less NO compared to patients with stable coronary artery disease.²¹⁵ The role of human *NOS3* polymorphisms in thrombosis has recently been studied.²¹⁶⁻²¹⁹ It has been shown that *NOS3* polymorphism is associated with lower platelet NO production, higher superoxide release and an increased risk of myocardial infarction, hypertension, stroke, and stenosis of arteries.²¹⁶⁻²²⁰ Taken together, these results suggest that NOS3 variants may influence thrombotic susceptibility in humans.

1.20 NOS3 and Aortic Valve Calcification

Aortic valve calcification can occur spontaneously with increasing age, atherosclerosis and disease conditions such as diabetes and renal disease.²²¹ It has been shown that NO inhibits calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells and differentiation of VSMCs into osteoblastic cells via inhibition of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β)-induced phosphorylation of Smad2/3 and expression of TGF- β -induced genes such as plasminogen activator inhibitor-1.²²² An inhibitor of cGMP dependent protein kinase increased osteoblastic differentiation and calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells. ²²² In addition, atorvastatin, a statin drug, inhibits calcification and enhances NO production in the hypercholesterolaemic aortic valves.²²³ NOS3 protein concentrations were increased in the atorvastatin treated group. Serum nitrite concentrations were decreased in the hypercholesterolaemic animals and increased in the group treated with atorvastatin. ²²³ These data suggest that NOS3 may act through TGF- β to prevent calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells and the degree of calcification may relate to the amount of NO produced. Although the precise role of NOS3 on aortic valve calcification is not well understood, Bosse *et al.* have suggested that NOS3 signalling can

regulate Notch1, a key molecule in aortic valve calcification and genetically linked to human calcific aortic valve disease.¹¹¹ They have shown that calcification of aortic valve interstitial cells can be prevented or accelerated by gain or loss of NO, respectively. In addition, overexpression of Notch1 can slow down the progression of valvular calcification induced by NO inhibition.²²⁴ These results suggest that NOS3 do play an important protective role against aortic valve calcification.

1.21 Summary of Heart Defects in NOS3^{-/-} mice

Cardiac NOS3 expression starts early in cardiogenesis at E9.5 and remains high until E13.5. This also coincides with the crucial period of rapid heart development and formation of coronary arteries and aortic valves. Deficiency in NOS3 results in cardiac hypertrophy, congenital septal defects, and postnatal heart failure.^{136, 225} In addition, myocardial capillary densities are decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Furthermore, deficiency in NOS3 results in high incidence of bicuspid aortic valves. These data suggest that NOS3 plays a critical role in embryonic heart development and morphogenesis of aortic valves and possibly coronary arteries (Figure 1.1). Although how lack of NOS3 leads to these cardiac phenotypes is not completely understood, possible mechanisms may include increases in apoptosis, decreases in cell proliferation, changes in gene expression, and decreases in EPDC migration and EMT. We anticipate that studies on these mechanisms of NOS3 during embryonic heart development may lead to therapeutic strategies in the prevention and treatment of congenital heart disease.



Figure 1.1. NOS3 is crucial during heart development. NO produced from NOS3 may promote coronary artery development, proper septal formation, proper valve formation, capillary development and cardiomyocyte maturation.

1.22 Rationale and Hypotheses

Overall Hypothesis:

Deficiency of NOS3 results in hypoplastic coronary arteries, atrioventricular valve insufficiency, and aortic valve calcification and thrombosis.

Overall Objectives (Figure 1.2):

- 1. Investigate the role of NOS3 in fetal coronary artery development.
- 2. Investigate the role of NOS3 in fetal atrioventricular valve development.
- 3. Investigate the role of NOS3 in maintaining normal aortic valve structure and function in adulthood and aging.

Study 1. Role of NOS3 in coronary artery development

Rationale:

NOS3 is expressed in the embryonic heart at E9.5. Studies have shown that NO production from NOS3 is critical in cardiogenesis.¹³² Previous studies have demonstrated that NOS3 plays an important role in embryonic heart development.^{136, 180, 181} Furthermore, NOS3 promotes cardiomyocyte proliferation and protects cardiomyocytes from apoptosis. Deficiency in NOS3 resulted in embryonic and postnatal abnormalities in heart development.¹³⁶ NO from NOS3 is an important mediator of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Additionally, studies have shown that development of myocardial capillaries is impaired in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.¹⁴⁹ Coronary artery development is a complex process, which involves the migration of PEO to the looping heart, and subsequent migration and differentiation of epicardium-derived mesenchymal cells.^{30, 31} The

molecular mechanisms regulating coronary artery development are still not well understood.

Hypothesis:

Deficiency in NOS3 impairs coronary artery development.

Objectives:

- To analyze coronary artery development in NOS3^{+/+}, NOS3^{-/-}, NOS3Tg;NOS3^{-/-} and NOS3Tg mice at E15.5 and P0.
- 2. To identify the cause of death in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ neonates.
- To understand the signaling mechanisms by which NOS3 controls coronary artery development.

Study 2. Role of NOS3 in atrioventricular valve development

Rationale:

NOS3 is important for embryonic heart development. Deficiency in NOS3 leads to congenital septal defect, bicuspid aortic valves and coronary artery malformation.^{136,} ^{192, 225} The temporal expression pattern of NOS3 peaks during atrioventricular valve formation, suggesting that NOS3 may participate in the development of the atrioventricular valves. However, the role of NOS3 in atrioventricular valve formation and endothelial to mesenchymal transition is not known.

Hypothesis:

Deficiency in NOS3 impairs atrioventricular valve formation and endothelial to mesenchymal transition.

Objectives:

- To assess atrioventricular valves in NOS3^{+/+}, NOS3^{-/-}, NOS3Tg;NOS3^{-/-} and NOS3Tg mice at postnatal day 0.
- To determine if atrioventricular valve defects in NOS3^{-/-} mice result in functional deficits.
- 3. To understand the role of NOS3 in the formation of atrioventricular valves.

Study 3. Lack of NOS3 results in thrombosis, calcification and dysfunction of aortic valve

Rationale:

The spontaneous formation of a thrombus on the aortic valve is extremely rare in humans; there are only less than a dozen of case reports in the literature.¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰⁹ However, aortic valve thrombosis is extremely dangerous, as it could lead to embolization, and subsequent cerebrovascular events such as stroke, myocardial infarction and death.^{101-104, 108} These patients are limited to surgery as it is the only available and effective treatment. The cause of aortic valve thrombosis remains unclear. Mutations in Notch1, an important factor that is involved in many developmental processes, have been shown to cause aortic valve disease similar to calcified aortic valve stenosis.¹¹¹ Additional evidence showed that NOS3 acts upstream of Notch1 and regulate its expression.²²⁴ This would suggest that disruption in NOS3 signalling would also result in phenotypes similar to that of Notch1 mutation. Studies have suggested that endothelial damage in bicuspid aortic valve thrombosis.^{157-160, 164} To our knowledge, spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis has never

been studied in an animal model. Study 3 investigated the role of NOS3 in normal maintenance of aortic valve function and its deficiency results in aortic valve thrombosis, dysfunction and calcification in adulthood and aging.

Hypothesis:

Deficiency in NOS3 leads to aortic valve thrombosis, dysfunction and calcification in aging mice.

Objectives:

- To investigate the role of NOS3 in the formation of aortic valve thrombosis in aging mice.
- To assess a ortic valve function *in vivo* in NOS3^{+/+} and NOS3^{-/-} mice at 1, 3, 5, 9 and 12 Months.
- To analyze the degree of calcification and fibrosis of aortic valve leaflets in NOS3^{+/+} and NOS3^{-/-} mice.
- 4. To understand the role of NOS3 in aortic valve calcification.



Figure 1.2 Summary of studies 1, 2 and 3 on the role of NOS3 in embryonic heart development and adult aortic valve function.

1.23 References

- 1. Hoffman JI, Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2002;39:1890-1900
- 2. Pierpont ME, Basson CT, Benson DW, Jr., Gelb BD, Giglia TM, Goldmuntz E, et al. Genetic basis for congenital heart defects: Current knowledge: A scientific statement from the american heart association congenital cardiac defects committee, council on cardiovascular disease in the young: Endorsed by the american academy of pediatrics. *Circulation*. 2007;115:3015-3038
- 3. Marelli AJ, Mackie AS, Ionescu-Ittu R, Rahme E, Pilote L. Congenital heart disease in the general population: Changing prevalence and age distribution. *Circulation*. 2007;115:163-172
- 4. Borghi A, Ciuffreda M, Quattrociocchi M, Preda L. The grown-up congenital cardiac patient. *J Cardiovasc Med.* 2007;8:78-82
- 5. Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Adams RJ, Berry JD, Brown TM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2011 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2011;123:e18-e209
- 6. Siu SC, Silversides CK. Bicuspid aortic valve disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;55:2789-2800
- 7. Hinton RB, Yutzey KE. Heart valve structure and function in development and disease. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 2011;73:29-46
- 8. Ward C. Clinical significance of the bicuspid aortic valve. *Heart*. 2000;83:81-85
- 9. Larson EW, Edwards WD. Risk factors for aortic dissection: A necropsy study of 161 cases. *Am J Cardiol*. 1984;53:849-855
- 10. Basso C, Boschello M, Perrone C, Mecenero A, Cera A, Bicego D, et al. An echocardiographic survey of primary school children for bicuspid aortic valve. *Am J Cardiol*. 2004;93:661-663
- Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: A population-based study. *Lancet*. 2006;368:1005-1011
- 12. Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Chatterjee K, de Leon AC, Jr., Faxon DP, Freed MD, et al. 2008 focused update incorporated into the acc/aha 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: A report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force on practice guidelines (writing committee to revise the 1998 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease): Endorsed by the society of cardiovascular anesthesiologists, society for cardiovascular angiography and interventions, and society of thoracic surgeons. *Circulation*. 2008;118:e523-661
- 13. Horne BD, Camp NJ, Muhlestein JB, Cannon-Albright LA. Evidence for a heritable component in death resulting from aortic and mitral valve diseases. *Circulation*. 2004;110:3143-3148
- 14. Glick BN, Roberts WC. Congenitally bicuspid aortic valve in multiple family members. *Am J Cardiol*. 1994;73:400-404
- 15. Yamanaka O, Hobbs RE. Coronary artery anomalies in 126,595 patients undergoing coronary arteriography. *Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn*. 1990;21:28-40

- 16. Baltaxe HA, Wixson D. The incidence of congenital anomalies of the coronary arteries in the adult population. *Radiology*. 1977;122:47-52
- 17. Taylor AJ, Rogan KM, Virmani R. Sudden cardiac death associated with isolated congenital coronary artery anomalies. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1992;20:640-647
- 18. Amabile N, Fraisse A, Quilici J. Hypoplastic coronary artery disease: Report of one case. *Heart*. 2005;91:e12
- 19. Roberts WC, Glick BN. Congenital hypoplasia of both right and left circumflex coronary arteries. *Am J Cardiol*. 1992;70:121-123
- 20. Zugibe FT, Zugibe FT, Jr., Costello JT, Breithaupt MK. Hypoplastic coronary artery disease within the spectrum of sudden unexpected death in young and middle age adults. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol*. 1993;14:276-283
- 21. De Giorgio F, Abbate A, Stigliano E, Capelli A, Arena V. Hypoplastic coronary artery disease causing sudden death. Report of two cases and review of the literature. *Cardiovasc Pathol.* 2010;19:e107-111
- 22. Black BL. Transcriptional pathways in second heart field development. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* 2007;18:67-76
- 23. Srivastava D. Making or breaking the heart: From lineage determination to morphogenesis. *Cell*. 2006;126:1037-1048
- 24. Gittenberger-de Groot AC, DeRuiter MC, Poelmann RE. The cardiovascular epicardium in development, disease and repair. *Differentiation*. 2012
- 25. Zhou B, Ma Q, Rajagopal S, Wu SM, Domian I, Rivera-Feliciano J, et al. Epicardial progenitors contribute to the cardiomyocyte lineage in the developing heart. *Nature*. 2008;454:109-113
- 26. Bruneau BG. Transcriptional regulation of vertebrate cardiac morphogenesis. *Circ Res.* 2002;90:509-519
- 27. Webb S, Brown NA, Anderson RH. Formation of the atrioventricular septal structures in the normal mouse. *Circ Res.* 1998;82:645-656
- 28. Briggs LE, Kakarla J, Wessels A. The pathogenesis of atrial and atrioventricular septal defects with special emphasis on the dorsal mesenchymal protrusion. *Differentiation*. 2012
- 29. Armstrong EJ, Bischoff J. Heart valve development: Endothelial cell signaling and differentiation. *Circ Res.* 2004;95:459-470
- 30. Reese DE, Mikawa T, Bader DM. Development of the coronary vessel system. *Circ Res.* 2002;91:761-768
- 31. Chandrasekar B, Mummidi S, Claycomb WC, Mestril R, Nemer M. Interleukin-18 is a pro-hypertrophic cytokine that acts through a phosphatidylinositol 3kinase-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1-akt-gata4 signaling pathway in cardiomyocytes. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280:4553-4567
- 32. Mu H, Ohashi R, Lin P, Yao Q, Chen C. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of coronary vessel development. *Vasc Med*. 2005;10:37-44
- de Lange FJ, Moorman AF, Anderson RH, Manner J, Soufan AT, de Gier-de Vries C, et al. Lineage and morphogenetic analysis of the cardiac valves. *Circ Res*. 2004;95:645-654
- 34. Butcher JT, Markwald RR. Valvulogenesis: The moving target. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B.* 2007;362:1489-1503

- 35. Yamagishi T, Ando K, Nakamura H. Roles of tgfbeta and bmp during valvuloseptal endocardial cushion formation. *Anat Sci Int*. 2009;84:77-87
- 36. von Gise A, Pu WT. Endocardial and epicardial epithelial to mesenchymal transitions in heart development and disease. *Circ Res.* 2012;110:1628-1645
- Chang AC, Fu Y, Garside VC, Niessen K, Chang L, Fuller M, et al. Notch initiates the endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in the atrioventricular canal through autocrine activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase. *Dev Cell*. 2011;21:288-300
- 38. Loffredo CA. Epidemiology of cardiovascular malformations: Prevalence and risk factors. *Am J Med Genet*. 2000;97:319-325
- 39. Jenkins KJ, Correa A, Feinstein JA, Botto L, Britt AE, Daniels SR, et al. Noninherited risk factors and congenital cardiovascular defects: Current knowledge: A scientific statement from the american heart association council on cardiovascular disease in the young: Endorsed by the american academy of pediatrics. *Circulation*. 2007;115:2995-3014
- 40. Benson DW. Genetic origins of pediatric heart disease. *Pediatr Cardiol*. 2010;31:422-429
- 41. Nora JJ, Nora AH. Recurrence risks in children having one parent with a congenital heart disease. *Circulation*. 1976;53:701-702
- 42. Peterkin T, Gibson A, Loose M, Patient R. The roles of gata-4, -5 and -6 in vertebrate heart development. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*. 2005;16:83-94
- 43. Pikkarainen S, Tokola H, Kerkela R, Ruskoaho H. Gata transcription factors in the developing and adult heart. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2004;63:196-207
- 44. Heikinheimo M, Scandrett JM, Wilson DB. Localization of transcription factor gata-4 to regions of the mouse embryo involved in cardiac development. *Dev Biol*. 1994;164:361-373
- 45. Molkentin JD, Lin Q, Duncan SA, Olson EN. Requirement of the transcription factor gata4 for heart tube formation and ventral morphogenesis. *Genes Dev*. 1997;11:1061-1072
- 46. Kuo CT, Morrisey EE, Anandappa R, Sigrist K, Lu MM, Parmacek MS, et al. Gata4 transcription factor is required for ventral morphogenesis and heart tube formation. *Genes Dev.* 1997;11:1048-1060
- Wang E, Sun S, Qiao B, Duan W, Huang G, An Y, et al. Identification of functional mutations in gata4 in patients with congenital heart disease. *PLoS One*. 2013;8:e62138
- 48. Jiang Y, Drysdale TA, Evans T. A role for gata-4/5/6 in the regulation of nkx2.5 expression with implications for patterning of the precardiac field. *Dev Biol*. 1999;216:57-71
- 49. Shiojima I, Komuro I, Oka T, Hiroi Y, Mizuno T, Takimoto E, et al. Contextdependent transcriptional cooperation mediated by cardiac transcription factors csx/nkx-2.5 and gata-4. *J Biol Chem*. 1999;274:8231-8239
- 50. McElhinney DB, Geiger E, Blinder J, Benson DW, Goldmuntz E. Nkx2.5 mutations in patients with congenital heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2003;42:1650-1655

- 51. Tanaka M, Chen Z, Bartunkova S, Yamasaki N, Izumo S. The cardiac homeobox gene csx/nkx2.5 lies genetically upstream of multiple genes essential for heart development. *Development*. 1999;126:1269-1280
- 52. Benson DW, Silberbach GM, Kavanaugh-McHugh A, Cottrill C, Zhang Y, Riggs S, et al. Mutations in the cardiac transcription factor nkx2.5 affect diverse cardiac developmental pathways. *J Clin Invest*. 1999;104:1567-1573
- 53. Schott JJ, Benson DW, Basson CT, Pease W, Silberbach GM, Moak JP, et al. Congenital heart disease caused by mutations in the transcription factor nkx2-5. *Science*. 1998;281:108-111
- 54. Bartlett H, Veenstra GJ, Weeks DL. Examining the cardiac nk-2 genes in early heart development. *Pediatr Cardiol*. 2010;31:335-341
- 55. von Gise A, Zhou B, Honor LB, Ma Q, Petryk A, Pu WT. Wt1 regulates epicardial epithelial to mesenchymal transition through beta-catenin and retinoic acid signaling pathways. *Dev Biol.* 2011;356:421-431
- 56. Guadix JA, Ruiz-Villalba A, Lettice L, Velecela V, Munoz-Chapuli R, Hastie ND, et al. Wt1 controls retinoic acid signalling in embryonic epicardium through transcriptional activation of raldh2. *Development*. 2011;138:1093-1097
- 57. Carver EA, Jiang R, Lan Y, Oram KF, Gridley T. The mouse snail gene encodes a key regulator of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2001;21:8184-8188
- 58. Nieto MA. The snail superfamily of zinc-finger transcription factors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2002;3:155-166
- 59. Wu B, Wang Y, Lui W, Langworthy M, Tompkins KL, Hatzopoulos AK, et al. Nfatc1 coordinates valve endocardial cell lineage development required for heart valve formation. *Circ Res.* 2011;109:183-192
- 60. MacGrogan D, Luna-Zurita L, de la Pompa JL. Notch signaling in cardiac valve development and disease. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2011;91:449-459
- 61. Bruneau BG, Logan M, Davis N, Levi T, Tabin CJ, Seidman JG, et al. Chamberspecific cardiac expression of tbx5 and heart defects in holt-oram syndrome. *Dev Biol.* 1999;211:100-108
- 62. Mori AD, Bruneau BG. Tbx5 mutations and congenital heart disease: Holt-oram syndrome revealed. *Curr Opin Cardiol*. 2004;19:211-215
- 63. Naya FJ, Wu C, Richardson JA, Overbeek P, Olson EN. Transcriptional activity of mef2 during mouse embryogenesis monitored with a mef2-dependent transgene. *Development*. 1999;126:2045-2052
- 64. Verzi MP, McCulley DJ, De Val S, Dodou E, Black BL. The right ventricle, outflow tract, and ventricular septum comprise a restricted expression domain within the secondary/anterior heart field. *Dev Biol*. 2005;287:134-145
- 65. Lin Q, Schwarz J, Bucana C, Olson EN. Control of mouse cardiac morphogenesis and myogenesis by transcription factor mef2c. *Science*. 1997;276:1404-1407
- 66. de la Pompa JL, Timmerman LA, Takimoto H, Yoshida H, Elia AJ, Samper E, et al. Role of the nf-atc transcription factor in morphogenesis of cardiac valves and septum. *Nature*. 1998;392:182-186
- 67. Ranger AM, Grusby MJ, Hodge MR, Gravallese EM, de la Brousse FC, Hoey T, et al. The transcription factor nf-atc is essential for cardiac valve formation. *Nature*. 1998;392:186-190

- 68. Essner JJ, Branford WW, Zhang J, Yost HJ. Mesendoderm and left-right brain, heart and gut development are differentially regulated by pitx2 isoforms. *Development*. 2000;127:1081-1093
- 69. Chang TC, Summers CG, Schimmenti LA, Grajewski AL. Axenfeld-rieger syndrome: New perspectives. *Br J Ophthalmol*. 2012;96:318-322
- 70. Kozlowski K, Walter MA. Variation in residual pitx2 activity underlies the phenotypic spectrum of anterior segment developmental disorders. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2000;9:2131-2139
- 71. Arikawa A, Yoshida S, Yoshikawa H, Ishikawa K, Yamaji Y, Arita RI, et al. Case of novel pitx2 gene mutation associated with peters' anomaly and persistent hyperplastic primary vitreous. *Eye (Lond)*. 2010;24:391-393
- 72. van den Akker NM, Molin DG, Peters PP, Maas S, Wisse LJ, van Brempt R, et al. Tetralogy of fallot and alterations in vascular endothelial growth factor-a signaling and notch signaling in mouse embryos solely expressing the vegf120 isoform. *Circ Res.* 2007;100:842-849
- 73. Tomanek RJ, Haung L, Suvarna PR, O'Brien LC, Ratajska A, Sandra A. Coronary vascularization during development in the rat and its relationship to basic fibroblast growth factor. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1996;31 Spec No:E116-126
- 74. Tomanek RJ, Ratajska A, Kitten GT, Yue X, Sandra A. Vascular endothelial growth factor expression coincides with coronary vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Dev Dyn.* 1999;215:54-61
- 75. Tomanek RJ, Lotun K, Clark EB, Suvarna PR, Hu N. Vegf and bfgf stimulate myocardial vascularization in embryonic chick. *Am J Physiol*. 1998;274:H1620-1626
- 76. Bellomo D, Headrick JP, Silins GU, Paterson CA, Thomas PS, Gartside M, et al. Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-b gene (vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. *Circ Res.* 2000;86:E29-35
- 77. Fernandez B, Buehler A, Wolfram S, Kostin S, Espanion G, Franz WM, et al. Transgenic myocardial overexpression of fibroblast growth factor-1 increases coronary artery density and branching. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:207-213
- 78. Tomanek RJ, Sandra A, Zheng W, Brock T, Bjercke RJ, Holifield JS. Vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor differentially modulate early postnatal coronary angiogenesis. *Circ Res.* 2001;88:1135-1141
- 79. Wu H, Lee SH, Gao J, Liu X, Iruela-Arispe ML. Inactivation of erythropoietin leads to defects in cardiac morphogenesis. *Development*. 1999;126:3597-3605
- 80. Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352:1685-1695
- 81. Deanfield JE, Halcox JP, Rabelink TJ. Endothelial function and dysfunction: Testing and clinical relevance. *Circulation*. 2007;115:1285-1295
- 82. Rhee SG. Cell signaling. H2o2, a necessary evil for cell signaling. *Science*. 2006;312:1882-1883
- 83. Roe ND, Ren J. Nitric oxide synthase uncoupling: A therapeutic target in cardiovascular diseases. *Vascul Pharmacol*. 2012;57:168-172

- 84. Mount PF, Kemp BE, Power DA. Regulation of endothelial and myocardial no synthesis by multi-site enos phosphorylation. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2007;42:271-279
- 85. Forstermann U, Munzel T. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular disease: From marvel to menace. *Circulation*. 2006;113:1708-1714
- 86. Op den Buijs J, Musters M, Verrips T, Post JA, Braam B, van Riel N. Mathematical modeling of vascular endothelial layer maintenance: The role of endothelial cell division, progenitor cell homing, and telomere shortening. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2004;287:H2651-2658
- 87. Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, et al. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. *Science*. 1997;275:964-967
- 88. Aicher A, Heeschen C, Mildner-Rihm C, Urbich C, Ihling C, Technau-Ihling K, et al. Essential role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase for mobilization of stem and progenitor cells. *Nat Med.* 2003;9:1370-1376
- 89. Laufs U, Werner N, Link A, Endres M, Wassmann S, Jurgens K, et al. Physical training increases endothelial progenitor cells, inhibits neointima formation, and enhances angiogenesis. *Circulation*. 2004;109:220-226
- 90. Vasa M, Fichtlscherer S, Adler K, Aicher A, Martin H, Zeiher AM, et al. Increase in circulating endothelial progenitor cells by statin therapy in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. 2001;103:2885-2890
- 91. Walter DH, Rittig K, Bahlmann FH, Kirchmair R, Silver M, Murayama T, et al. Statin therapy accelerates reendothelialization: A novel effect involving mobilization and incorporation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. *Circulation*. 2002;105:3017-3024
- 92. Badimon L, Chesebro JH, Badimon JJ. Thrombus formation on ruptured atherosclerotic plaques and rethrombosis on evolving thrombi. *Circulation*. 1992;86:III74-85
- 93. Fuster V, Badimon L, Badimon JJ, Chesebro JH. The pathogenesis of coronary artery disease and the acute coronary syndromes (1). *N Engl J Med*. 1992;326:242-250
- 94. Winckers K, ten Cate H, Hackeng TM. The role of tissue factor pathway inhibitor in atherosclerosis and arterial thrombosis. *Blood Rev.* 2013;27:119-132
- 95. Verstraete M. Biochemical and clinical aspects of thrombolysis. *Semin Hematol.* 1978;15:35-54
- 96. Meyer BJ, Beer JH. [prevention of thrombosis in heart valve diseases]. *Ther Umsch.* 1998;55:756-761
- 97. Fuster V, Badimon L, Badimon JJ, Chesebro J. Prevention of thromboembolism induced by prosthetic heart valves. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* 1988;14:50-58
- 98. Alpert JS. The thrombosed prosthetic valve: Current recommendations based on evidence from the literature. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2003;41:659-660
- 99. Lengyel M, Fuster V, Keltai M, Roudaut R, Schulte HD, Seward JB, et al. Guidelines for management of left-sided prosthetic valve thrombosis: A role for thrombolytic therapy. Consensus conference on prosthetic valve thrombosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1997;30:1521-1526

- Bazan V, Evangelista A, Avegliano G, Gonzalez MT, Elorz C, Garcia del Castillo H. [non-bacterial thrombotic endocarditis of the aortic valve in a young woman]. *Rev Esp Cardiol*. 2002;55:1333-1336
- Kaul H, Gutzwiller JP, Schneider K, Dirsch O, Hausermann M. Aortic valve stenosis as a cause of major systemic embolism--a case report. *Angiology*. 1998;49:231-234
- 102. Wan S, DeSmet JM, Vincent JL, LeClerc JL. Thrombus formation on a calcific and severely stenotic bicuspid aortic valve. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1997;64:535-536
- Yasaka M, Tsuchiya T, Yamaguchi T. Mobile string-like thrombus on the calcified aortic valve in cardioembolic stroke--a case report. *Angiology*. 1993;44:655-659
- 104. Jobic Y, Provost K, Larlet JM, Mondine P, Gilard M, Boschat J, et al. Intermittent left coronary occlusion caused by native aortic valve thrombosis in a patient with protein s deficiency. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr*. 1999;12:1114-1116
- Davutoglu V, Soydinc S, Celkan A, Kucukdurmaz Z. Left ventricular freefloating ball thrombus complicating aortic valve stenosis. *J Heart Valve Dis*. 2004;13:197-199
- 106. Amano H, Kubota K, Kojima A, Shindo S, Yoshii S, Matsumoto M. [embolism of the lower limb caused by native aortic valve thrombosis]. *Kyobu Geka*. 2006;59:900-903
- 107. Yamaji S, Hara K, Ayabe S, Morino Y, Kigawa I, Wanibuchi Y, et al. [native aortic valve thrombus revealed by routine echocardiography: A case report]. *J Cardiol*. 1997;30:211-216
- 108. Massetti M, Babatasi G, Saloux E, Bhoyroo S, Grollier G, Khayat A. Spontaneous native aortic valve thrombosis. *J Heart Valve Dis.* 1999;8:157-159
- 109. Grondin F, Giannoccaro JP. Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome associated with large aortic valve vegetation and stroke. *Can J Cardiol*. 1995;11:133-135
- 110. Dweck MR, Boon NA, Newby DE. Calcific aortic stenosis: A disease of the valve and the myocardium. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;60:1854-1863
- 111. Garg V, Muth AN, Ransom JF, Schluterman MK, Barnes R, King IN, et al. Mutations in notch1 cause aortic valve disease. *Nature*. 2005;437:270-274
- 112. Suda RK, Billings PC, Egan KP, Kim JH, McCarrick-Walmsley R, Glaser DL, et al. Circulating osteogenic precursor cells in heterotopic bone formation. *Stem Cells*. 2009;27:2209-2219
- 113. Egan KP, Kim JH, Mohler ER, 3rd, Pignolo RJ. Role for circulating osteogenic precursor cells in aortic valvular disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:2965-2971
- 114. Galeone A, Brunetti G, Oranger A, Greco G, Di Benedetto A, Mori G, et al. Aortic valvular interstitial cells apoptosis and calcification are mediated by tnfrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;169:296-304
- 115. Cloyd KL, El-Hamamsy I, Boonrungsiman S, Hedegaard M, Gentleman E, Sarathchandra P, et al. Characterization of porcine aortic valvular interstitial cell 'calcified' nodules. *PLoS One*. 2012;7:e48154
- 116. Mohler ER, 3rd. Mechanisms of aortic valve calcification. *Am J Cardiol*. 2004;94:1396-1402, A1396

- 117. Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: Physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* 1991;43:109-142
- 118. Kelly RA, Balligand JL, Smith TW. Nitric oxide and cardiac function. *Circ Res.* 1996;79:363-380
- Razavi HM, Hamilton JA, Feng Q. Modulation of apoptosis by nitric oxide: Implications in myocardial ischemia and heart failure. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2005;106:147-162
- 120. Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature*. 1980;288:373-376
- 121. Ignarro LJ, Buga GM, Wood KS, Byrns RE, Chaudhuri G. Endothelium-derived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1987;84:9265-9269
- 122. Rapoport RM, Draznin MB, Murad F. Endothelium-dependent relaxation in rat aorta may be mediated through cyclic gmp-dependent protein phosphorylation. *Nature*. 1983;306:174-176
- 123. Groenendijk BC, Hierck BP, Vrolijk J, Baiker M, Pourquie MJ, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, et al. Changes in shear stress-related gene expression after experimentally altered venous return in the chicken embryo. *Circ Res.* 2005;96:1291-1298
- 124. Dekker RJ, van Thienen JV, Rohlena J, de Jager SC, Elderkamp YW, Seppen J, et al. Endothelial klf2 links local arterial shear stress levels to the expression of vascular tone-regulating genes. *Am J Pathol*. 2005;167:609-618
- 125. SenBanerjee S, Lin Z, Atkins GB, Greif DM, Rao RM, Kumar A, et al. Klf2 is a novel transcriptional regulator of endothelial proinflammatory activation. *J Exp Med*. 2004;199:1305-1315
- 126. Hare JM, Colucci WS. Role of nitric oxide in the regulation of myocardial function. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 1995;38:155-166
- 127. Balligand JL, Kelly RA, Marsden PA, Smith TW, Michel T. Control of cardiac muscle cell function by an endogenous nitric oxide signaling system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 1993;90:347-351
- 128. Sun J, Picht E, Ginsburg KS, Bers DM, Steenbergen C, Murphy E. Hypercontractile female hearts exhibit increased s-nitrosylation of the l-type ca²⁺ channel alpha1 subunit and reduced ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Circ Res.* 2006;98:403-411
- 129. Shibata K, Yatera Y, Furuno Y, Sabanai K, Morisada N, Nakata S, et al. Spontaneous development of left ventricular hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction in mice lacking all nitric oxide synthases. *Circ J*. 2010;74:2681-2692
- 130. Bloch W, Fleischmann BK, Lorke DE, Andressen C, Hops B, Hescheler J, et al. Nitric oxide synthase expression and role during cardiomyogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;43:675-684
- 131. Ji GJ, Fleischmann BK, Bloch W, Feelisch M, Andressen C, Addicks K, et al. Regulation of the l-type ca2+ channel during cardiomyogenesis: Switch from no to adenylyl cyclase-mediated inhibition. *FASEB J.* 1999;13:313-324
- 132. Kanno S, Kim PK, Sallam K, Lei J, Billiar TR, Shears LL, 2nd. Nitric oxide facilitates cardiomyogenesis in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 2004;101:12277-12281

- 133. Clark KL, Yutzey KE, Benson DW. Transcription factors and congenital heart defects. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 2006;68:97-121
- 134. Bruneau BG. The developmental genetics of congenital heart disease. *Nature*. 2008;451:943-948
- 135. Garg V, Kathiriya IS, Barnes R, Schluterman MK, King IN, Butler CA, et al. Gata4 mutations cause human congenital heart defects and reveal an interaction with tbx5. *Nature*. 2003;424:443-447
- 136. Feng Q, Song W, Lu X, Hamilton JA, Lei M, Peng T, et al. Development of heart failure and congenital septal defects in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2002;106:873-879
- 137. Bartram U, Molin DG, Wisse LJ, Mohamad A, Sanford LP, Doetschman T, et al. Double-outlet right ventricle and overriding tricuspid valve reflect disturbances of looping, myocardialization, endocardial cushion differentiation, and apoptosis in tgf-beta(2)-knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2001;103:2745-2752
- 138. Person AD, Klewer SE, Runyan RB. Cell biology of cardiac cushion development. *Int Rev Cytol.* 2005;243:287-335
- Brookes PS, Salinas EP, Darley-Usmar K, Eiserich JP, Freeman BA, Darley-Usmar VM, et al. Concentration-dependent effects of nitric oxide on mitochondrial permeability transition and cytochrome c release. *J Biol Chem*. 2000;275:20474-20479
- 140. Nadeau M, Georges RO, Laforest B, Yamak A, Lefebvre C, Beauregard J, et al. An endocardial pathway involving tbx5, gata4, and nos3 required for atrial septum formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2010;107:19356-19361
- 141. van Beynum IM, Mooij C, Kapusta L, Heil S, den Heijer M, Blom HJ. Common 894g>t single nucleotide polymorphism in the gene coding for endothelial nitric oxide synthase (enos) and risk of congenital heart defects. *Clin Chem Lab Med*. 2008;46:1369-1375
- 142. Senthil D, Raveendran M, Shen YH, Utama B, Dudley D, Wang J, et al. Genotype-dependent expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (enos) and its regulatory proteins in cultured endothelial cells. *DNA Cell Biol*. 2005;24:218-224
- 143. Veldman BA, Spiering W, Doevendans PA, Vervoort G, Kroon AA, de Leeuw PW, et al. The glu298asp polymorphism of the nos 3 gene as a determinant of the baseline production of nitric oxide. *J Hypertens*. 2002;20:2023-2027
- 144. Michel T, Vanhoutte PM. Cellular signaling and no production. *Pflugers Arch.* 2010;459:807-816
- 145. Andersen MR, Simonsen U, Uldbjerg N, Aalkjaer C, Stender S. Smoking cessation early in pregnancy and birth weight, length, head circumference, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity in umbilical and chorionic vessels: An observational study of healthy singleton pregnancies. *Circulation*. 2009;119:857-864
- 146. van der Bom T, Zomer AC, Zwinderman AH, Meijboom FJ, Bouma BJ, Mulder BJ. The changing epidemiology of congenital heart disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2010;8:50-60
- 147. Han RN, Babaei S, Robb M, Lee T, Ridsdale R, Ackerley C, et al. Defective lung vascular development and fatal respiratory distress in endothelial no synthase-

deficient mice: A model of alveolar capillary dysplasia? *Circ Res*. 2004;94:1115-1123

- 148. Liu Y, Lu X, Feng Q. Deficiency in endothelial nitric oxide synthase impairs fetal coronary artery development in mic. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2010;48:S94
- Zhao X, Lu X, Feng Q. Deficiency in endothelial nitric oxide synthase impairs myocardial angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2002;283:H2371-2378
- 150. Liu Y, Lu M, Lu X, Lacefield JC, Feng Q. Deficiency in endothelial nitric oxide synthase results in congenital malformation of atrioventricular valves *FASEB J*. 2011;25:826.829
- 151. Burger D, Lei M, Geoghegan-Morphet N, Lu X, Xenocostas A, Feng Q. Erythropoietin protects cardiomyocytes from apoptosis via up-regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;72:51-59
- 152. Zhang QJ, Li QX, Zhang HF, Zhang KR, Guo WY, Wang HC, et al. Swim training sensitizes myocardial response to insulin: Role of akt-dependent enos activation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2007;75:369-380
- 153. Dedkova EN, Wang YG, Ji X, Blatter LA, Samarel AM, Lipsius SL. Signalling mechanisms in contraction-mediated stimulation of intracellular no production in cat ventricular myocytes. *J Physiol*. 2007;580:327-345
- 154. Shiojima I, Walsh K. Regulation of cardiac growth and coronary angiogenesis by the akt/pkb signaling pathway. *Genes Dev.* 2006;20:3347-3365
- 155. Oudit GY, Sun H, Kerfant BG, Crackower MA, Penninger JM, Backx PH. The role of phosphoinositide-3 kinase and pten in cardiovascular physiology and disease. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2004;37:449-471
- 156. Chen J, Somanath PR, Razorenova O, Chen WS, Hay N, Bornstein P, et al. Akt1 regulates pathological angiogenesis, vascular maturation and permeability in vivo. *Nat Med.* 2005;11:1188-1196
- 157. Naito AT, Tominaga A, Oyamada M, Oyamada Y, Shiraishi I, Monzen K, et al. Early stage-specific inhibitions of cardiomyocyte differentiation and expression of csx/nkx-2.5 and gata-4 by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor ly294002. *Exp Cell Res.* 2003;291:56-69
- 158. Chang Z, Zhang Q, Feng Q, Xu J, Teng T, Luan Q, et al. Deletion of akt1 causes heart defects and abnormal cardiomyocyte proliferation. *Dev Biol.* 2010;347:384-391
- 159. Chen WS, Xu PZ, Gottlob K, Chen ML, Sokol K, Shiyanova T, et al. Growth retardation and increased apoptosis in mice with homozygous disruption of the akt1 gene. *Genes Dev.* 2001;15:2203-2208
- 160. Cho H, Mu J, Kim JK, Thorvaldsen JL, Chu Q, Crenshaw EB, 3rd, et al. Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase akt2 (pkb beta). *Science*. 2001;292:1728-1731
- 161. Easton RM, Cho H, Roovers K, Shineman DW, Mizrahi M, Forman MS, et al. Role for akt3/protein kinase bgamma in attainment of normal brain size. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2005;25:1869-1878
- Morisco C, Seta K, Hardt SE, Lee Y, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J. Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta regulates gata4 in cardiac myocytes. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276:28586-28597

- 163. Molkentin JD. The zinc finger-containing transcription factors gata-4, -5, and -6. Ubiquitously expressed regulators of tissue-specific gene expression. *J Biol Chem*. 2000;275:38949-38952
- 164. Zhao R, Watt AJ, Battle MA, Li J, Bondow BJ, Duncan SA. Loss of both gata4 and gata6 blocks cardiac myocyte differentiation and results in acardia in mice. *Dev Biol.* 2008;317:614-619
- 165. Neumann P, Gertzberg N, Johnson A. Tnf-alpha induces a decrease in enos promoter activity. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2004;286:L452-459
- 166. Malan D, Ji GJ, Schmidt A, Addicks K, Hescheler J, Levi RC, et al. Nitric oxide, a key signaling molecule in the murine early embryonic heart. *FASEB J*. 2004;18:1108-1110
- 167. Suzuki YJ, Nagase H, Day RM, Das DK. Gata-4 regulation of myocardial survival in the preconditioned heart. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2004;37:1195-1203
- 168. Marcet-Palacios M, Ulanova M, Duta F, Puttagunta L, Munoz S, Gibbings D, et al. The transcription factor wilms tumor 1 regulates matrix metalloproteinase-9 through a nitric oxide-mediated pathway. *J Immunol*. 2007;179:256-265
- 169. Crispino JD, Lodish MB, Thurberg BL, Litovsky SH, Collins T, Molkentin JD, et al. Proper coronary vascular development and heart morphogenesis depend on interaction of gata-4 with fog cofactors. *Genes Dev.* 2001;15:839-844
- 170. Laverriere AC, MacNeill C, Mueller C, Poelmann RE, Burch JB, Evans T. Gata-4/5/6, a subfamily of three transcription factors transcribed in developing heart and gut. *J Biol Chem.* 1994;269:23177-23184
- 171. Heineke J, Auger-Messier M, Xu J, Oka T, Sargent MA, York A, et al. Cardiomyocyte gata4 functions as a stress-responsive regulator of angiogenesis in the murine heart. *J Clin Invest*. 2007;117:3198-3210
- 172. Shami PJ, Moore JO, Gockerman JP, Hathorn JW, Misukonis MA, Weinberg JB. Nitric oxide modulation of the growth and differentiation of freshly isolated acute non-lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Leuk Res.* 1995;19:527-533
- 173. Seth D, Hausladen A, Wang YJ, Stamler JS. Endogenous protein s-nitrosylation in e. Coli: Regulation by oxyr. *Science*. 2012;336:470-473
- 174. Malik SI, Hussain A, Yun BW, Spoel SH, Loake GJ. Gsnor-mediated denitrosylation in the plant defence response. *Plant Sci.* 2011;181:540-544
- 175. Haldar SM, Stamler JS. S-nitrosylation: Integrator of cardiovascular performance and oxygen delivery. *J Clin Invest*. 2013;123:101-110
- 176. Nakamura T, Lipton SA. Emerging role of protein-protein transnitrosylation in cell signaling pathways. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2013;18:239-249
- 177. Garcia-Garcia A, Zavala-Flores L, Rodriguez-Rocha H, Franco R. Thiol-redox signaling, dopaminergic cell death, and parkinson's disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2012;17:1764-1784
- 178. Lipton SA, Gu Z, Nakamura T. Inflammatory mediators leading to protein misfolding and uncompetitive/fast off-rate drug therapy for neurodegenerative disorders. *Int Rev Neurobiol*. 2007;82:1-27
- 179. Maron BA, Tang SS, Loscalzo J. S-nitrosothiols and the s-nitrosoproteome of the cardiovascular system. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2013;18:270-287

- 180. Hammoud L, Xiang F, Lu X, Brunner F, Leco K, Feng Q. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase promotes neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation by inhibiting tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 expression. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2007;75:359-368
- 181. Lepic E, Burger D, Lu X, Song W, Feng Q. Lack of endothelial nitric oxide synthase decreases cardiomyocyte proliferation and delays cardiac maturation. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2006;291:C1240-1246
- 182. Li F, Wang X, Capasso JM, Gerdes AM. Rapid transition of cardiac myocytes from hyperplasia to hypertrophy during postnatal development. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1996;28:1737-1746
- 183. Soonpaa MH, Kim KK, Pajak L, Franklin M, Field LJ. Cardiomyocyte DNA synthesis and binucleation during murine development. *Am J Physiol*. 1996;271:H2183-2189
- 184. Cluzeaut F, Maurer-Schultze B. Proliferation of cardiomyocytes and interstitial cells in the cardiac muscle of the mouse during pre- and postnatal development. *Cell Tissue Kinet*. 1986;19:267-274
- 185. Houweling AC, van Borren MM, Moorman AF, Christoffels VM. Expression and regulation of the atrial natriuretic factor encoding gene nppa during development and disease. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;67:583-593
- 186. Lompre AM, Nadal-Ginard B, Mahdavi V. Expression of the cardiac ventricular alpha- and beta-myosin heavy chain genes is developmentally and hormonally regulated. *J Biol Chem.* 1984;259:6437-6446
- 187. Swynghedauw B. Developmental and functional adaptation of contractile proteins in cardiac and skeletal muscles. *Physiol Rev.* 1986;66:710-771
- 188. Kobayashi N, Mita S, Yoshida K, Honda T, Kobayashi T, Hara K, et al. Celiprolol activates enos through the pi3k-akt pathway and inhibits vcam-1 via nf-kappab induced by oxidative stress. *Hypertension*. 2003;42:1004-1013
- Pilz RB, Casteel DE. Regulation of gene expression by cyclic gmp. *Circ Res*. 2003;93:1034-1046
- 190. Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W, Beck KF. Regulation of gene expression by nitric oxide. *Pflugers Arch.* 2001;442:479-486
- 191. Bogdan C. Nitric oxide and the regulation of gene expression. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2001;11:66-75
- 192. Lee TC, Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Stewart DJ. Abnormal aortic valve development in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2345-2348
- 193. Fernandez B, Duran AC, Fernandez-Gallego T, Fernandez MC, Such M, Arque JM, et al. Bicuspid aortic valves with different spatial orientations of the leaflets are distinct etiological entities. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009;54:2312-2318
- 194. Lipscombe LL, Hux JE. Trends in diabetes prevalence, incidence, and mortality in ontario, canada 1995-2005: A population-based study. *Lancet*. 2007;369:750-756
- 195. Liu Y, Feng Q. Noing the heart: Role of nitric oxide synthase-3 in heart development. *Differentiation*. 2012;84:54-61
- 196. Chung AW, Au Yeung K, Cortes SF, Sandor GG, Judge DP, Dietz HC, et al. Endothelial dysfunction and compromised enos/akt signaling in the thoracic aorta

during the progression of marfan syndrome. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2007;150:1075-1083

- 197. Niessen K, Karsan A. Notch signaling in cardiac development. *Circ Res.* 2008;102:1169-1181
- 198. Stagliano NE, Zhao W, Prado R, Dewanjee MK, Ginsberg MD, Dietrich WD. The effect of nitric oxide synthase inhibition on acute platelet accumulation and hemodynamic depression in a rat model of thromboembolic stroke. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1997;17:1182-1190
- 199. Shultz PJ, Raij L. Endogenously synthesized nitric oxide prevents endotoxininduced glomerular thrombosis. *J Clin Invest*. 1992;90:1718-1725
- 200. Yao SK, Ober JC, Krishnaswami A, Ferguson JJ, Anderson HV, Golino P, et al. Endogenous nitric oxide protects against platelet aggregation and cyclic flow variations in stenosed and endothelium-injured arteries. *Circulation*. 1992;86:1302-1309
- 201. Atochin DN, Huang PL. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase transgenic models of endothelial dysfunction. *Pflugers Arch.* 2010;460:965-974
- 202. Lefer DJ, Jones SP, Girod WG, Baines A, Grisham MB, Cockrell AS, et al. Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol*. 1999;276:H1943-1950
- 203. Huang Z, Huang PL, Ma J, Meng W, Ayata C, Fishman MC, et al. Enlarged infarcts in endothelial nitric oxide synthase knockout mice are attenuated by nitrol-arginine. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1996;16:981-987
- 204. Atochin DN, Wang A, Liu VW, Critchlow JD, Dantas AP, Looft-Wilson R, et al. The phosphorylation state of enos modulates vascular reactivity and outcome of cerebral ischemia in vivo. *J Clin Invest*. 2007;117:1961-1967
- 205. Kuhlencordt PJ, Rosel E, Gerszten RE, Morales-Ruiz M, Dombkowski D, Atkinson WJ, et al. Role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in endothelial activation: Insights from enos knockout endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2004;286:C1195-1202
- 206. Michelson AD, Benoit SE, Furman MI, Breckwoldt WL, Rohrer MJ, Barnard MR, et al. Effects of nitric oxide/edrf on platelet surface glycoproteins. *Am J Physiol*. 1996;270:H1640-1648
- 207. Mergia E, Friebe A, Dangel O, Russwurm M, Koesling D. Spare guanylyl cyclase no receptors ensure high no sensitivity in the vascular system. *J Clin Invest*. 2006;116:1731-1737
- 208. Radomski MW, Moncada S. Regulation of vascular homeostasis by nitric oxide. *Thromb Haemost.* 1993;70:36-41
- 209. Radomski MW, Moncada S. The biological and pharmacological role of nitric oxide in platelet function. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 1993;344:251-264
- 210. Bennett JS, Shattil SJ, Power JW, Gartner TK. Interaction of fibrinogen with its platelet receptor. Differential effects of alpha and gamma chain fibrinogen peptides on the glycoprotein iib-iiia complex. *J Biol Chem.* 1988;263:12948-12953
- 211. Freedman JE, Loscalzo J. Nitric oxide and its relationship to thrombotic disorders. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2003;1:1183-1188

- 212. Freedman JE. Oxidative stress and platelets. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008;28:s11-16
- 213. DeWood MA, Spores J, Notske R, Mouser LT, Burroughs R, Golden MS, et al. Prevalence of total coronary occlusion during the early hours of transmural myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* 1980;303:897-902
- 214. Falk E. Unstable angina with fatal outcome: Dynamic coronary thrombosis leading to infarction and/or sudden death. Autopsy evidence of recurrent mural thrombosis with peripheral embolization culminating in total vascular occlusion. *Circulation*. 1985;71:699-708
- 215. Freedman JE, Ting B, Hankin B, Loscalzo J, Keaney JF, Jr., Vita JA. Impaired platelet production of nitric oxide predicts presence of acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation*. 1998;98:1481-1486
- 216. Lacolley P, Gautier S, Poirier O, Pannier B, Cambien F, Benetos A. Nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms, blood pressure and aortic stiffness in normotensive and hypertensive subjects. *J Hypertens*. 1998;16:31-35
- 217. Elbaz A, Poirier O, Moulin T, Chedru F, Cambien F, Amarenco P. Association between the glu298asp polymorphism in the endothelial constitutive nitric oxide synthase gene and brain infarction. The genic investigators. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1634-1639
- 218. Hingorani AD, Liang CF, Fatibene J, Lyon A, Monteith S, Parsons A, et al. A common variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (glu298-->asp) is a major risk factor for coronary artery disease in the uk. *Circulation*. 1999;100:1515-1520
- 219. Shimasaki Y, Yasue H, Yoshimura M, Nakayama M, Kugiyama K, Ogawa H, et al. Association of the missense glu298asp variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene with myocardial infarction. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1998;31:1506-1510
- 220. Tanus-Santos JE, Desai M, Deak LR, Pezzullo JC, Abernethy DR, Flockhart DA, et al. Effects of endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms on platelet function, nitric oxide release, and interactions with estradiol. *Pharmacogenetics*. 2002;12:407-413
- 221. Demer LL, Tintut Y. Vascular calcification: Pathobiology of a multifaceted disease. *Circulation*. 2008;117:2938-2948
- 222. Kanno Y, Into T, Lowenstein CJ, Matsushita K. Nitric oxide regulates vascular calcification by interfering with tgf- signalling. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2008;77:221-230
- 223. Rajamannan NM, Subramaniam M, Stock SR, Stone NJ, Springett M, Ignatiev KI, et al. Atorvastatin inhibits calcification and enhances nitric oxide synthase production in the hypercholesterolaemic aortic valve. *Heart*. 2005;91:806-810
- 224. Bosse K, Hans CP, Zhao N, Koenig SN, Huang N, Guggilam A, et al. Endothelial nitric oxide signaling regulates notch1 in aortic valve disease. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2013;60:27-35
- 225. Liu Y, Lu X, Xiang FL, Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Robbins J, et al. Nitric oxide synthase-3 deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries and postnatal myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J.* 2014, 35(14): 920-31.

2 Chapter 2

Nitric oxide synthase-3 deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries and postnatal myocardial infarction

A version of this chapter has been published in *European Heart Journal* 2014, 35(14): 920-31.

Yin Liu¹, Xiangru Lu², Fu-Li Xiang¹, Robert E. Poelmann³, Adriana C. Gittenberger-de Groot³, Jeffrey Robbins⁴, Qingping Feng^{1,2,*}

¹Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, University of Western Ontario, ²Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario, Canada. ³Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands. ⁴Department of Pediatrics, Division of Molecular Cardiovascular Biology, Children's Hospital Research Foundation, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA

"Nitric oxide synthase-3 deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries and postnatal myocardial infarction."

2.1 CHAPTER SUMMARY

Aims: Hypoplastic coronary artery disease is a rare congenital abnormality that is associated with sudden cardiac death. However, molecular mechanisms responsible for this disease are not clear. The aim of the present study was to assess the role of nitric oxide synthase-3 (NOS3) in the pathogenesis of hypoplastic coronary arteries.

Methods and Results: Wild-type (WT), *NOS3^{-/-}* and a novel cardiac specific NOS3 overexpression mouse model were employed. Deficiency in NOS3 resulted in coronary artery hypoplasia in fetal mice and spontaneous myocardial infarction in postnatal hearts. Coronary artery diameters, vessel density and volume were significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at postnatal day 0. In addition, *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed a significant increase in ventricular wall thickness, myocardial volume and cardiomyocyte cell size compared with WT mice. Lack of NOS3 also down-regulated the expression of *Gata4*, Wilms tumor-1, vascular endothelial growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor and erythropoietin, and inhibited migration of epicardial cells. These abnormalities and hypoplastic coronary arteries in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice were completely rescued by the cardiac-specific overexpression of NOS3.

Conclusion: NOS3 is required for coronary artery development and deficiency in NOS3 leads to hypoplastic coronary arteries.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Congenital coronary anomalies affect up to 5% of the general population.^{1, 2} Most of these do not have clinical signs or symptoms, and are often unrecognized. However, severe congenital coronary artery malformation is associated with myocardial ischemia, infarction and sudden cardiac death.³ Hypoplastic coronary artery disease (HCAD), a rare congenital coronary abnormality, is defined by malformation of one or more major branches of the coronary arteries with a marked decrease in luminal diameter and length.⁴⁻⁶ HCAD can be asymptomatic, but is often associated with myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death under stress, such as during intense physical activity.^{3, 7} However, the molecular mechanisms responsible for embryonic development of HCAD are still unknown.

Nitric oxide (NO) is produced from the guanidino group of L-arginine in an NADPH-dependent reaction catalyzed by a family of NO synthase (NOS) enzymes.⁸ Originally identified as a vasodilatory agent, NO is now recognized as an important signaling molecule involved in a wide range of physiological processes including apoptosis, angiogenesis and cell growth.^{8, 9} There are 3 distinct isoforms of NOS: neuronal NOS (nNOS, NOS1), inducible NOS (iNOS, NOS2) and endothelial NOS (eNOS, NOS3). Interestingly, NOS3 is expressed in cardiomyocytes during early mammalian embryonic heart development.¹⁰ Immunohistochemical analysis revealed that the heart starts to express NOS3 at E9.5 and the expression remains high until E13.5. Starting from E14.5 the levels of NOS3 in the heart peaks during coronary artery development,^{10, 11} suggesting its potential importance. However, the role of NOS3 in embryonic coronary artery development is still not clear.

The signaling milieau within the developing heart is critical to coronary vasculogenesis.¹¹ Transcription factors such as *Gata4* and Wilms tumor-1 (Wt1),^{12, 13} as well as growth factors including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and erythropoietin (EPO) ^{14, 15} are essential in the formation of coronary arteries.^{11, 15} We have previously shown a key role of NOS3 to capillary vessel development in the heart.¹⁶ In the present study, we hypothesized that NO production from NOS3 within the embryonic heart is a critical signaling molecule in the development of coronary arteries and deficiency in *NOS3* results in hypoplastic coronary arteries.

2.3 METHODS

2.3.1 Animals

Breeding pairs of *NOS3^{-/-}* (stock No. 002684) and wild-type C57BL/6 (*NOS3^{+/+}*) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine). A breeding program was carried out to produce neonates. Genotyping of *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/+}* mice was performed by a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method using genomic DNA prepared from tail biopsies. A timed breeding program was carried out. Vaginal plug was monitored in the morning of each day and a plug was considered 0.5 days into pregnancy. Embryonic hearts were collected at E12.5, E15.5 and postnatal day 0 (P0). All procedures involving mouse husbandry and manipulation were in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council of Animal Care and approved by the Animal Use Subcommittee at the University of Western Ontario, Canada.

2.3.2 Generation of Human NOS3 Transgenic Mice

A new line of cardiac-specific mice overexpressing human isoforms of *NOS3* (*NOS3*^{Tg}) was generated. Briefly, human NOS3 complementary DNA was inserted into the β -myosin heavy chain promoter expression vector to permit the expression of human NOS3 only during embryonic development and specifically in the heart. Genotypes were identified by PCR using genomic DNA from tail biopsies. Primer sequence is shown in Table 1. Relative protein expression of varies genotypes were done via western blotting and immunohistochemical staining.

Gene	Accession #	Primer Sequence
Hu-NOS3	NM_000603.3	Sense: 5' CTC GTG TGA AGA ACT GGG AGG T 3'
		Antisense: 5' GTG GCA TAC TTG ATG TGG TTG 3'
285	NR_003279.1	Sense: 5' TTG AAA ATC CGG GGG AGA G 3'
		Antisense: 5' ACA TTG TTC CAA CAT GCC AG 3'
Gata4	NM_008092.3	Sense: 5' CAC TAT GGG CAC AGC AGC TC 3'
		Antisense: 5' GCC TGC GAT GTC TGA GTG AC 3'
VEGFa	NM_001025250.2	Sense: 5' GAT TGA GAC CCT GGT GGA CAT C 3'
		Antisense: 5' TCT CCT ATG TGC TGG CTT TGG T 3'
FGF	NM_008006.1	Sense: 5' CAA GGG AGT GTG TGC CAA CC 3'
		Antisense: 5' TGC CCA GTT CGT TTC AGT GC 3'
EPO	NM_007942.2	Sense 5' GGA ATT GAT GTC GCC TCC AG 3'
		Antisense: 5' GCA GCA GCA TGT CAC CTG TC 3'
Wt1	NM_144783.2	Sense: 5' GAT GTG CGG CGT GTA TCT GG 3'
		Antisense: 5' GCT GGT CTG AGC GAG AAA ACC T 3'

Table 2.1 Gene name, accession number and primers used.

2.3.3 ECG Monitoring

Short-term monitoring of ECG limb lead was performed in anesthetized mice with needle electrodes inserted subcutaneously. ECG was recorded with Powerlab Chart 5.0 (AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO).
2.3.4 TTC Staining

Neonatal hearts were first dissected out of the body, cut in half and washed in PBS to remove blood. Next, they were incubated in 1% TTC solution at room temperature for 1 hour. Finally, images are taken on a microscope for macro samples (Discovery V8., Zeiss, Germany).

2.3.5 Three-Dimensional Reconstructions and Histological Analysis

Three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions of the heart and coronary arteries were performed using α-smooth muscle actin stained serially sections of P0 and E15.5 hearts through the AMIRA® software (Template Graphics Software, USA). Briefly, stained serially sections were imaged (Observer D1, Zeiss, Germany). These images were then used for 3D reconstructions of the heart and measurements of coronary artery diameter, abundance and myocardial wall thickness. All measurements were made at similar anatomical location to ensure consistency. Calculations of myocardial and coronary artery volume were made using the AMIRA® program.

2.3.6 Ex vivo Heart Cultures

E12.5 $NOS3^{+/+}$ and $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts were explanted and cultured in M199 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Hearts were stabilized for 2 hours prior to any treatment. Both $NOS3^{+/+}$ and $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts were beating throughout the entirety of the experiment. $NOS3^{+/+}$ and $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts were treated with 100 μ M ODQ (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie, USA) and 2 mM 8-Bromo-cGMP (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie, USA), respectively for 6 hours. Hearts were then collected and mRNA levels of Wt1 and *Gata4* were analyzed by real time RT-PCR.

2.3.7 Co-culture of EPDCs and Cardiomyocytes

E13 eGFP⁺ hearts were planted on a 35 mm petri dish for 3 days to allow outgrowth of epicardial cells, which are epicardial-derived cells (EPDCs). After 3 days, the hearts were removed and eGFP⁺ EPDCs were cultured for 3 more days prior to coculture with *NOS3*^{+/+} or *NOS3*^{-/-} cardiomyocytes. *NOS3*^{+/+} and *NOS3*^{-/-} cardiomyocytes were isolated according to previous protocol with the following modifications. E13 *NOS3*^{+/+} and *NOS3*^{-/-} embryos were collected and hearts were carefully dissected out of the embryo. The co-culture system functions similar to a wound healing assay system (Fig. 2.8A). Cardiomyocytes isolated from E13 *NOS3*^{+/+} and *NOS3*^{-/-} mice were plated on the inside of the barrier overnight with or without the treatment of adenoviral NOS3 or lacZ. eGFP⁺ EPDCs were cultured on the outside of the barrier for 2 hours before the barrier was removed. After the barrier was removed, the eGFP⁺ cells were given 72 hours to migrate. Images were then taken under a confocal microscope (LSM 510 Meta, Zeiss, Germany). In order to obtain a complete view, a tiled scan was performed to piece together 16 images at 40x into a unified image.

2.3.8 General Tissue Processing

Neonatal *NOS3*^{+/+}, *NOS3*^{+/-}, *NOS3*^{-/-}, *NOS3*^{Tg}/*NOS3*^{-/-} and *NOS3*^{Tg} mice were used for analysis. Neonatal hearts and lungs were isolated and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, dehydrated, and embedded in paraffin. Five micro-meter transverse serial sections were mounted onto albumin/glycerin coated glass slides.

2.3.9 Real Time RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from cultured fetal hearts with a RNA isolation kit (Qiagen, Canada). cDNA was synthesized using M-MLV (Invitrogen, Canada) reverse transcriptase and random primers (Invitrogen, Canada). Real-time PCR was conducted using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix as per manufacturer's instructions (Eurogentec, USA). The oligonucleotide primers used in this study are summarized in Supplementary Table 1. Samples were amplified for 35 cycles using MJ Research Opticon Real-Time PCR machine. The expression levels of *Gata4*, VEGFa, FGF, EPO, and Wt1 in relation to 28S rRNA as a loading control were obtained.

2.3.10 Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence

After deparaffination and rehydration of the slides, microwave antigen retrieval was applied by heating them for 10 min at 98°C in a citric acid buffer (0.01 M in aquadest, pH 6.0). Inhibition of endogenous peroxidase was performed with a solution of 0.3% H₂O₂ in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 30 min. The slides were incubated overnight with either 1:500 anti-troponin I (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA), 1:3,000 anti-αsmooth muscle actin (Sigma- Aldrich, USA), 1:500, 1:300 anti-Wt1 (Calbiochem, USA) or 1:1000 anti-NOS3 (BD Transduction Laboratories, USA). Next, the secondary antibodies was added for 60 min with either 1:200 horse anti-mouse biotin (Vector Laboratories, USA) or 1:200 goat anti-rabbit biotin (Vector Laboratories, USA) in PBS. Subsequently, slides were incubated with ABC reagent (Vector Laboratories, USA) for 30 min. For visualization, the slides were incubated with 400 µg/ml 3-3'diaminobenzidin tetrahydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie, USA) and 100 µL of 30% H₂O₂ dissolved in PBS for 10-15 min. Counterstaining was performed with 0.1% hematoxylin (Merck, Germany). For immunofluorescence staining, following primary antibody incubation, 1:500 goat anti-rabbit fluorescent secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch, USA) was used. Nuclei were stained with 1:50000 Hoechst 33342

(Invitrogen, Canada). Cardiomyocyte membranes were stained with 1:300 WGA (Vector Laboratories, USA).

2.3.11 Western Blot Analysis

Forty micrograms of protein lysates were subjected to separation on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel, followed by electrotransfer to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were probed with specific antibodies against NOS3 (BD Biosciences, USA) and GAPDH (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA), respectively. Signals were detected by the chemiluminescence detection method.

2.3.12 Heart Function Measurements

Left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction and fractional shortening were measured using Vevo 2100 (Visual Sonics, Canada). Briefly, 2-dimensional images of the heart were obtained in short-axis view using a dynamically focused 40 MHz probe. The Mmode cursor was positioned perpendicular to the LV anterior and posterior walls. The LV internal end-diastolic dimension (LVIDd) and LV internal systolic dimension (LVIDs) were measured from M-mode recordings. LV ejection fraction was calculated as: EF (%) = $[(LVIDd)^3 - (LVIDs)^3]/(LVIDd)^3 \times 100$. Fractional shortening was calculated as: FS (%) = $(LVIDd-LVIDs)/LVIDd \times 100$. The M-mode measurements of the left ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were averaged from 3 cycles.

2.3.13 EPDC Outgrowth

E12.5 *NOS3*^{+/+} and *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts were planted on a 35 mm petri dish for 3 days to allow outgrowth of epicardial cells, which are epicardial-derived cells (EPDCs). After

3 days, these hearts were imaged under phase contrast (Observer D1, Zeiss, Germany). Their maximum migration distance was measured.

2.3.14 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Survival curves were created by the method of Kaplan and Meier and compared by log-rank test. Unpaired Student's *t* test was used for 2 group comparisons. One way ANOVA followed by Student-Newman-Keuls test was performed for multi-group comparisons. Two way ANOVA test was performed for multi-group, multi-treatment comparisons. A two-sided *P*<0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software 3.0.

2.4 RESULTS

2.4.1 Characterization of *NOS3*^{TG} and *NOS3*^{TG};*NOS3*^{-/-} mice.

In order to study the specific role of NOS3 in coronary artery development, a cardiac-specific NOS3 transgenic mouse ($NOS3^{Tg}$) was generated under the control of β myosin heavy chain promoter.¹⁷ Expression of human NOS3 was detected only during
embryonic development and specifically in the heart of $NOS3^{Tg}$ mice (Figure 2.1*A-D*).
The $NOS3^{Tg}$ mice were then crossed with $NOS3^{-/-}$ to create the $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ mouse, an
animal that lacks NOS3 in all organs except the heart during embryogenesis (Figure 2.1*B*, *D*). Since the gaseous molecule NO can freely diffuse between cells, NOS3
overexpression in cardiomyocytes rescued NOS3 expression in $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts.



Figure 2.1 Generation of mice with cardiomyocyte specific overexpression of human nitric oxide synthase-3 (hu-*NOS3*) during embryonic development. (**A**) Construct used for the generation of mice with cardiomyocyte specific overexpression of hu-NOS3 under the control of β-myosin heavy chain (MHC). (**B**) NOS3 protein levels in the heart at E12.5, P0 and 5 months of age by Western blot analysis. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate *NOS3*^{Tg};*NOS3*^{-/-} and *NOS3*^{Tg}, respectively. (**C**) Expression of the hu-NOS3 transgene was restricted in the heart at P0. Hu-NOS3 mRNA was analyzed by RT-PCR. (D) Western blot analysis showed decreased *NOS3* expression from *NOS3*^{+/+} to *NOS3*^{+/-} to *NOS3*^{-/-} animals. (**E**) NOS3 immunostaining at E12.5 showing expression of the Hu-NOS3 transgene. Endogenous NOS3 expression was mostly located in the endocardium and capillary endothelium in the *NOS3*^{+/+} mice. *NOS3*^{-/-} mice showed no detectable expression of *NOS3*. *NOS3*^{Tg};*NOS3*^{-/-} mice showed strong NOS3 expression in the myocardium, but not in the endocardium or capillary endothelium. *NOS3*^{Tg} mice showed strong NOS3 expression in the myocardium (transgene), endocardium and capillary endothelium (endogenous). Scale bar = 30 µm.

2.4.2 Deficiency in *NOS3* results in spontaneous myocardial infarction.

Deficiency in NOS3 resulted in 73% mortality within the first 4 days after birth (Figure 2.2*E*). Coronary artery malformation may lead to myocardial ischemia and cell death, resulting in myocardial infarction. To assess if myocardial infarction was the cause of death, P0 hearts were subjected to triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC), troponin I and hematoxylin/eosin (H/E) staining. TTC staining showed that NOS3^{-/-} mice had a large area of tissue death near the apex of the heart (Figure 2.2A). Troponin I is a part of the troponin complex that is integral to muscle contraction and decreased levels of troponin I represent cardiomyocyte death.¹⁸ Our data showed troponin I immunostaining was decreased in the area of infarct in NOS3^{-/-} mice (Figure 2.2A). H/E staining showed typical wavy fibers near the border of the infarct area with disappearance of nuclei and intense eosinophilic cytoplasm (Figure 2.2A), which are signs of acute myocardial infarction.¹⁹ ECG monitoring showed ST elevation and ORS inversion in neonatal NOS3-⁻ mice, indicating myocardial ischemia and possible cardiac hypertrophy, respectively (Figure 2.2A). Spontaneous myocardial infarction was seen in 8/15 (53%) NOS3^{-/-} animals at P0 (Figure 2.2B). Consequently, left ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were significantly decreased in the $NOS3^{--}$ compared to $NOS3^{++}$ mice ($P \le 0.05$, Figure 2.2*C-D*). These abnormalities in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice including myocardial infarction, cardiac dysfunction, and postnatal mortality were all rescued by cardiacspecific overexpression of *NOS3* (*NOS3*^{Tg}:*NOS3*^{-/-} mice, Figure 2.2*A*-*E*).



Figure 2.2 Myocardial infarction and postnatal survival in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. (**A**) Evidence of spontaneous myocardial infarction in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at P0. TTC staining shows a large area of tissue death near the apex of the heart. The images are adjacent cross sections of the heart near the apex. Troponin I staining shows a significant loss of troponin I in the infarct myocardium. H/E staining shows waviness of fibers near the border of the myocardium with intense eosinophilic cytoplasm. ECG tracing shows significant ST elevation (Arrows) and QRS inversion (Arrowheads), representing signs of myocardial ischemia and possible cardiac hypertrophy, respectively. White bar: 1mm. Black bar: 40µm. (**B**) Spontaneous myocardial infarction in *NOS3^{-/-}* animals at P0. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice at P0. N=5-6 mice per group. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. † *P* <0.01 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* (**E**) Thirty-day survival after birth in *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}* mice. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}* model *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}*,

2.4.3 Deficiency in *NOS3* impairs coronary artery development.

 $NOS3^{-/-}$ and $NOS3^{+/-}$ hearts at P0 showed less branching and significant decreases in the left and right coronary artery diameters (Figure 2.3*A-D*). Three-dimensional reconstructions of the heart showed a significant decrease in coronary volume in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice (*P*<0.01, Figure 2.3*E*, Figure 2.4*A*). Cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression completely rescued these defects in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2.3*A-E*, Figure 2.4*A*).

Since a decrease in coronary artery volume may have been a result of a smaller myocardial mass, myocardial volume and thickness were analyzed. However, both myocardial volume and thickness were increased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ and $NOS3^{+/-}$ compared to $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice (P<0.01, Figure 2.4B-C). In order to determine if the increased myocardial volume and thickness are a result of cardiac hypertrophy, cardiomyocyte cell size and nuclear size of P0 hearts were measured. Cardiomyocyte cell and nuclear size was progressively increased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ and $NOS3^{+/-}$ compared to $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice (P<0.01, Figure 2.4D-E). Therefore, our data showed an increased myocardial mass accompanied by severe coronary artery hypoplasia. These defects $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice were completely rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression (P<0.01, Figure 2.4B-E).

The coronary artery network is established by E15.5 in mice.¹¹ To assess the onset of the coronary artery malformations, we further analyzed coronary artery development at E15.5. Coronary artery abundance, vessel diameter and volume were all significantly decreased while myocardial thickness was increased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared to $NOS3^{+/-}$ and $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice at E15.5 (*P*<0.01, Figure 2.5*A*-*F*). These results suggest that the onset of the defect is prior to E15.5. Consistent with our P0 data, these defects were completely rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression (*P*<0.01, Figure 2.5*A*-*F*). Since

coronary artery formation at E15.5 was not impaired in $NOS3^{+/-}$ mice, all subsequent molecular analyses on early coronary artery development were carried out in $NOS3^{-/-}$ in comparison with $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice.



Figure 2.3 Immunohistochemical analysis of coronary artery development at P0. (**A**) Heart sections were stained with vascular smooth muscle α-actin to identify coronary arteries. Coronary arteries were smaller and less abundant in *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. Cardiac specific overexpression of *NOS3* (*NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}*) restored coronary abundance in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Coronary arteries are indicated by red arrows. Scale bar = 60 µm. (**B-D**) Left and right coronary artery diameter and abundance measured at 50 µm from the aortic orifice were significantly decreased *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{+/+}* mice, which was restored in *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* mice. N=5 hearts per group.* *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}*, † *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/-}*. ‡ *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}*. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively. (**E**) Coronary artery volume was significantly decreased *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* mice. N=5 hearts per group. * *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}*. ‡ *P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}* mice, which was restored in *NOS3^{Tg}*.



Figure 2.4 3D reconstruction of coronary artery development at P0. (**A**) Coronary arteries shown in green were less abundant in *NOS3^{+/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. Cardiac specific overexpression of NOS3 restored coronary artery abundance in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Atria were excluded from the reconstruction in order to view the origins of the coronary arteries. (**B-C**) Ventricular wall thickness and myocardial volume were significantly increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. Cardiac overexpression of *NOS3* (*NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}*) restored myocardial thickness and volume to similar levels as in the *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. (**D-E**) Cross-section cardiomyocyte cell and nucleus size was significantly increased *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/-}* compared to *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. Cardiac overexpression of *NOS3* (*NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}*) restored myocardial thickness to similar levels as in the *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. N=4 hearts per group. **P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}* mice, †*P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/-}* mice, ‡*P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}*. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively.



Figure 2.5 Coronary artery development at E15.5. (**A**) 3D reconstruction of E15.5 hearts. Coronary arteries shown in green were less abundant in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared to $NOS3^{+/-}$ and $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice. Cardiac specific overexpression of NOS3 restored coronary artery abundance in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. Atria were excluded from the reconstruction in order to view the origins of the coronary arteries. (**B**-**E**) Coronary artery vessel diameter, abundance and volume were significantly decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice compared to $NOS3^{+/-}$ and $NOS3^{+/+}$, which were restored in $NOS3^{-T}$ mice. N=5 hearts per group. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ and $NOS3^{Tg}$, respectively. (**F**) Ventricular wall thickness was significantly increased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared to $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice. Cardiomyocyte specific overexpression of NOS3 ($NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$) restored myocardial thickness to similar levels as in the $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice. N=4 hearts per group. For B-F, *P<0.01 vs. $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, † P<0.01 vs. $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, † P<0.01 vs. $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, † P<0.01 vs. $NOS3^{+/-}$

2.4.4 Down-regulation of transcription and growth factors in E12.5 *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts.

Capillary networks in the embryonic heart begin to develop at E12.5, and are regulated by transcription and growth factors that are critical to heart morphogenesis and coronary artery formation.¹¹ Our data showed that the mRNA levels of *Gata4*, VEGFa, FGF and EPO were significantly decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with *NOS3^{+/+}* hearts, and were completely restored in the *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* hearts (*P*<0.05, Figure 2.6*A-D*). Treatment with ODQ, a soluble guanylyl cyclase inhibitor significantly decreased *Gata4* and Wt1 mRNA expression in the *NOS3^{+/+}* hearts (*P*<0.05, Figure 2.6*E-F*). Conversely, *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts treated with 8-Bromo-cGMP, a cGMP analog showed a significant increase in *Gata4* and Wt1 mRNA levels (*P*<0.05, Figure 2.6*G-H*). These data suggest that NOS3 regulates the expression of *Gata4* and Wt1 through a cGMP-dependent signaling pathway.



Figure 2.6 Myocardial mRNA expression of transcription and growth factors. (**A-D**) E12.5 hearts were collected and mRNA levels of *Gata4*, VEGFa, FGF and EPO were analyzed by real-time RT-PCR. The mRNA levels of *Gata4*, VEGFa, FGF and EPO were significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with *NOS3^{+/+}* mice, which were restored by cardiac specific *NOS3* overexpression in the *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* hearts. N=6-7 per group. * P<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. † P<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively.

(E-H) E12.5 *ex vivo* heart cultures were used to investigate NOS3 signaling. Cultured $NOS3^{+/+}$ and $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts were treated with 100 μ M ODQ, a soluble guanylate cyclase inhibitor, or 2 mM 8-Br-cGMP, a cGMP analog, for 6 hrs. ODQ decreased *Gata4* and Wt1 mRNA levels in $NOS3^{+/+}$ hearts while 8-Br-cGMP restored *Gata4* and Wt1 mRNA levels in $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts. N=3-4 heart cultures per group. * *P*<0.05 vs. controls.

2.4.5 Deficiency in NOS3 decreases epicardium-derived cells (EPDCs) migration.

EPDCs express Wt1 and their migration into the myocardium is essential to the formation of coronary arteries.^{13, 20} The number of Wt1⁺ epicardial cells was significantly decreased in NOS3^{-/-} compared to NOS3^{+/+} hearts at E12.5 (P<0.01, Figure 2.7A-B). In addition, myocardial Wt1 mRNA levels were also significantly decreased in NOS3-/compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice (P<0.01, Figure 2.7C). Decreased myocardial expression of Wt1 and number of Wt1⁺ epicardial cells were rescued in NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-} mice (P < 0.01, Figure 2.7A-C). To study the role of NOS3 in EPDCs migration, a co-culture system was employed (Figure 2.8A). EPDCs were isolated from E13 embryos overexpressing enhanced green fluorescence protein (eGFP). The cultured EPDCs were typical cobble stone shape and 100% positive for epicardin and Wt1. Cardiomyocytes was verified by αactinin staining (Figure 2.8*B*). $eGFP^+$ EPDCs were then co-cultured with either E13 $NOS3^{+/+}$ or $NOS3^{-/-}$ cardiomyocytes treated with adenoviral lacZ or adenoviral NOS3 for 72 hours. Our data showed migration of eGFP⁺ EPDCs was significantly decreased towards the $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared to the $NOS3^{+/+}$ cardiomyocytes (Figure 2.8*C-D*). However, EPDC migration was increased in cardiomyocytes treated with adenoviral NOS3 compared to adenoviral lacZ controls (Figure 2.8*C-D*). Finally, to assess EPDC migration and proliferation in the developing heart, ex vivo heart explants were employed. Our data showed *ex vivo* EPDC migration and proliferation were significantly decreased in the NOS3^{-/-} compared with NOS3^{+/+} hearts ($P \le 0.01$, Figure 2.8*E*-*F*).



Figure 2.7 Characterization and quantification of Wt1⁺ epicardial progenitor cells. (**A**) E12.5 hearts were immunostained for Wt1 and representative images from $NOS3^{+/+}$, $NOS3^{-/-}$, $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ and $NOS3^{Tg}$ hearts are shown. The majority of Wt1⁺ cells are in the epicardium with limited expression in the myocardium. Scale bar = 60 µm. (**B**) Quantitative analysis showed a significant reduction in Wt1⁺ epicardial cells in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ hearts, which was restored by cardiac specific NOS3 overexpression in the $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts. N=4-5.

(C) Wt1 mRNA levels were analyzed in E12.5 hearts by real time RT-PCR. Wt1 mRNA expression was significantly decreased in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ hearts, which was restored in $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts. N=6-7 per group. For B and C, *P<0.01 vs. $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, † P<0.01 vs. $NOS3^{-/-}$. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ and $NOS3^{Tg}$, respectively.



Figure 2.8 Migration of epicardium-derived cells (EPDCs). (A) EPDCs were isolated from E13 hearts and co-cultured with cardiomyocytes as shown. The number of EPDCs migrated towards the cardiomyocytes was determined. (B) A representative confocal tiled image of the EPDCs and cardiomyocyte co-culture. EPDCs (green) and cardiomyocytes were isolated from eGFP transgenic and C57BL6 wild-type mice, respectively. Cardiomyocytes were stained with cardiac α -actinin (red). (C) Quantitative analysis from (**D**) shows that EPDC migration was significantly decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared to $NOS3^{+/+}$ cardiomyocyte co-cultures, which was restored by adenoviral NOS3 treatment. N=3-5 per group. *P < 0.01 vs. $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice. †P < 0.01 vs. respective Ad-lacZ treated groups. (D) NOS3 expression in cardiomyocytes promoted EPDCs migration. Representative confocal tiled images of eGFP⁺ EPDCs co-cultured with NOS3^{+/+} and *NOS3^{-/-}* cardiomyocytes, which were treated lacZ or NOS3 adenoviral constructs. (E) Representative images of EPDC outgrowth of E12.5 $NOS3^{+/+}$ and $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts. Scale bar = $250 \,\mu\text{m}$. (F) Quantitative analysis shows that maximum EPDC migration distance was significantly decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ hearts. N=7-8, *P < 0.01 vs. *NOS3*^{+/+} heart. (G) Proposed signaling pathway of NOS3 on coronary artery development. NOS3 promotes the expression of Gata4 and Wt1 via cGMP-dependent mechanisms. The production of growth factors (VEGFa, FGF and EPO) by Gata4 and EPDCs migration by Wt1 contribute to the critical role of NOS3 on coronary artery development. Dash lines represent signalling pathways shown by others.

2.5 DISCUSSION

Growing evidence suggests that NO plays an important role in embryonic heart development. To this end, we and others have previously shown that lack of NOS3 results in congenital septal defects and bicuspid aortic valves in mice.²¹⁻²⁴ In addition, impaired capillary and microvessel development has been shown in the heart and lungs of $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice, respectively.^{16, 25} The present study was carried out to further examine the role of NOS3 in coronary artery development. We demonstrated for the first time that deficiency of NOS3 leads to hypoplastic coronary arteries. These results show that NOS3 plays a critical role in normal coronary artery development (Figure 2.8*G*). To rescue the coronary phenotype in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice, we generated a mouse with cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of NOS3 during embryonic development. The $NOS3^{Tg}$ mice had a normal cardiac and coronary artery phenotype. Importantly, cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of NOS3 completely rescued the abnormal coronary artery development, cardiac hypertrophy and postnatal survival in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. The data strongly suggest that normal coronary artery development is driven by local NO signaling from endothelial cells and/or cardiomyocytes within the developing heart.

Our data showed that deficiency in *NOS3* down-regulated the expression of *Gata4*, VEGFa, FGF and EPO in the embryonic heart. Additionally, Wt1, a transcription factor critical for EMT and coronary artery formation, was also down-regulated and the number of EPDCs was decreased in the *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts. Furthermore, lack of *NOS3* decreased EPDCs migration towards the cardiomyocytes. Flow dependent dilation and remodeling are important mechanisms in the regeneration of adult blood vessels.^{11, 15} However, initiation of embryonic coronary artery development relies more on *de novo* arterial

plexuses formation that are independent of blood flow. Eventually at around E14.5, arterial plexuses are connected and the connection of coronary artery to the aorta is made. After this point, flow dependent dilation and remodeling in the coronary artery are important in establishing further expansion of the vessels similar to adult blood vessel generation.^{11, 15} This process, however, is not NOS3 dependent.²⁶ Our results show that NOS3 promotes normal coronary artery development via increases in expression of transcription and growth factors, and EPDCs migration into the myocardium (see Figure 2.8*G*).

NOS3^{-/-} mice have a high rate of postnatal mortality. We have previously shown that within 10 days after birth, mortality was 85%, 38% and 13% for *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{+/-}* and WT mice, respectively.²¹ Most animals died within the first 3 days after birth. Consistent with our finding, Han *et al.* showed that 40% of *NOS3^{-/-}* offspring succumbed within the first hour of birth.²⁵ However, they did not monitor their animal survival beyond one hour of birth. In the present study, the mortality of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice was 73% in the first 4 days after birth, which is in agreement with the previous studies.^{21, 25} Additionally, we demonstrated a dose-dependent cardiac dysfunction at P1 with the loss of one or both NOS3 alleles.²¹ Interestingly, this gene dose-dependent response was also observed in the coronary artery formation of *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{+/-}* and *NOS3^{+/+}* mice at P0 in the present study. These data suggest that hypoplastic coronary arteries may contribute at least in part to postnatal cardiac dysfunction and mortality in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.

Hypoplastic coronary artery disease (HCAD) is often associated with myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death when the heart is stressed.⁷ In the present study, coronary artery malformation is accompanied by spontaneous myocardial infarction in

postnatal *NOS3*^{-/-} mice. Our study demonstrated that *NOS3* deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries, a condition that mirrors HCAD in humans. Interestingly, recent studies have shown that a common 894G>T single nucleotide polymorphism, which reduces NOS3 activity, is associated with up to 2.3 fold increased risk of congenital heart disease, especially conotruncal heart defects.²⁷ In addition, environmental factors and maternal conditions including psychological stress, hypertension and diabetes, which decrease NOS3 expression and/or activity, are associated with increased risks of congenital heart disease.²⁸⁻³⁰ Thus, it is possible that decreased NOS3 signaling may promote the development of congenital heart disease in patients with these environmental and maternal conditions. Although further studies are required to analyze NOS3 gene mutation in patients with HCAD, the present study suggests NOS3 is critical to coronary artery development and deficiency or mutation of NOS3 gene may lead to HCAD. Our study is the first to implicate NOS3 deficiency in the pathogenesis of HCAD and may help to design strategies in the diagnosis, prevention and treatment of HCAD in humans.

2.6 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Yamanaka O, Hobbs RE. Coronary artery anomalies in 126,595 patients undergoing coronary arteriography. *Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn*. 1990;21:28-40
- 2. Baltaxe HA, Wixson D. The incidence of congenital anomalies of the coronary arteries in the adult population. *Radiology*. 1977;122:47-52
- 3. Taylor AJ, Rogan KM, Virmani R. Sudden cardiac death associated with isolated congenital coronary artery anomalies. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1992;20:640-647
- 4. Amabile N, Fraisse A, Quilici J. Hypoplastic coronary artery disease: Report of one case. *Heart*. 2005;91:e12
- 5. Roberts WC, Glick BN. Congenital hypoplasia of both right and left circumflex coronary arteries. *Am J Cardiol*. 1992;70:121-123
- 6. Zugibe FT, Zugibe FT, Jr., Costello JT, Breithaupt MK. Hypoplastic coronary artery disease within the spectrum of sudden unexpected death in young and middle age adults. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol*. 1993;14:276-283
- 7. De Giorgio F, Abbate A, Stigliano E, Capelli A, Arena V. Hypoplastic coronary artery disease causing sudden death. Report of two cases and review of the literature. *Cardiovasc Pathol.* 2010;19:e107-111
- 8. Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: Physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* 1991;43:109-142
- Razavi HM, Hamilton JA, Feng Q. Modulation of apoptosis by nitric oxide: Implications in myocardial ischemia and heart failure. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2005;106:147-162
- 10. Bloch W, Fleischmann BK, Lorke DE, Andressen C, Hops B, Hescheler J, Addicks K. Nitric oxide synthase expression and role during cardiomyogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;43:675-684
- 11. Reese DE, Mikawa T, Bader DM. Development of the coronary vessel system. *Circ Res.* 2002;91:761-768
- 12. Crispino JD, Lodish MB, Thurberg BL, Litovsky SH, Collins T, Molkentin JD, Orkin SH. Proper coronary vascular development and heart morphogenesis depend on interaction of gata-4 with fog cofactors. *Genes Dev.* 2001;15:839-844
- Martinez-Estrada OM, Lettice LA, Essafi A, Guadix JA, Slight J, Velecela V, Hall E, Reichmann J, Devenney PS, Hohenstein P, Hosen N, Hill RE, Munoz-Chapuli R, Hastie ND. Wt1 is required for cardiovascular progenitor cell formation through transcriptional control of snail and E-cadherin. *Nat Genet*. 2010;42:89-93
- 14. van den Akker NM, Molin DG, Peters PP, Maas S, Wisse LJ, van Brempt R, van Munsteren CJ, Bartelings MM, Poelmann RE, Carmeliet P, Gittenberger-de Groot AC. Tetralogy of fallot and alterations in vascular endothelial growth factor-a signaling and notch signaling in mouse embryos solely expressing the vegf120 isoform. *Circ Res.* 2007;100:842-849
- 15. Tomanek RJ, Sandra A, Zheng W, Brock T, Bjercke RJ, Holifield JS. Vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor differentially modulate early postnatal coronary angiogenesis. *Circ Res.* 2001;88:1135-1141

- Zhao X, Lu X, Feng Q. Deficiency in endothelial nitric oxide synthase impairs myocardial angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2002;283:H2371-2378
- 17. Rindt H, Gulick J, Knotts S, Neumann J, Robbins J. In vivo analysis of the murine beta-myosin heavy chain gene promoter. *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268:5332-5338
- 18. Fishbein MC, Wang T, Matijasevic M, Hong L, Apple FS. Myocardial tissue troponins t and i. An immunohistochemical study in experimental models of myocardial ischemia. *Cardiovasc Pathol*. 2003;12:65-71
- 19. Ito T, Yamada S, Tamura T, Shiomi M. Discrimination of recent ischemic myocardial changes in whlmi rabbits from the findings of postmortem degeneration. *Exp Anim.* 2005;54:413-419
- 20. Mikawa T, Gourdie RG. Pericardial mesoderm generates a population of coronary smooth muscle cells migrating into the heart along with ingrowth of the epicardial organ. *Dev Biol.* 1996;174:221-232
- 21. Feng Q, Song W, Lu X, Hamilton JA, Lei M, Peng T, Yee SP. Development of heart failure and congenital septal defects in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2002;106:873-879
- 22. Nadeau M, Georges RO, Laforest B, Yamak A, Lefebvre C, Beauregard J, Paradis P, Bruneau BG, Andelfinger G, Nemer M. An endocardial pathway involving tbx5, gata4, and nos3 required for atrial septum formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2010;107:19356-19361
- 23. Lee TC, Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Stewart DJ. Abnormal aortic valve development in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2345-2348
- 24. Fernandez B, Duran AC, Fernandez-Gallego T, Fernandez MC, Such M, Arque JM, Sans-Coma V. Bicuspid aortic valves with different spatial orientations of the leaflets are distinct etiological entities. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009;54:2312-2318
- 25. Han RN, Babaei S, Robb M, Lee T, Ridsdale R, Ackerley C, Post M, Stewart DJ. Defective lung vascular development and fatal respiratory distress in endothelial no synthase-deficient mice: A model of alveolar capillary dysplasia? *Circ Res.* 2004;94:1115-1123
- 26. Huang A, Sun D, Shesely EG, Levee EM, Koller A, Kaley G. Neuronal NOSdependent dilation to flow in coronary arteries of male eNOS-knockout mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2002;282:H429-436
- van Beynum IM, Mooij C, Kapusta L, Heil S, den Heijer M, Blom HJ. Common 894g>t single nucleotide polymorphism in the gene coding for endothelial nitric oxide synthase (enos) and risk of congenital heart defects. *Clin Chem Lab Med*. 2008;46:1369-1375
- 28. Lisowski LA, Verheijen PM, Copel JA, Kleinman CS, Wassink S, Visser GH, Meijboom EJ. Congenital heart disease in pregnancies complicated by maternal diabetes mellitus. An international clinical collaboration, literature review, and meta-analysis. *Herz*. 2010;35:19-26
- 29. Andersen MR, Simonsen U, Uldbjerg N, Aalkjaer C, Stender S. Smoking cessation early in pregnancy and birth weight, length, head circumference, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity in umbilical and chorionic vessels: An

observational study of healthy singleton pregnancies. *Circulation*. 2009;119:857-864

30. Michel T, Vanhoutte PM. Cellular signaling and no production. *Pflugers Archiv*. 2010;459:807-816

3 CHAPTER **3**

Nitric Oxide Synthase-3 Promotes Embryonic Development of Atrioventricular Valves

A version of this chapter was published by *PLoS One. (2013) 8(10): e77611*: Yin Liu¹, Xiangru Lu³, Fu-Li Xiang¹, Man Lu⁴, and Qingping Feng^{1, 2,3}

¹Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, ²Department of Medicine, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada. ³Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario, Canada. ⁴Department of Ultrasound, Sichuan Academy of Medical Sciences, Sichuan Province People's Hospital, Chengdu, Sichuan, China.

"Nitric Oxide Synthase-3 Promotes Embryonic Development of Atrioventricular Valves"

3.1 CHAPTER SUMMARY

Aims: Nitric oxide synthase-3 (NOS3) has recently been shown to promote endothelialto-mesenchymal transition (EndMT) in the developing atrioventricular (AV) canal. The present study was aimed to investigate the role of NOS3 in embryonic development of AV valves. We hypothesized that NOS3 promotes embryonic development of AV valves via EndMT.

Methods and Results: To test this hypothesis, morphological and functional analysis of AV valves were performed in wild-type (WT) and $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice at postnatal day 0. Our data show that the overall size and length of mitral and tricuspid valves were decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with WT mice. Echocardiographic assessment showed significant regurgitation of mitral and tricuspid valves during systole in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. These phenotypes were all rescued by cardiac specific NOS3 overexpression. To assess EndMT, immunostaining of Snail1 was performed in the embryonic heart. Snail1 positive and total mesenchymal cells in the AV cushion were decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with WT mice at E10.5 and E12.5, which was completely restored by cardiac specific NOS3 overexpression. In cultured embryonic hearts, NOS3 promoted transforming growth factor (TGF β), bone morphogenetic protein (BMP2) and Snail1expression through cGMP. Furthermore, mesenchymal cell formation and migration from cultured AV cushion explants were decreased in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with WT mice.

Conclusion: NOS3 promotes AV valve formation during embryonic heart development and deficiency in NOS3 results in AV valve insufficiency.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Valvular heart disease is a significant health problem and contributes to more than 44,000 deaths in United States annually.¹ The causes of valvular heart disease include congenital malformation and rheumatic disease which is secondary to bacterial infection. Congenital valve disease affects about 2% of the general population.^{2, 3} The disease may manifest as valvular stenosis, an obstruction of outflow, or as regurgitation, a defective closure resulting in backward flow. Congenital valve malformations tend to cluster in families among both close and distant relatives, suggesting a genetic component of this disease.^{4, 5} However, molecular mechanisms responsible for congenital valve disease are still not fully understood.

Nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes convert L-arginine to L-citrulline and produce nitric oxide (NO), a signaling molecule involved in a wide range of physiological processes including apoptosis, angiogenesis, cell proliferation and differentiation.⁶⁻⁸ Three distinct isoforms of NOS has been identified: neuronal NOS (NOS1), inducible NOS (NOS2) and endothelial NOS (NOS3). The expression of NOS3 starts around E9.5 during early mouse embryonic heart development.⁹ This expression remains high until E13.5. By E14.5, the levels of NOS3 expression decrease in both atria and ventricles. After E19.5 low NOS3 levels are still detectable and this level of NOS3 expression in the myocardium remains into adulthood.⁹

The atrioventricular (AV) valve development starts at E9 with the formation of endocardial cushions. A subpopulation of endocardial cells of the endocardial cushion undergoes endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EndMT) and provides the primary cell source for the development of AV valves.¹⁰ Proliferation of the mesenchymal cells and

matrix deposition extend the cushions into the cardiac lumen and form primordia of each distinct valve. This is followed by elongation and remodeling of the valve primordia, which leads to the gradual formation of valves by E15.¹¹ The valves continue to grow and remodel throughout heart development and well after birth.¹²⁻¹⁴ EndMT is a crucial process for proper formation of AV valves.¹⁵ Transforming growth factor (TGFβ), bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-2, and Snail1 have been shown to promote EndMT and valve formation.¹⁶ We have shown that NOS3 is important for embryonic heart development.¹⁷ Deficiency in NOS3 leads to congenital septal defect, bicuspid aortic valves and coronary artery malformation.¹⁸⁻²⁰ In addition, Notch-dependent NOS3 activation has been shown to promote EndMT in the developing atrioventricular (AV) canal from E9 to E11.5 via activation of the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway.²¹ The temporal expression pattern of NOS3 peaks during AV valve formation along with its role in EndMT, suggesting that NOS3 may participate in the development of the AV valves. However, the role of NOS3 in the formation and functioning of AV valves has not been studied. In the present study, we hypothesized that NOS3 promotes embryonic development of AV valves via EndMT. To test this hypothesis, morphological changes and functional competence of AV valves were studied in wild-type (NOS3^{+/+}). NOS3^{-/-} and cardiac specific NOS3 overexpressing ($NOS3^{Tg}$) mice. Furthermore, the role of NOS3 in endocardial EndMT and signaling pathway critical to AV valve development was also examined. Our study demonstrated that NOS3 promotes endocardial EndMT and embryonic AV valve development.
3.3 METHODS

3.3.1 Animals

Breeding pairs of *NOS3^{-/-}* (stock No. 002684) and wild-type C57BL/6 (*NOS3^{+/+}*) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine). A breeding program was carried out to produce neonates. Genotyping of *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/+}* mice was performed by a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method using genomic DNA prepared from tail biopsies. A timed breeding program was carried out. Vaginal plugging was monitored in the morning of each day and when plugged, was considered 0.5 days into pregnancy. Embryonic hearts were collected at E10.5, E12.5, and postnatal day 0. The investigation conforms to the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* published by the National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication #85-23, revised 1996) and the experimental protocols were approved by Animal Use Subcommittee at Western University.

3.3.2 Generation of Human NOS3 Transgenic Mice

A new line of cardiac-specific mice overexpressing human isoforms of NOS3 $(NOS3^{Tg})$ was generated.²⁰ Briefly, human NOS3 complementary DNA was inserted into the β -myosin heavy chain promoter expression vector ²² to permit the expression of human NOS3 only during embryonic development and specifically in the heart. Our previous studies have shown that the transgene is specifically expressed in the heart during embryonic development.²⁰ Genotypes were identified by PCR using genomic DNA from tail biopsies.

3.3.3 General Tissue Processing

Neonatal *NOS3*^{+/+}, *NOS3*^{-/-}, *NOS3*^{Tg}/*NOS3*^{-/-} and *NOS3*^{Tg} mice were used for analysis. Hearts were isolated and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, dehydrated, and embedded in paraffin. Five micro-meter transverse serial sections were mounted onto albumin/glycerin coated glass slides.

3.3.4 Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence

Established protocols were used with minor modifications ^{18, 20, 23}. Briefly, after deparaffination and rehydration of the slides, microwave antigen retrieval was applied by heating them for 10 min at 98°C in a citric acid buffer (0.01 M in aqua-dest, pH 6.0). Inhibition of endogenous peroxidase was performed with a solution of 0.3% H₂O₂ in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 30 min. The slides were incubated overnight with either 1:500 anti-Snail1 (Abcam, USA). Next, the goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody conjugated with biotin (1:200, Vector Laboratories, USA) was added for 60 min in PBS. Subsequently, slides were incubated with ABC reagent (Vector Laboratories, USA) for 30 min. For visualization, the slides were incubated with 400 µg/ml 3-3'diaminobenzidin tetrahydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 100 µL of 30% H₂O₂ dissolved in PBS for 10-15 min. Counterstaining was performed with 0.1% hematoxylin. The size and length of AV valves were measured at the proximal (hinge) and distal aspects of the leaflets as described previously.²⁴

3.3.5 Three-Dimensional Reconstructions and Histological Analysis

Three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions of the heart and AV valves were performed using Masson's Trichrome stained serial sections of P1 hearts through the AMIRA® software (Template Graphics Software, USA) as previously described ²⁰. AV valve volumes were determined using the AMIRA® program.

3.3.6 Heart Function Measurements

Left ventricular (LV) and right ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were measured using the Vevo 2100 ultrasound imaging system (Visual Sonics, Canada).²⁰ Briefly, 2-dimensional images of the heart were obtained in short-axis view using a dynamically focused 40 MHz probe. The M-mode cursor was positioned perpendicular to the LV anterior and posterior walls. The LV internal end-diastolic dimension (LVIDd) and LV internal systolic dimension (LVIDs) were measured from M-mode recordings. LV ejection fraction was calculated as: EF (%) = [(LVIDd)³ - (LVIDs)³]/(LVIDd)³×100. Fractional shortening was calculated as: FS (%) = (LVIDd-LVIDs)/LVIDd×100. The M-mode measurements of the left ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were averaged from 3 cycles. Both left and right atrial areas were traced and calculated under the apical 4-chamber view in B-mode. AV valve E/A ratio, regurgitation and flow pattern were measured through both color flow Doppler recordings and pulsed-wave Doppler echocardiograms.²⁵

3.3.7 Ex vivo Heart Cultures

E12.5 WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts were explanted and cultured in M199 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) supplemented with 10% FBS as previous described.²⁰ Hearts were stabilized for 2 hours prior to any treatment. Both WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts were beating throughout the entirety of the experiment. WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts were treated with 100 μ M 1H-[1,2,4]oxadiazolo[4,3,-a]quinoxalin-1-one (ODQ) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 2 mM 8-Bromo-cGMP (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), respectively for 6 hours. Some WT and

NOS3^{-/-} hearts were treated with recombinant TGF β protein (10 ng/ml) for 18 hours. Hearts were then collected and mRNA levels of Snail1, TGF β and BMP2 were analyzed by real time RT-PCR.

3.3.8 Real-time RT-PCR

Standard protocol was used as previous described.^{7, 18, 20, 23} Briefly, total RNA was isolated from cultured fetal hearts with a RNA isolation kit (Qiagen, Canada). cDNA was synthesized using M-MLV (Invitrogen, Canada) reverse transcriptase and random primers (Invitrogen, Canada). Real-time PCR was conducted using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix as per manufacturer's instructions (Eurogentec, USA). The oligonucleotide primers used in this study are summarized in Online Supplementary Table 1. Samples were amplified for 35 cycles using Eppendorf Real-Time PCR machine and analyzed using cycle threshold (Ct) analysis. A ratio of target gene versus 28S rRNA was used to determine the relative expression of Snail1, BMP2 and TGFβ.²³

3.3.9 Measurement of cGMP

The cGMP levels in the heart were measured using an ELISA kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (ADI-900-014, Enzo Life Sciences, USA).²⁶ Neonatal *NOS3*^{+/+}, *NOS3*^{-/-}, *NOS3*^{Tg}/*NOS3*^{-/-} and *NOS3*^{Tg} hearts were used for analysis. Briefly, 10 µg of protein lysates from the isolated hearts and standards were added to the cGMP conjugated to alkaline phosphatase and an anti-cGMP antibody, and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. This incubation allows the antibody to bind the cGMP in the sample or conjugate in a competitive manner. After 3 washes, p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNpp) substrates were added and the plated and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. This incubation allows the catalysis of pNpp substrate by the alkaline

phosphatase on the cGMP conjugate. The reaction was then stopped by tri-sodium phosphate solution and the optical density was read at 405 nm. The amount of signal is indirectly proportional to the amount of cGMP in the sample.

3.3.10 Endocardial Cushion Explant Culture

Endocardial cushion explants were cultured accordingly to methods previously described with minor modifications.²⁷ Briefly, E10.5 *NOS3*^{+/+} and *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts were planted on a 35 mm petri dish coated with 1 mg/ml collagen type I gel overnight for attachment. After attachment, the hearts were treated with 100 μ l of M199 supplemented with 10% FBS and allowed 2 days for EndMT to occur. After 2 days, these hearts were imaged under phase contrast microscopy (Observer D1, Zeiss, Germany). The number of spindle-like mesenchymal cells was counted.

3.3.11 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Survival curves were created by the method of Kaplan and Meier and compared by log-rank test. Unpaired Student's *t* test was used for 2 group comparisons. One way ANOVA followed by Student-Newman-Keuls test was performed for multi-group comparisons. *P*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Deficiency in *NOS3* impairs AV valve formation

Trichrome staining of mitral and tricuspid valves in *NOS3*^{+/+}, *NOS3*^{-/-}, *NOS3*^{Tg} and *NOS3*^{Tg};*NOS3*^{-/-} mice at P0 is shown in Figure 3.1A-J. In *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts, AV valves were much smaller than those of other genotypes. The size of proximal (hinge) and distal

aspects of the valve leaflets was measured as illustrated in Figure 3.1M. Quantitative analysis of mitral and tricuspid valves show that the size (thickness) and length of the proximal and distal leaflets were significantly smaller in the *NOS3*^{-/-} compared with *NOS3*^{+/+} hearts (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.1E-L, 3.2F, 3.3F). Cardiomyocyte-specific *NOS3* overexpression (*NOS3*^{Tg};*NOS3*^{-/-}) completely rescued these defects in the *NOS3*^{-/-} mice (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.1D- F, 3.1J-L, 3.2F, 3.3F). To investigate whether the valvular defect in the *NOS3*^{-/-} animals is due to premature maturation, cell density in the valves was measured.¹²⁻¹⁴ Our data showed that there was no significant difference in cell density in mitral and tricuspid valves among all groups at P0 (Figure 3.2G and 3.3G). Furthermore, the decrease in valve length was evident as early as E15.5 in both mitral and tricuspid valves (Figure 3.4A-B). These data supports a developmental defect rather than premature maturation of the AV valves in *NOS3*^{-/-} mice.

The volume of the mitral and tricuspid valves was determined through 3D reconstructions (Suppl. Figure 3.2A-E and 3.3A-E). The normal mitral valve of $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice had 2 distinct leaflets. However, the overall volume of the mitral valve was significantly smaller in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, which was restored by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression in the $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice (P<0.01, Figure 3.2A-E). The tricuspid valve of $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice had 3 distinct leaflets. Similar to the findings in the mitral valve, the overall volume of tricuspid valve was significantly decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, which was completely rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression in the $NOS3^{Tg}$; $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice (P<0.01, Figure 3.3A-E).



Figure 3.1 Malformation of mitral and tricuspid valves in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice, which are rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression (*NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}*). Representative tissue sections with Masson's Trichrome staining of mitral (**A-D**) and tricuspid (**G-J**) valves in WT, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}* and *NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}* mice at P0. (**E and F**) Quantification of mitral valve size. (**K and L**) Quantification of tricuspid valve size. Anterior and posterior leaflets represent the valve leaflet closer to the septum and ventricular free wall, respectively. (**M**) Valve size was measured at the proximal (hinge) and distal aspects of the leaflets. White arrows represent proximal and distal measurements. Black arrow points to the hinge of the valve. Scale bar = 60 µm. Data are mean ± SEM from 5-8 mice per group. **P*<0.05 vs. WT (*NOS3^{+/+}*), †*P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.

Mitral Valve





Figure 3.2 Three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions of mitral valve of WT, *NOS3^{-/-}*,

NOS3^{Tg} and *NOS3*^{Tg};*NOS3*^{-/-} mice at P0 (**A-D**). 3D reconstructions were made by putting together images taken from approximately 100 serial heart sections at 5 μ m using Amira software. Valve locations in the heart are shown. Whole heart images are frontal views of the heart. Isolated valve images are viewed from the left atrium into the left ventricle. **E**. Quantitative analysis of mitral valve volume. Data are mean ± SEM from 5 mice per group. **F**. Quantification of mitral valve length in P0 hearts. **G**. Quantification of mitral valve cell density in P0 hearts. **P*<0.01 vs. WT. †*P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3*^{-/-} mice. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate NOS^{Tg};*NOS3*^{-/-} and *NOS3*^{Tg}, respectively.



Figure 3.3 3D reconstructions of tricuspid valve of WT, *NOS3^{-/-}*, *NOS3^{Tg}* and

 $NOS3^{Tg};NOS3^{-/-}$ mice at P0 (**A-D**). 3D reconstructions were made by putting together images taken from approximately 100 serial heart sections at 5µm using Amira software. Valve locations in the heart are shown. Whole heart images are frontal views of the heart. Isolated valve images are viewed from the right atrium into the right ventricle. **E**. Quantitative analysis of tricuspid valve volume. **F**. Quantification of tricuspid valve length in P0 hearts. **G**. Quantification of tricuspid valve cell density in P0 hearts. Data are mean ± SEM from 5 mice per group. **P*<0.01 vs. WT. †*P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{-/-* mice. Tg;-/and Tg;+/+ indicate NOS^{Tg};*NOS3^{-/-* and *NOS3*^{Tg}, respectively. Α



В

E15.5 Tricuspid Valve



Figure 3.4 Mitral and tricuspid valve length measurements at E15.5. **A**. Length of anterior and posterior leaflets of the mitral valve. **B**. Length of anterior and posterior leaflets of the tricuspid valve. Data are mean \pm SEM from 5 mice per group. **P*<0.05 vs. WT. †*P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate *NOS3^{Tg}*;*NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively.

3.4.2 Regurgitation of AV valves in NOS3^{-/-} mice

In order to investigate the functional significance of AV malformation in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice, echocardiographic imaging analysis was performed on $NOS3^{+/+}$, $NOS3^{-/-}$, NOS3Tg and $NOS3Tg;NOS3^{-/-}$ mice at P0 live animals. Color flow Doppler recordings showed backflow of mitral (Figure 3.5A) and tricuspid (Figure 3.6A) valves in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. Using pulsed-wave Doppler, the backflow velocity and duration were quantified. The velocity and duration of backflow in mitral (Figure 3.5C-D) and tricuspid valves (Figure 3.6C-D) were significantly increased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice (P<0.05). Cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression completely rescued these abnormalities in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ animals (Figure 3.5A-D, 3.6A-D).

AV valve regurgitation could potentially result in lowered cardiac function. To this end, ejection fraction and fractional shortening were determined. Our data showed that ejection fraction and fractional shortening of both left and right ventricles were significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with *NOS3^{+/+}* mice (P<0.05, Figure 3.7A-D). Cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice restored ejection fraction and fractional shortening in both left and right ventricles to levels comparable to the *NOS3^{+/+}* mice. Additionally, we assessed the E/A ratio of the AV valves, which represents diastolic function or the ability of the blood to flow from the atria to the ventricles. E represents the passive filling of blood from atria to ventricles, whereas A represents the active contraction of the atria that pumps blood to the ventricles. Our results showed that no significant difference was observed between all groups in E/A ratios or the ability of the blood to flow from the atria to the ventricles or the ability of the blood to flow from the atria to the ventricles. Let a solve the blood to flow from the atria to the ventricles. Our results showed that no significant difference was observed between all groups in E/A ratios or the ability of the blood to flow from the atria to the ventricles (Figure 3.7E-F). Lastly, as a consequence of AV valve regurgitation, the size of atria would increase due

to the backward flow from the ventricles. As expected, the size of both left and right atrium was significantly increased in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ mice, which was restored in $NOS3Tg;NOS3^{-/-}$ mice at P0 (P<0.05, Figure 3.7G-H).



Figure 3.5 Regurgitation of mitral valve in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at P0. Backflow of mitral valves was determined by color (**A**) and pulsed-wave (**B**) Doppler echocardiography. Backflow during systole is indicated by arrows. WT mice had no backflow in mitral valves. However, *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed significant mitral valve backflow. (**C-D**) Quantification of mitral valve regurgitation. Significant regurgitation was observed in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice, which were rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression. Data are mean \pm SEM from 6-7 mice per group. **P*<0.01 vs. all other groups. +/+, WT; -/-, knockout; Tg, transgenic. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate NOS^{Tg};*NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively.



Figure 3.6 Regurgitation of tricuspid valve in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at P0. Backflow of tricuspid valves was determined by color (**A**) and pulsed-wave (**B**) Doppler echocardiography. Backflow during systole is indicated by arrows. WT mice had minor backflow in tricuspid valves. However, *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed marked tricuspid valve backflow. (**C-D**) Quantification of tricuspid valve regurgitation. Significant regurgitation was observed in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice, which were rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression. Data are mean ± SEM from 6-7 mice per group. **P*<0.01 vs. WT (*NOS3^{+/+}*), †*P*<0.01 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}*. +/+, WT; -/-, knockout; Tg, transgenic. Tg;-/- and Tg;+/+ indicate NOS^{Tg};*NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively.



Figure 3.7 Cardiac function determined using echocardiography at P0. (**A-D**) Both left and right ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were significantly decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls, which were rescued by cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression. (**E-F**) E/A ratio showed no significant difference between all groups. (**G-H**) Left and right atrial size was significantly increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls, which was rescued by cardiomyocytespecific NOS3 overexpression. Data are mean ± SEM from 6-7 mice per group. **P*<0.05 vs. WT (*NOS3^{+/+}*), †*P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}*. +/+, WT; -/-, knockout; Tg, transgenic. Tg;-/and Tg;+/+ indicate NOS^{Tg};*NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{Tg}*, respectively.

3.4.3 Snail1⁺ and total mesenchymal cells are decreased in the endocardial cushion of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice

Snail1 is a zinc finger transcriptional repressor, which inhibits adhesion molecule E-cadherin expression and induces EndMT during embryonic development.^{28, 29} Therefore, Snail1 is an excellent marker of mesenchymal cells in the AV cushion. To further elucidate the role of NOS3 in early AV valve formation, immunostaining of Snail1 was performed and Snail1⁺ mesenchymal cells were quantified at E10.5 and E12.5. Our data showed that while there were no significant changes in the overall size and volume of the AV endocardial cushion at E10.5 and E12.5 (Figure 3.8D, G), the number of Snail1 positive mesenchymal cells (brown staining in histology) and total number of mesenchymal cells within the endocardial cushion were significantly decreased in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ compared with $NOS3^{+/+}$ hearts at E10.5 and E12.5 (P<0.05, Figure 3.8A-C, E, F). Since reduction of mesenchymal cells in NOS3^{-/-} hearts was seen at both E10.5 and E12.5, the rest of the analysis was done in E12.5 hearts. Three-dimensional reconstruction of Snail1 expression (labeled in red) in the NOS3^{+/+} mice showed Snail1 completely covered the outer part of the endocardial cushion, which represents cells that are actively undergoing EndMT (Figure 3.8A). However, in the NOS3^{-/-} mice, only limited parts of the endocardial cushion were Snail1 positive, indicating the EndMT process is impaired in the NOS3^{-/-} mice. The number of Snail1 positive and total mesenchymal cells was completely restored by cardiac specific NOS3 overexpression (P<0.05, Figure 3.8A-C, E, F).



Figure 3.8 EndMT is impaired in the AV cushion of *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts at E12.5. (**A**) 3D reconstructions (Left and middle columns, Red for Snail1⁺ cells; Grey for cushion) and representative Snail1 immunostaining (Right column, Brown staining indicates Snail1⁺ cells). Scale bar = 50 μ m. (**B**) Quantification of Snail⁺ mesenchymal cell volume from 3D reconstructed AV cushions. (**C**) Total number of mesenchymal cells from E12.5 cushions was quantified. (**D**) Quantification of endocardial cushion size at E12.5 from 3D reconstructions. (**E**) Quantification of Snail1⁺ endocardial cushion mesenchymal cells at E10.5 from 3D reconstructions. (**F**) Quantification of total endocardial cushion mesenchymal cells at E10.5 from 3D reconstructions. (**F**) Quantification of endocardial cushion size at E10.5 from 3D reconstructions. N= 3-4 mice per group. **P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}* or WT control. †*P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* or *NOS3^{-/-}* control.

3.4.4 cGMP signaling is decreased in NOS3^{-/-} hearts

cGMP, a downstream signaling molecule of NOS3, was significantly decreased in the *NOS3*^{-/-} compared with *NOS3*^{+/+} hearts at P0 (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.9A). Cardiac specific NOS3 overexpression in *NOS3*^{-/-} mice increased myocardial cGMP to similar levels of *NOS3*^{+/+} mice (Figure 3.9A). To elucidate the precise role of NOS3 in regulating Snail1 expression, *ex vivo* E12.5 heart cultures were employed. The TGF β and BMP family proteins are critical to AV valve development.^{15, 16} Treatment with ODQ, a soluble guanylyl cyclase inhibitor significantly decreased TGF β 1, BMP2 and Snail1 mRNA expression in the WT hearts (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.9B-D). Conversely, *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts treated with 8-Bromo-cGMP, a cGMP analog showed a significant increase in TGF β 1, BMP2 and Snail1 mRNA levels (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.9B-D). These data suggest that NOS3 regulates the expression of TGF β 1, BMP2 and Snail1 through a cGMP-dependent pathway. To investigate if TGF β regulates Snail1 signalling, recombinant TGF β is used to treat WT and *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts. Our data showed that recombinant TGF β protein treatment significantly increased Snail1 expression in both WT and *NOS3*^{-/-} hearts (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.9E).



Figure 3.9 cGMP regulates expression of Snail1, TGFβ and BMP2 in E12.5 hearts. (**A**) cGMP levels in P0 hearts. (**B-D**) E12.5 *ex vivo* heart cultures. Cultured WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts were treated with ODQ (100 μ M), a soluble guanylate cyclase inhibitor, or 8-Br-cGMP (2 mM), a cGMP analog for 6 hrs. Snail1, TGFβ and BMP2 mRNA levels were determined by real-time RT-PCR. (**E**) E12.5 *ex vivo* heart cultures from WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice were treated with recombinant TGFβ protein (10 ng/ml). TGFβ mRNA levels were determined by real-time RT-PCR. N=6 hearts per group for C-G. **P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{+/+}* or WT control. †*P*<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* or *NOS3^{-/-}* control.

3.4.5 EndMT is impaired in *NOS3^{-/-}* endocardial cushions

To further confirm the role of NOS3 in endocardial EndMT, endocardial cushions from E10.5 embryos were dissected and cultured on collagen type I gel. Collagen type I gel was chosen to simulate the *in vivo* conditions of the cardiac jelly, which the mesenchymal cells migrate into. After 2 days of culture, cells that underwent EndMT exhibited spindle-like morphology and migrated from the endocardial cushion into the collagen gel. Results showed the total number of mesenchymal cells was significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared to *NOS3^{+/+}* explants (*P*<0.05, Figure 3.10A-B), suggesting NOS3 promotes endocardial EndMT.







Figure 3.10 Atrioventricular (AV) endocardial cushion explant culture from E10.5 *NOS3^{-/-}* and WT mice. (**A**) Spindle shaped mesenchymal cells (arrows) were formed after 24 hours of culture. Lower panel is an enlargement of the boxed area. (**B**) The total number of mesenchymal cells per mm of explant cushion tissue was significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared to WT explants. Data are mean \pm SEM from 6 explants per group. **P*<0.05 vs. WT. Black scale bar = 100 µm, white scale bar = 10 µm. (**C**) Proposed signaling pathway by which NOS3 promotes endocardial EndMT and AV valve development. Dash lines represent signalling pathways shown by others.

3.5 DISCUSSION

The present study was carried out to examine the role of NOS3 in AV valve formation. We demonstrated for the first time that deficiency in NOS3 leads congenital AV valve defects. Additionally, lack of *NOS3* also impairs endocardial EndMT. Furthermore, we showed that cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression mice completely rescued these defects in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. In order to assess the functional significance of these defects, echocardiography was carried out on P0 live animals. Our data showed severe regurgitation of both mitral and tricuspid valves in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. This phenotype was accompanied by reduced ejection fraction and fractional shortening and increased atrial size. Moreover, cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression completely rescued these phenotypes. Our study suggests that NOS3 promotes endocardial EndMT and embryonic development of AV valves (Figure 3.10C).

The main function of AV valves is to prevent blood form flowing backwards from the ventricles to the atria during systole. Clinically, AV valve regurgitation can present in various forms depending on etiology and severity.²⁹ In the case of acute AV valve regurgitation, heart failure and cardiogenic shock may occur leading to death as a result of backflow from the ventricles and volume overload.^{30, 31} Severe AV valve regurgitation, decreased heart dysfunction and increased in atrial size were observed in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. These phenotypes highly resemble congenital AV valve insufficiency, a clinical condition with infants born with shortened or a complete lack of AV valves.^{32, 33} However, it is possible that that mitral valve prolapse may also play a role in AV valve regurgitation seen in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. *NOS3^{-/-}* mice have coronary artery malformation which could lead to cardiac ischemia and papillary muscle dysfunction.²⁰ This could

cause AV valve regurgitation. Although we cannot eliminate the possibility of mitral valve prolapse, we saw AV valve regurgitation accompanied by a phenotypic change of the AV valve structure. Therefore, our data support the notion that AV valve regurgitation is likely a result of AV valve insufficiency. Mitral valve insufficiency is often associated with other cardiac defects such as atrial septal defects (ASD), ventricular septal defects (VSD), aortic valve insufficiency and tricuspid valve insufficiency.³⁴ Tricuspid valve insufficiency, also known as tricuspid valve regurgitation, is also associated with congenital cardiac defects such as VSD and mitral valve regurgitation.³² These accompanying cardiac defects are very similar to phenotypes seen in the *NOS3*-⁽⁻⁾ mice providing an excellent animal model to study AV insufficiency.^{18, 19} Clinically, AV valve insufficiency is a serious congenital heart disease with very limited options other than invasive open-chest surgery. The molecular mechanisms underlying this disease are still largely unknown. The present study on the role of NOS3 in AV valve formation provides a possible mechanistic explanation to AV valve insufficiency.

Snail1, a zinc finger transcriptional repressor, is critical to induction of EndMT during embryonic development.²⁸ Snail1 knockout mice have defects in mesoderm formation and die around E7.5.³⁵ In addition, deletion of Snai1 specifically in the epiblast results in death by E9.5 due to multiple vascular defects and increased apoptosis.³⁶ To investigate the role of NOS3 in early AV valve formation, *in vivo* Snail1 expression and *ex vivo* endocardial EndMT were assessed. Our results showed the number of Snail1 positive mesenchymal cells and total number of endocardial cushion mesenchymal cells were significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with *NOS3^{+/+}* hearts at E10.5 and E12.5 (Figure 3.5). In addition, the total number of mesenchymal cells from E10.5

endocardial cushion cultures was significantly decreased in *NOS3^{-/-}* explants (Figure 3.7A, B). These data show a reduction of endocardial EndMT in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice leading to malformation of mitral and tricuspid valves.

TGF β is expressed at high levels in AV mesenchyme during cushion formation and the critical to EndMT and AV valve development.³⁷ Blockade of TGFβ2 by neutralizing antibody inhibits EndMT in mouse heart explants and TGF^β2 knockout mice show valvular defects.^{27, 38} BMP2 is also important for AV cushion EndMT. Nkx2.5 mediated deletion of BMP2 reduced AV cushion formation and cellularity.³⁹ A classic pathway by which NO mediates its biological function is through cGMP-dependent protein kinase G (PKG) signaling.⁴⁰ In this regard, NO has been shown to upregulate TGFβ1 and BMP2 via PKG dependent pathway.⁴¹⁻⁴³ In order to study the molecular mechanism by which NOS3 promotes endocardial EndMT and AV valve development, ex vivo E12.5 heart cultures were carried out to investigate the role of NO/cGMP signaling in the expression of TGFβ1, BMP2 and Snail1. We showed that inhibition of guanylate cyclase decreased TGF β 1, BMP2 and Snail1 expression in the WT hearts while treatment with 8-Bromo-cGMP increased TGFB, BMP2 and Snail1 mRNA levels in the *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts. These findings indicate that NOS3 acts as an upstream regulator of TGFβ1, BMP2 and Snail1 through a cGMP-dependent pathway. Notably, TGFβ1 and BMP are able to induce Snail1expression.^{15, 16} To this end, we showed that recombinant TGFβ treatment significantly increased Snail1 expression in both WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts. Taken together, our data suggest that cGMP production from NOS3 upregulates TGF^β and BMP2, and promotes Snail1 expression and EndMT, leading to normal AV valve development (Figure 3.10C).

In summary, endocardial EndMT, an important process required for

valvulogenesis is impaired in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at E10.5 and E12.5, leading to malformation, insufficiency and regurgitation of AV valves at P0. We anticipate that these new insights into the mechanisms of AV valve development may lead to therapeutic strategies in the prevention and possibly treatment of AV valve insufficiency.

3.6 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Adams RJ, Berry JD, Brown TM, *et al.* Heart disease and stroke statistics--2011 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2011;123:e18-e209
- 2. Siu SC, Silversides CK. Bicuspid aortic valve disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;55:2789-2800
- 3. Hinton RB, Yutzey KE. Heart valve structure and function in development and disease. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 2011;73:29-46
- 4. Horne BD, Camp NJ, Muhlestein JB, Cannon-Albright LA. Evidence for a heritable component in death resulting from aortic and mitral valve diseases. *Circulation*. 2004;110:3143-3148
- 5. Glick BN, Roberts WC. Congenitally bicuspid aortic valve in multiple family members. *Am J Cardiol*. 1994;73:400-404
- 6. Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: Physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* 1991;43:109-142
- 7. Hammoud L, Xiang F, Lu X, Brunner F, Leco K, Feng Q. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase promotes neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation by inhibiting tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 expression. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2007;75:359-368
- 8. Razavi HM, Hamilton JA, Feng Q. Modulation of apoptosis by nitric oxide: Implications in myocardial ischemia and heart failure. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2005;106:147-162
- 9. Bloch W, Fleischmann BK, Lorke DE, Andressen C, Hops B, Hescheler J, *et al.* Nitric oxide synthase expression and role during cardiomyogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;43:675-684
- 10. de Lange FJ, Moorman AF, Anderson RH, Manner J, Soufan AT, de Gier-de Vries C, *et al.* Lineage and morphogenetic analysis of the cardiac valves. *Circ Res.* 2004;95:645-654
- 11. Butcher JT, Markwald RR. Valvulogenesis: The moving target. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B.* 2007;362:1489-1503
- 12. Aikawa E, Whittaker P, Farber M, Mendelson K, Padera RF, Aikawa M, *et al.* Human semilunar cardiac valve remodeling by activated cells from fetus to adult: Implications for postnatal adaptation, pathology, and tissue engineering. *Circulation.* 2006;113:1344-1352
- 13. Hinton RB, Jr., Lincoln J, Deutsch GH, Osinska H, Manning PB, Benson DW, *et al.* Extracellular matrix remodeling and organization in developing and diseased aortic valves. *Circ Res.* 2006;98:1431-1438
- 14. Kruithof BP, Krawitz SA, Gaussin V. Atrioventricular valve development during late embryonic and postnatal stages involves condensation and extracellular matrix remodeling. *Dev Biol*. 2007;302:208-217
- 15. Yamagishi T, Ando K, Nakamura H. Roles of tgfbeta and bmp during valvuloseptal endocardial cushion formation. *Anat Sci Int.* 2009;84:77-87
- 16. von Gise A, Pu WT. Endocardial and epicardial epithelial to mesenchymal transitions in heart development and disease. *Circ Res.* 2012;110:1628-1645
- 17. Liu Y, Feng Q. Noing the heart: Role of nitric oxide synthase-3 in heart development. *Differentiation*. 2012;84:54-61
- 18. Feng Q, Song W, Lu X, Hamilton JA, Lei M, Peng T, *et al.* Development of heart failure and congenital septal defects in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2002;106:873-879
- 19. Lee TC, Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Stewart DJ. Abnormal aortic valve development in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2345-2348
- 20. Liu Y, Lu X, Xiang FL, Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Robbins J, *et al*. Nitric oxide synthase-3 deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries and postnatal myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J.* 2014, 35(14): 920-31.
- 21. Chang AC, Fu Y, Garside VC, Niessen K, Chang L, Fuller M, *et al.* Notch initiates the endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in the atrioventricular canal through autocrine activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase. *Dev Cell.* 2011;21:288-300
- 22. Rindt H, Gulick J, Knotts S, Neumann J, Robbins J. In vivo analysis of the murine beta-myosin heavy chain gene promoter. *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268:5332-5338
- Xiang FL, Lu X, Hammoud L, Zhu P, Chidiac P, Robbins J, et al. Cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of human stem cell factor improves cardiac function and survival after myocardial infarction in mice. *Circulation*. 2009;120:1065-1074, 1069 p following 1074
- 24. Hinton RB, Jr., Alfieri CM, Witt SA, Glascock BJ, Khoury PR, Benson DW, *et al.* Mouse heart valve structure and function: Echocardiographic and morphometric analyses from the fetus through the aged adult. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2008;294:H2480-2488
- 25. Kokubo H, Miyagawa-Tomita S, Tomimatsu H, Nakashima Y, Nakazawa M, Saga Y, *et al.* Targeted disruption of hesr2 results in atrioventricular valve anomalies that lead to heart dysfunction. *Circ Res.* 2004;95:540-547
- 26. Galley HF, Le Cras AE, Logan SD, Webster NR. Differential nitric oxide synthase activity, cofactor availability and cgmp accumulation in the central nervous system during anaesthesia. *Br J Anaesth*. 2001;86:388-394
- Camenisch TD, Molin DG, Person A, Runyan RB, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, McDonald JA, *et al.* Temporal and distinct tgfbeta ligand requirements during mouse and avian endocardial cushion morphogenesis. *Dev Biol.* 2002;248:170-181
- 28. Foubert E, De Craene B, Berx G. Key signalling nodes in mammary gland development and cancer. The snail1-twist1 conspiracy in malignant breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010;12:206
- 29. Anyanwu AC, Adams DH. Functional tricuspid regurgitation in mitral valve disease: Epidemiology and prognostic implications. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2010;22:69-75
- 30. Mokadam NA, Stout KK, Verrier ED. Management of acute regurgitation in leftsided cardiac valves. *Tex Heart Inst J.* 2011;38:9-19
- 31. Stout KK, Verrier ED. Acute valvular regurgitation. *Circulation*. 2009;119:3232-3241
- 32. Gupta A, Grover V, Gupta VK. Congenital tricuspid regurgitation: Review and a proposed new classification. *Cardiol Young*. 2011;21:121-129

- 33. Seguela PE, Houyel L, Acar P. Congenital malformations of the mitral valve. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis.* 2011;104:465-479
- Chauvaud S, Fuzellier JF, Houel R, Berrebi A, Mihaileanu S, Carpentier A. Reconstructive surgery in congenital mitral valve insufficiency (carpentier's techniques): Long-term results. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1998;115:84-92; 92-83
- 35. Carver EA, Jiang R, Lan Y, Oram KF, Gridley T. The mouse snail gene encodes a key regulator of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2001;21:8184-8188
- 36. Murray SA, Gridley T. Snail family genes are required for left-right asymmetry determination, but not neural crest formation, in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006;103:10300-10304
- 37. Sugi Y, Yamamura H, Okagawa H, Markwald RR. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 can mediate myocardial regulation of atrioventricular cushion mesenchymal cell formation in mice. *Dev Biol*. 2004;269:505-518
- 38. Bartram U, Molin DG, Wisse LJ, Mohamad A, Sanford LP, Doetschman T, *et al.* Double-outlet right ventricle and overriding tricuspid valve reflect disturbances of looping, myocardialization, endocardial cushion differentiation, and apoptosis in tgf-beta(2)-knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2001;103:2745-2752
- 39. Rivera-Feliciano J, Tabin CJ. Bmp2 instructs cardiac progenitors to form the heart-valve-inducing field. *Dev Biol*. 2006;295:580-588
- 40. Malan D, Ji GJ, Schmidt A, Addicks K, Hescheler J, Levi RC, *et al.* Nitric oxide, a key signaling molecule in the murine early embryonic heart. *FASEB J*. 2004;18:1108-1110
- 41. Akool el S, Doller A, Muller R, Gutwein P, Xin C, Huwiler A, *et al.* Nitric oxide induces timp-1 expression by activating the transforming growth factor beta-smad signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280:39403-39416
- 42. Metukuri MR, Namas R, Gladstone C, Clermont T, Jefferson B, Barclay D, *et al.* Activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta1 by nitric oxide in macrophages: Role of soluble guanylate cyclase and map kinases. *Wound Repair Regen.* 2009;17:578-588
- 43. Schwappacher R, Diep T, Boss G, Pilz R. Cgmp and pkgi are required for vascular bmp signaling. *BMC Pharmacol.* 2011;11:65

4 CHAPTER 4

Nitric oxide synthase 3 protects the aortic valve from thrombosis and calcification

Yin Liu¹, Fu-Li Xiang¹, Xiangru Lu¹ and Qingping Feng¹

¹Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Western University, London, Ontario, Canada. Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario, Canada. "Nitric oxide synthase 3 protects the aortic valve from thrombosis and calcification"

4.1 CHAPTER SUMMARY

Aims: Spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis is an extremely rare event but its underlying mechanisms are still largely unknown. NO produced from NOS3 maintains endothelial cell integrity and inhibits platelet aggregation. We aimed to study the role of NOS3 in maintaining normal function and morphology of the aortic valve in adult life and aging. We hypothesized that deficiency in NOS3 leads to spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis, calcification and dysfunction in aging mice.

Methods and Results: At 12 months old, 72% (13/18) of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis compared with WT mice (0/12). When platelets were incubated with explanted aortic valves, platelet adhesion and aggregation to the *NOS3^{-/-}* valves were significantly higher compared with the WT controls. Additionally, significant regurgitation of the aortic valve during systole was observed using echocardiography in the *NOS3^{-/-}* but not in WT mice. Furthermore, *NOS3* deficiency resulted in significant aortic valve stenosis, calcification and fibrosis. In *ex-vivo* aortic valve interstitial cell cultures, inhibition of NOS by L-NAME increased calcification in WT valves. In contrast, NO donor DETA-NO significantly inhibited calcification in *NOS3^{-/-}* valves.

Conclusion: Deficiency of *NOS3* results in spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis, calcification and stenosis. Our study suggests that NOS3 is pivotal in maintaining the normal structure and function of the aortic valve in adulthood and aging.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

Valvular heart disease (VHD) affects over 2.5% of the general population. This number dramatically increases to more than 13.3% of individuals over the age of 75.^{1, 2} Over the next 25 years, world population statistics project that there will be a doubling of population in individuals between the age of 75 to 84.¹ By this projection, individuals over the age of 75 affected by VHD will double in the next 25 years. VHD can present in many forms, one of which is the formation of a thrombus on the aortic valve.^{3, 4} The spontaneous formation of a thrombus on the aortic valve is extremely rare in humans with only less than a dozen of case reports in the literature.³⁻¹² Although most of the cases were patients with tricuspid aortic valves, one case showed spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis was a result of calcific bicuspid aortic valve.⁵ However, aortic valve thrombosis is extremely dangerous, as it could lead to embolization, and subsequent cerebrovascular events such as stroke, myocardial infarction and death.^{3, 5-7, 11} Thrombosis is formed via adhesion and aggregation of platelets at the site of tissue injury followed by fibrin clot formation. Many factors have been identified to be important inhibitors of platelet activation and aggregation, such as apyrase, prostaglandin I_2 and nitric oxide (NO).^{13, 14} In addition, thrombosis formation can also be inhibited via inhibitors of coagulation cascade such as thrombomodulin, tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) and anti-thrombin III.^{15, 16} To our knowledge, spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis has never been studied in an animal model.

Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS3) belong to a family of enzymes known as nitric oxide synthases (NOS). NOS catalyze the reaction of L-arginine and NADPH producing NO. NO is a fast acting gaseous signaling molecule that is involved in many

physiological processes including apoptosis, angiogenesis, cell proliferation and differentiation.^{17-19 20} NOS3 is important in maintaining normal cardiovascular function including vasodilation, inhibition of inflammation and vascular smooth muscle proliferation, stimulation of angiogenesis and recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells.²¹ In pathophysiology, NOS3 polymorphism is associated with increased risk for cardiovascular disease, increased incidence of congenital heart disease, hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, diabetes and atherosclerosis.²¹

Spontaneous thrombosis of aortic valve can be seen in patients with hypercoagulative state such as polycythemia or systemic lupus erythematosus with anticardiolipin antibodies.^{22, 23} In addition, excessive valvular damage such as in the case of calcific aortic valve stenosis (CAVS) may induce thrombosis.^{5, 11} CAVS is the most common valvular disease.¹ CAVS is characterized by progressive narrowing of the aortic valve resulting in aortic stenosis, calcification and thickening of the aortic valves and aortic valve regurgitation.²⁴ Although calcified aortic valve has been associated with normal aging and valve degeneration, recent studies suggest that CAVS can be attributed to a genetic origin. Mutations in Notch1, an important factor that is involved in many developmental processes, has been shown to cause aortic valve disease similar to CAVS.²⁵ Notch1 functions by repressing the activities of Runx2, a central transcriptional regulator in osteoblast cell fate.²⁵ Importantly, NOS3 has been shown to act upstream of Notch1 in aortic valve interstitial cells cultured in vitro by altering Notch1 intracellular domain nuclear localization.²⁶ These findings suggest NOS3 may play a crucial role in aortic valve disease. The aim of our current study was to investigate the role of NOS3 in normal maintenance of aortic valve function and its role in aortic valve thrombosis and

calcification. We hypothesized that deficiency in NOS3 leads to spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis and calcification in the adult mice.

4.3 METHODS

4.3.1 Animals

Breeding pairs of *NOS3^{-/-}* (stock No. 002684) and wild-type C57BL/6 (WT) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine). A breeding program was carried out to produce neonates. Genotyping of *NOS3^{-/-}* and *NOS3^{+/+}* mice was performed by a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method using genomic DNA prepared from tail biopsies. All procedures involving mouse husbandry and manipulation were in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council of Animal Care and approved by the Animal Use Subcommittee at the University of Western Ontario, Canada.

4.3.2 General Tissue Processing

WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice were used for analysis. Hearts were isolated and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, dehydrated, and embedded in paraffin. Five micro-meter transverse serial sections were mounted onto albumin/glycerin coated glass slides.

4.3.3 Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence

After deparaffination and rehydration, the slides were incubated for 3 minutes with 1% Sirius red solution for fibrosis, Mason's Trichrome staining kit for collagen and muscle. Counterstaining was performed with 0.1% hematoxylin (Merck, Germany). Immunofluorescence was done using established protocols were used with minor modifications.²⁷⁻²⁹ Briefly, after deparaffination and rehydration of the slides, microwave antigen retrieval was applied by heating them for 10 min at 98°C in a citric acid buffer (10 mM in aquadest, pH 6.0). The slides were incubated overnight with either 1:100 anti-Runx2 (Santa Cruz, USA), 1:100 anti-E-selectin (Biotech, USA). Next, the goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody conjugated with GFP (1:1000, Vector Laboratories, USA) was added for 60 min in PBS. Finally, 0.1% DAPI solution was used to stain nuclei.

4.3.4 Heart Function Measurements

Left ventricular (LV) and right ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were measured using the Vevo 2100 ultrasound imaging system (Visual Sonics, Canada). Briefly, 2-dimensional images of the heart were obtained in short-axis view using a dynamically focused 40 MHz probe. The M-mode cursor was positioned perpendicular to the LV anterior and posterior walls. The LV internal end-diastolic dimension (LVIDd) and LV internal systolic dimension (LVIDs) were measured from M-mode recordings. LV ejection fraction was calculated as: EF (%) = $[(LVIDd)^3 - (LVIDs)^3]/(LVIDd)^3 \times 100$. Fractional shortening was calculated as: FS (%) = $(LVIDd-LVIDs)/LVIDd \times 100$. The M-mode measurements of the left ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were averaged from 3 cycles. Aortic valve regurgitation and flow pattern were measured in both color flow Doppler recordings and pulsed-wave Doppler echocardiograms.

4.3.5 Platelet Adhesion and Aggregation on Aortic Valves

Aortic valves were dissected from WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* 12 months old mice and cultured in M199 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Separately, the platelets were isolated from the same animals and treated with a Calcein dye (Life Technologies, Canada) for 15 minutes under room temperature. The aortic valves were then treated with WT or *NOS3⁻*

^{/-} platelets for 1 hour at 37°C. After the incubation period, the aortic valves were imaged under fluorescence microscope (Observer D1, Zeiss, Germany).

4.3.6 Aortic Valve Interstitial Cell Cultures

WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves were explanted from 9-12 week old adult mice and cultured in M199 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts were planted on a 35 mm petri dish coated with 1 mg/ml collagen type I gel for 6 days for attachment and to allow valve mesenchymal cells, which are valve interstitial cells (VICs) to migrate. After attachment, the aortic valves were treated with 300 µl of osteo-differentiation media along with L-NAME in WT aortic valves and DEAT-NO in *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves. After 18 days of culture, cells were stained with 0.5% Alizarin red for calcification and imaged under phase contrast (Observer D1, Zeiss, Germany). The number of calcified mesenchymal cells was counted.

4.3.7 Real Time RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from aortic valves of 12 months adult WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice with RNA isolation kit (Qiagen, Canada). cDNA was synthesized using M-MLV (Invitrogen, Canada) reverse transcriptase and random primers (Invitrogen, Canada). Real-time PCR was conducted using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix as per manufacturer's instructions (Eurogentec, USA). Samples were amplified for 35 cycles using Eppendorf Real-Time PCR machine. The expression levels of Notch1, Runx2, Sp7 and β catenin in relation to 28S rRNA as a loading control were obtained.

4.3.8 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Unpaired Student's *t* test was used for 2 group comparisons. One way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls test was performed for multi-group comparisons. *P*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis in NOS3^{-/-} mice

Severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis was observed in NOS3^{-/-} mice at 12 months old. Representative 3-D reconstructions of normal aortic valve of a WT mouse and a thrombus on the aortic valve of a NOS3^{-/-} mouse are shown in Fig. 4.1A. The thrombus was positioned on the aortic side of the valve. Next, Masson's trichrome staining was used to assess WT and NOS3^{-/-} aortic valves. WT mice showed normal cross sectional aortic section with 3 distinct valve leaflets while 27% of NOS3^{-/-} mice showed only 2 valve leaflets with an enlarged aortic valve thrombosis (Fig. 4.1B). Hematoxylin and eosin staining showed the formation of the thrombus originated from the aortic valve (Fig. 4.1C). The thrombus had an intense eosin staining due to fibrin deposition (Fig. 4.1C). Quantitative analysis show 13/18 (72%) of NOS3^{-/-} mice at 12 months of age had spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis, in which 100% (5/5) bicuspid aortic valve and 62% (8/13) tricuspid aortic valve NOS3^{-/-} animals showed spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis. None of the WT showed any aortic valve thrombosis (P<0.0001 Fig. 4.1D). Because of hemodynamic changes, bicuspid aortic valve is associated with aortic valve calcification and thrombosis in humans. To study the specific role of NOS3 on spontaneous thrombosis and calcification, further analyses were done using mice with tricuspid aortic valves.

In order to study the role of NOS3 in platelet adhesion and aggregation on the aortic valve, the aortic valves were explanted from WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* 12 months old mice and incubated with platelets. After 1 hour of incubation with the valves, the amount of platelets on these valves was imaged and quantified. Our data show that WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* platelets were adhered significantly more to the *NOS3^{-/-}* compared to the WT aortic valves (Fig. 4.2A-B). Furthermore, *NOS3^{-/-}* platelets were more adhesive to the *NOS3^{-/-}* valves compared to WT valves. In addition, platelets formed clumps on the *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves, indicating platelet aggregation (Fig. 4.2A).



А

Figure 4.1 Severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis in $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice at 12 months old. (A) 3-D reconstruction of aortic valves of WT and $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. While WT mice have three aortic valve leaflets, $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice show a bicuspid aortic valve with a spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis (Marked in red). (B) Masson's trichrome staining of WT and $NOS3^{-/-}$ aortic valves. $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice show only 2 valve leaflets with an enlarged aortic valve thrombosis. (C) Hematoxylin and eosin staining of a large thrombus on the aortic valve from a $NOS3^{-/-}$ mouse. This is the same animal used in (B) to show that the origin of the thrombus is from the aortic valves. (D) 72% of $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice but none of the WT mice at 12 months old had spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis. **P*<0.0001 vs. WT



В



Figure 4.2 Platelet adhesion and aggregation on aortic valves. (**A**) WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* tricuspid aortic valves were dissected from 12 months old mice and marked with calcein dye. These valves were then treated with WT or *NOS3^{-/-}* platelets to assess platelet aggregation. (**B**) Quantification of platelet aggregation on WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves using fluorescence intensity. Data are mean \pm SEM from 4 mice per group. **P*<0.05 vs. corresponding WT aortic valve (AV) groups, †P<0.05 vs. *NOS3^{-/-}* AV+WT platelets (Pl).

4.4.2 Deficiency in *NOS3* results in a ortic valve regurgitation

C57BL/6 WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice cardiac and aortic functions were measured at 3, 5, 9 and 12 months of age. Representative images showed normal systole blood flow in WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at 12 months (Fig. 4.3A). While systole blood flow was normal, diastolic blood flow showed severe aortic valve regurgitations in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. This was evident on both the color and pulsed wave Doppler recordings (Fig 4.3A-B). Further quantifications showed that both regurgitation velocity and duration measured by pulsed wave Doppler recordings were significantly increased (Fig 4.3C, D). Starting at 3 months, 29% of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed mild to severe aortic valve regurgitation. This trend continued at 5, 9 and 12 months with 33%, 33% and 37% of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice showed aortic valve regurgitation, respectively (Fig. 4.3E).

Cardiac functions measured by left ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were normal at 3, 5 and 9 months in WT and NOS^{-/-} mice. However, left ventricular ejection fraction and fractional shortening were significantly decreased at 12 months in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compare with age-matched WT controls (Fig. 4.4 A-C). In addition, left ventricular anterior wall thickness during diastole and systole were measured. Our data showed that there were no significant differences in the left ventricular wall thickness at any time point of the study. To further assess the *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts, LV diameter were measure. Our data showed that there is no significant difference between WT (2.16±0.035) and *NOS3^{-/-}* (2.304±0.077) LV diameter in 12 months old mice.



Figure 4.3 Severe aortic valve regurgitation in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Regurgitation from aortic valves was determined by color (**A**) and pulsed-wave (**B**) Doppler echocardiography. Both WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice show normal systolic outflow. However, *NOS3^{-/-}* mice show significant aortic valve regurgitation during diastole (**A and B,** red arrows). **C-D**. Quantification of aortic valve regurgitation. Significant aortic regurgitation was observed in *NOS3^{-/-}* but not in WT mice. Data are mean \pm SEM from 6-7 mice per group. **P*<0.01 vs. WT. **E**. The percentage of animals that showed aortic valve regurgitation at 12 months old.





Figure 4.4 Assessment of cardiac function using echocardiography. (**A**) Representative M-mode imaging showing decreased heart function in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls at 12 months. (**B-C**) Left ventricular fractional shortening and ejection fraction at 3, 5, 9, and 12 months in *NOS3^{-/-}* and WT mice. (**D-E**) Left ventricular wall thickness during systole and diastole in WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice from 3 to 12 months. Data are mean \pm SEM from 5 mice per group. **P*<0.05 vs. WT.

4.4.3 Deficiency in *NOS3* results in aortic valve fibrosis and thickening of the aortic wall

To analyze collagen content, picro Sirius red staining was performed. *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valve showed much stronger Sirius red staining than the WT at 12 months (Fig 4.5A, upper panel). Furthermore, the aortic wall in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice was thickened compared with age-matched WT controls (Fig. 4.5A, lower panel). Quantitative analysis showed that Sirius red staining intensity and aortic wall thickness were significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with age-matched WT controls (Fig. 4.5B, C). The total vascular smooth muscle cell numbers in the aortic wall were increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. However, cell density per mm² was not significantly different between *NOS3^{-/-}* and WT controls (Fig. 4.5D). Moreover, the structure of the cells in the WT aortic wall was organized and aligned, while in the *NOS3^{-/-}*, the cells within the aortic wall was disorganized and misaligned (Fig. 4.5A). Taken together, these results showed a vulnerable and disorganized aortic wall structure in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice that is associated hypertrophy of the aortic wall cells.



Figure 4.5 Aortic valve fibrosis and aortic wall thickening in 12 months old *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. (**A**) Representative Sirius red and hematoxylin staining showing aortic fibrosis and wall thickening, respectively. (**B**) Quantification of fibrosis staining intensity. (**C**) Quantification of aortic wall thickness. (**D**) Quantification of cell density in the aortic wall. Data are mean \pm SEM from 6-7 mice per group. **P*<0.01 vs. WT.

4.4.4 Deficiency in *NOS3* results in endothelial cell activation/damage

Endothelial cell activation/injury may cause valvular damage and possibly aortic valve thrombosis.^{5, 6} To assess whether endothelial cell activation is seen in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice, sections were stained for the presence of E-selectin, which is an excellent marker for endothelial cell activation.^{30, 31} Our data showed E-selectin expression significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT mice (Fig. 4.6A). Further quantification showed significantly increased number of activated endothelial cells in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT mice (Fig. 4.6B). To correlate this data with mRNA expression, E-selectin mRNA expression was determined in the WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Similar to protein staining, mRNA expression of E-selectin was significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice (Fig. 4.6C). Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (V-CAM) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (I-CAM) are well known markers for endothelial cell activation.³¹ Our data showed mRNA levels of both V-CAM and I-CAM were significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT mice (Fig. 4.6D, E).





Figure 4.6 Endothelial cell activation of the aortic valve in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. (A)

Representative histology images stained with E-selectin show endothelial cell activation in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. (**B**) Quantification of E-selectin⁺ endothelial cells in WT and $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice. (**C-E**) Quantification of mRNA expression of well-known markers for endothelial cell activation. Data are mean ± SEM from 4-5 mice per group. *P<0.05 vs. WT.

4.4.5 Deficiency in *NOS3* results in severe aortic valve calcification

To assess aortic valve calcification, aortic valves from WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice were stained for the presence of Runx2, a marker of calcification (Fig. 4.7A). Our data showed that Runx2 expression was significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared to age-matched WT controls (Fig. 4.7C). In addition, B-mode echocardiography images showed brightened aortic valves, indicative of aortic valve calcification (Fig. 4.7A, red arrows). Quantitative analysis of the brightness density of the aortic valves showed that there was a significant increase in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with age-matched WT controls (Fig. 4.7B).

Notch1 has been shown to be important in maintaining normal aortic valve function by repressing the transcription of Runx2.^{25, 32} To examine if NOS3 regulates Notch1 and Runx2 expression, mRNA was isolated from 12 months old WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves. Our data showed that the Notch1 mRNA levels were significantly decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls (Fig. 4.7D). Furthermore, the expression of Runx2 was significantly increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls (Fig. 4.7E). To further confirm aortic valve calcification, we measured the expression of other well-known markers of calcification including *Alkaline phosphatase 1, Sp7* and *β-catenin,* which were all significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls (Fig. 4.7F, H-I). Sox9 is a negative regulator of Runx2. Our data showed that Sox9 mRNA levels were significantly decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with WT controls (Fig. 4.7G).

To further study a protective effect of NOS3 against aortic valve calcification, *exvivo* cultures of aortic valve interstitial cells (VICs) were employed. The adult aortic

valve was harvested and plated on collagen to allow VICs to migrate out. These cells were then treated with an osteo-differentiation media in the presence of a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NAME or a NO donor DETA-NO for 18 days. The cultured VICs were stained with Alizarin red to assess calcification. Our data showed that $NOS3^{-/-}$ VICs exhibited significantly more calcification compared with WT cells (P<0.05, Fig. 4.8A-B). Furthermore, when WT VICs were treated with osteo-differentiation media together with L-NAME, calcification was significantly increased compared with controls. Finally, when $NOS3^{-/-}$ aortic valve cells were treated with osteo-differentiation media in the presence of DETA-NO, calcification was significantly decreased compared with controls (P<0.05, Fig. 4.8A-B). Together, these data showed a key role of NO in inhibiting VIC calcification.





Figure 4.7 Severe aortic calcification in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. (**A**) Representative B-mode and histology images stained with Runx2. (**B**) Calcification can be analyzed from the brightness of the aortic valves in the B-mode echocardiography image (red arrows). (**C**) Quantification of number of Runx2 positive cells in the aortic valve. (**D-I**) Quantification of Notch, Runx2, AP1, Sp7, β -Catenin and Sox9 mRNA expression in WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at 12 months old. Data are mean ± SEM from 4-7 mice per group. **P*<0.01 vs. WT

WT

WT + L-NAME





NOS3-/-

NOS3^{-/-} + DETA-NO





А



Figure 4.8 Effects of NO on calcification of cultured aortic valve interstitial cells (VICs).
(A) Representative images showing cultured VICs stained with Alizarin red for calcification. WT VICs were treated the osteo-differentiation media and a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NAME. *NOS3^{-/-}* VICs were treated with osteo-differentiation media and a nitric oxide donor, DETA-NO. (B) Quantification of Alizarin red positive cells. N= 3-4 cultures per group. **P*<0.05 vs. WT Control. †P<0.05 vs.*NOS3^{-/-}* Control.

4.5 **DISCUSSION**

In the present study, we demonstrated for the first time that deficiency in *NOS3* leads to spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis, regurgitation, and calcification and fibrosis. Furthermore, we showed that the normal maintenance of aortic valves is dependent on NOS3 produced NO, which inhibits VIC calcification. Additionally, we showed that NOS3 regulates Notch1 and Runx2 signalling pathway to maintain normal aortic valve function. Our study suggests that NOS3 plays a key role in the normal maintenance of aortic valves in adulthood and aging.

Aortic valve thrombosis is extremely rare in the clinic. However, patients that have this disease are often fatal due to thrombus breakage and subsequent embolism resulting in stroke and myocardial infarction.^{5-7, 11} Increases in platelet aggregation are associated with thrombus formation in patients with protein S deficiency or antiphospholipid syndrome.^{4, 7, 12} In the present study, the *NOS3-*^{-/-} aortic valves were more prone to platelet adhesion and aggregation. Furthermore, *NOS3-*^{-/-} platelets had a significantly higher aggregation compared to WT platelets on *NOS3-*^{-/-} aortic valves, suggesting that NOS3 from both platelets and aortic valves contributes to inhibition of platelet aggregation on aortic valves. Thus, lack of NOS3 from both platelets and aortic valves may lead to aortic valve thrombosis in the aging *NOS3-*^{-/-} mice. Additional, endothelial activation/injury can be a result of normal wear and tear during aging or underlying disease condition such as calcification of the aortic valve.^{5, 6} Normally, NO production from NOS3 protects endothelial cells from oxidative injury. ²¹ Additionally, NOS3 promotes the recruitment of circulating endothelial progenitor cells, which regenerate and repair the injured endothelium.³³ However, in the *NOS3-*^{-/-} mice, these

protective mechanisms are lost, resulting in thrombus formation. To our knowledge, this is the first study that links NOS3 function to the spontaneous formation of an aortic valve thrombus.

The function of aortic valves is to prevent backflow of blood from the outflow tracts into the ventricles during diastole. The normal aortic valves are made up of 3 distinct cusps which evenly distribute the mechanical stress to the valve annulus and aorta. When the even distribution of mechanical stress is disrupted such as in the case of bicuspid aortic valves, part of the valve may have a higher stress and valvular endothelial cells may get activated, leading to platelet aggregation and eventually the formation of spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis. Previous studies have demonstrated that about 30% of NOS3^{-/-} animals show bicuspid aortic valve phenotype.³⁴⁻³⁶ In the present study, NOS3⁻ ^{/-} mice with bicuspid aortic valve all developed spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis (100%). However, in tricuspid aortic valve NOS3^{-/-} animals, only 61.5% developed spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis. It appears that mice with bicuspid aortic valves are possibly more susceptible to the formation of spontaneous aortic valve thrombus. However, due to a small sample size, there was no statistical difference in the incidence of aortic valve thrombosis between these 2 groups of NOS3^{-/-} mice. Experiments are ongoing to increase the sample size of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. In CAVS, the valve cusps become progressively fibrotic and calcified.³⁷ This results in stiffened valves, reduced valve movements and progressive valve narrowing resulting in aortic stenosis. If left untreated, CAVS leads to left ventricular hypertrophy and eventually congestive heart failure and death.^{38, 39} Aortic valve calcification plays a key role in the disease progression of CAVS.⁴⁰ Studies have shown that Notch1/Runx2 signalling limits aortic valve

calcification.²⁵ Notch1 is a transcription factor that is involved in many developmental processes including liver, skeleton, heart, eye, face, kidney and vasculature.⁴¹ More importantly, Notch1 mutations are associated with abnormal development of the aortic valve including bicuspid aortic valve and aortic valve stenosis.^{25,42} A reduction of Notch signalling decreases epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is necessary for proper formation of aortic valves.⁴³ In the adult aortic valve, Notch1 signalling activates Hairy-related transcription, which physically interacts with Runx2, a master regulator of osteoblast differentiation, and represses its transcriptional activity.^{44,45} Activation of Runx2 would result in osteoblast differentiation of VICs, consistent with previous findings.^{46,47} We further demonstrated that Notch1 expression is significantly decreased in the *NOS3*^{-/-} aortic valves compared with age-matched WT controls, suggesting that NOS3 regulates Notch1 expression.²⁶ Decreased Notch1 activity would increase Runx2

In summary, the present study demonstrates a pivotal role of NOS3 in limiting aortic valve from thrombosis and calcification, and maintaining normal aortic valve function. These beneficial effects NOS3 are likely mediated through the regulation of Notch1 and Runx2. We believe this is an excellent animal model to study spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis and the disease progression of CAVS. We anticipate that these new insights into the role of NOS3 in maintaining normal aortic valve function may lead to therapeutic strategies in the prevention and possibly treatment of spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis and CAVS.

4.6 **REFERENCES**

- Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: A population-based study. *Lancet*. 2006;368:1005-1011
- 2. Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Chatterjee K, de Leon AC, Jr., Faxon DP, Freed MD, et al. 2008 focused update incorporated into the acc/aha 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: A report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force on practice guidelines (writing committee to revise the 1998 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease): Endorsed by the society of cardiovascular anesthesiologists, society for cardiovascular angiography and interventions, and society of thoracic surgeons. *Circulation*. 2008;118:e523-661
- 3. Kaul H, Gutzwiller JP, Schneider K, Dirsch O, Hausermann M. Aortic valve stenosis as a cause of major systemic embolism--a case report. *Angiology*. 1998;49:231-234
- 4. Bazan V, Evangelista A, Avegliano G, Gonzalez MT, Elorz C, Garcia del Castillo H. [non-bacterial thrombotic endocarditis of the aortic valve in a young woman]. *Rev Esp Cardiol*. 2002;55:1333-1336
- 5. Wan S, DeSmet JM, Vincent JL, LeClerc JL. Thrombus formation on a calcific and severely stenotic bicuspid aortic valve. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1997;64:535-536
- 6. Yasaka M, Tsuchiya T, Yamaguchi T. Mobile string-like thrombus on the calcified aortic valve in cardioembolic stroke--a case report. *Angiology*. 1993;44:655-659
- 7. Jobic Y, Provost K, Larlet JM, Mondine P, Gilard M, Boschat J, et al. Intermittent left coronary occlusion caused by native aortic valve thrombosis in a patient with protein s deficiency. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr*. 1999;12:1114-1116
- 8. Davutoglu V, Soydinc S, Celkan A, Kucukdurmaz Z. Left ventricular freefloating ball thrombus complicating aortic valve stenosis. *J Heart Valve Dis*. 2004;13:197-199
- 9. Amano H, Kubota K, Kojima A, Shindo S, Yoshii S, Matsumoto M. [embolism of the lower limb caused by native aortic valve thrombosis]. *Kyobu Geka*. 2006;59:900-903
- 10. Yamaji S, Hara K, Ayabe S, Morino Y, Kigawa I, Wanibuchi Y, et al. [native aortic valve thrombus revealed by routine echocardiography: A case report]. *J Cardiol.* 1997;30:211-216
- 11. Massetti M, Babatasi G, Saloux E, Bhoyroo S, Grollier G, Khayat A. Spontaneous native aortic valve thrombosis. *J Heart Valve Dis.* 1999;8:157-159
- 12. Grondin F, Giannoccaro JP. Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome associated with large aortic valve vegetation and stroke. *Can J Cardiol*. 1995;11:133-135
- Costa AF, Gamermann PW, Picon PX, Mosmann MP, Kettlun AM, Valenzuela MA, et al. Intravenous apyrase administration reduces arterial thrombosis in a rabbit model of endothelial denudation in vivo. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2004;15:545-551
- 14. Eriksson E, Larsson N, Nitescu P, Appelgren L, Linder LE, Curelaru I. Penetration forces in cannulation of the dorsal veins of the hand: I. A comparison
between polyurethane (insyte) and polytetrafluoroethylene (venflon) cannulae. Results of a study in volunteers compared with those from an in vitro study. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 1991;35:306-314

- 15. Camerer E, Kolsto AB, Prydz H. Cell biology of tissue factor, the principal initiator of blood coagulation. *Thromb Res.* 1996;81:1-41
- 16. Jesty J, Lorenz A, Rodriguez J, Wun TC. Initiation of the tissue factor pathway of coagulation in the presence of heparin: Control by antithrombin iii and tissue factor pathway inhibitor. *Blood*. 1996;87:2301-2307
- 17. Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: Physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* 1991;43:109-142
- 18. Hammoud L, Xiang F, Lu X, Brunner F, Leco K, Feng Q. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase promotes neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation by inhibiting tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 expression. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2007;75:359-368
- Razavi HM, Hamilton JA, Feng Q. Modulation of apoptosis by nitric oxide: Implications in myocardial ischemia and heart failure. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2005;106:147-162
- 20. Li H, Forstermann U. Nitric oxide in the pathogenesis of vascular disease. *J Pathol.* 2000;190:244-254
- 21. Forstermann U, Sessa WC. Nitric oxide synthases: Regulation and function. *Eur Heart J.* 2012;33:829-837, 837a-837d
- 22. Warner JG, Jr., Rupard LL, Davis GJ, Lantz PE, Nomeir AM. Aortic valve thrombus first seen as inferior myocardial infarction in a patient with polycythemia. *Am Heart J.* 1994;127:1407-1411
- 23. Schrem S, Freedberg RS, Culliford AJ, Kronzon I. Echocardiographic diagnosis of bland thrombus on an aortic valve. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr*. 1988;1:271-272
- 24. Dweck MR, Boon NA, Newby DE. Calcific aortic stenosis: A disease of the valve and the myocardium. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;60:1854-1863
- 25. Garg V, Muth AN, Ransom JF, Schluterman MK, Barnes R, King IN, et al. Mutations in notch1 cause aortic valve disease. *Nature*. 2005;437:270-274
- 26. Bosse K, Hans CP, Zhao N, Koenig SN, Huang N, Guggilam A, et al. Endothelial nitric oxide signaling regulates notch1 in aortic valve disease. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2013;60:27-35
- 27. Feng Q, Song W, Lu X, Hamilton JA, Lei M, Peng T, et al. Development of heart failure and congenital septal defects in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2002;106:873-879
- 28. Liu Y, Lu X, Xiang FL, Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Robbins J, et al. Nitric oxide synthase-3 deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries and postnatal myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J*, 2014, 35(14): 920-31.
- Xiang FL, Lu X, Hammoud L, Zhu P, Chidiac P, Robbins J, et al. Cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of human stem cell factor improves cardiac function and survival after myocardial infarction in mice. *Circulation*. 2009;120:1065-1074, 1069 p following 1074
- 30. Vannini N, Pfeffer U, Lorusso G, Noonan DM, Albini A. Endothelial cell aging and apoptosis in prevention and disease: E-selectin expression and modulation as a model. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2008;14:221-225

- 31. Szmitko PE, Wang CH, Weisel RD, de Almeida JR, Anderson TJ, Verma S. New markers of inflammation and endothelial cell activation: Part i. *Circulation*. 2003;108:1917-1923
- 32. Tkatchenko TV, Moreno-Rodriguez RA, Conway SJ, Molkentin JD, Markwald RR, Tkatchenko AV. Lack of periostin leads to suppression of notch1 signaling and calcific aortic valve disease. *Physiol Genomics*. 2009;39:160-168
- 33. Zampetaki A, Kirton JP, Xu Q. Vascular repair by endothelial progenitor cells. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2008;78:413-421
- 34. Liu Y, Feng Q. Noing the heart: Role of nitric oxide synthase-3 in heart development. *Differentiation*. 2012;84:54-61
- 35. Fernandez B, Duran AC, Fernandez-Gallego T, Fernandez MC, Such M, Arque JM, et al. Bicuspid aortic valves with different spatial orientations of the leaflets are distinct etiological entities. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009;54:2312-2318
- 36. Lee TC, Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Stewart DJ. Abnormal aortic valve development in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2345-2348
- Garg V. Molecular genetics of aortic valve disease. *Curr Opin Cardiol*. 2006;21:180-184
- 38. Hein S, Arnon E, Kostin S, Schonburg M, Elsasser A, Polyakova V, et al. Progression from compensated hypertrophy to failure in the pressure-overloaded human heart: Structural deterioration and compensatory mechanisms. *Circulation*. 2003;107:984-991
- 39. Cioffi G, Faggiano P, Vizzardi E, Tarantini L, Cramariuc D, Gerdts E, et al. Prognostic effect of inappropriately high left ventricular mass in asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis. *Heart*. 2011;97:301-307
- 40. Davies SW, Gershlick AH, Balcon R. Progression of valvar aortic stenosis: A long-term retrospective study. *Eur Heart J.* 1991;12:10-14
- 41. Penton AL, Leonard LD, Spinner NB. Notch signaling in human development and disease. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*. 2012;23:450-457
- 42. McKellar SH, Tester DJ, Yagubyan M, Majumdar R, Ackerman MJ, Sundt TM, 3rd. Novel notch1 mutations in patients with bicuspid aortic valve disease and thoracic aortic aneurysms. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2007;134:290-296
- 43. Timmerman LA, Grego-Bessa J, Raya A, Bertran E, Perez-Pomares JM, Diez J, et al. Notch promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition during cardiac development and oncogenic transformation. *Genes Dev.* 2004;18:99-115
- 44. MacGrogan D, Luna-Zurita L, de la Pompa JL. Notch signaling in cardiac valve development and disease. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2011;91:449-459
- 45. MacGrogan D, Nus M, de la Pompa JL. Notch signaling in cardiac development and disease. *Curr Top Dev Biol*. 2010;92:333-365
- 46. Richards J, El-Hamamsy I, Chen S, Sarang Z, Sarathchandra P, Yacoub MH, et al. Side-specific endothelial-dependent regulation of aortic valve calcification: Interplay of hemodynamics and nitric oxide signaling. *Am J Pathol.* 2013;182:1922-1931
- 47. Rajamannan NM, Subramaniam M, Stock SR, Stone NJ, Springett M, Ignatiev KI, et al. Atorvastatin inhibits calcification and enhances nitric oxide synthase production in the hypercholesterolaemic aortic valve. *Heart*. 2005;91:806-810

5 CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

5.1 SUMMARY OF MAJOR FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

The overall objective of this thesis was to investigate the regulatory role of NOS3 in the heart during embryonic development and adulthood. More specifically, I studied the role of NOS3 in the embryonic development of coronary artery, the formation of atrioventricular valves and the maintenance of adult aortic valves (**Figure 5.1**). To achieve these goals, NOS3 genetic knockout animals were used and a novel cardiac specific NOS3 overexpressing mouse was generated. Experimental approaches included *in vitro* cell cultures, *ex vivo* heart cultures and *in vivo* animal studies as well as the use of pharmacological inhibitors and adenoviral constructs.

In **Chapter 2**, I investigated the role of NOS3 in coronary artery development (**Figure 5.1**). I demonstrated that neonatal *NOS3^{-/-}* mice show severe abnormalities in coronary arteries. Furthermore, as early as E15.5, coronary artery diameters, density and volume were significantly decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with WT embryos. In order to understand the molecular mechanism governing morphogenesis of the coronary arteries, expression of transcription and growth factors critical to coronary development was analyzed in E12.5 hearts. Interestingly, the expression of *Gata4*, VEGFa, bFGF and EPO was down-regulated in the *NOS3^{-/-}* compared with WT embryonic hearts. Additionally, Wilm's tumour-1 (Wt1), a transcription factor critical for EMT and coronary artery formation, was also down-regulated and the number of epicardial derived cells (EPDC) was decreased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* hearts. These data suggest that NOS3 is

critical to embryonic coronary artery development. It has been shown that NOS3 promotes proliferation in many cell types.¹⁻³ For example, NOS3 promotes neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation by inhibiting TIMP-3 expression.¹ NOS3 also promotes migration of mesenchymal stem cells towards the heart.⁴ Therefore it is possible that not only cell migration, but also cell proliferation of EPDCs is affected in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. Thus, a combination of decreased transcription and growth factors and decreased ability of EPDC proliferation and migration into the myocardium may impair coronary artery development in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.

NOS3^{-/-} mice show impaired coronary artery development partially due to decreased EMT of the epicardium. EMT has also been shown to be crucial to atrioventricular valve development in the embryonic heart. Thus, in **Chapter 3**, I investigated the role of NOS3 in atrioventricular valve formation (**Figure 5.1**). I demonstrated that for the first time that deficiency in NOS3 leads to impairment of endocardial EMT and congenital AV valve defects. Furthermore, I showed that cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 overexpression mice completely rescued these defects in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. In order to assess the functional significance of these defects, echocardiography was carried out on P0 live animals. Our data showed severe regurgitation of both mitral and tricuspid valves in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice. This phenotype was accompanied by reduced ejection fraction and fractional shortening and increased atrial size. Moreover, cardiomyocyte-specific NOS3 in early AV valve formation, *in vivo* Snail1 expression and *ex vivo* endocardial EMT were assessed. Our results showed the

E12.5. In addition, explant culture of endocardial cushions from E10.5 mice showed that the total number of mesenchymal cells was significantly decreased in $NOS3^{-/-}$ explants. These data show a reduction of endocardial EMT in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ mice leading to malformation of mitral and tricuspid valves. Our study suggests that NOS3 promotes endocardial EMT and embryonic development of AV valves. To further understand the underlying signaling mechanism, I showed that inhibition of guanylate cyclase decreased TGF β 1, BMP2 and Snail1 expression in the WT hearts while treatment with 8-BromocGMP increased TGF β , BMP2 and Snail1 mRNA levels in the $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts. Both TGF β 1 and BMP have the ability to stimulate Snail1expression.^{5, 6} To this end, we showed that recombinant TGF β treatment significantly increased Snail1 expression in WT and $NOS3^{-/-}$ hearts compared with respective controls. Taken together, our data suggest that cGMP production from NOS3 upregulates TGF β and BMP2, and promotes Snail1 expression and endocardial EMT, leading to normal AV valve development.

In **Chapter 4**, I investigated the role of NOS3 in the normal maintenance of aortic valve function (**Figure 5.1**). I demonstrated for the first time that deficiency in NOS3 leads to severe aortic valve thrombosis, regurgitation, aortic stenosis and aortic valve calcification and thickening. Deficiency in NOS3 resulted in severe spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis at 12 months old. Histological analysis showed the formation of a thrombus originated from the aortic valve. Quantitative data showed that 72% of *NOS3^{-/-}* mice at 12 months old had spontaneous aortic valve thrombosis. None of the WT showed any aortic valve thrombosis. In order to test platelet aggregation of WT and *NOS3^{-/-}* mice, an *ex vivo* aortic valve culture explant was carried out. Our data showed that platelet aggregation was significantly increased in *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves. In addition, the *NOS3^{-/-}* aortic valves

showed clumping of platelets similar to that occurs in thrombus formation. Additionally, severe aortic valve regurgitation was observed in the NOS3^{-/-} mice. This phenotype started at 3 months with 28.5% of NOS3^{-/-} mice showing mild to severe aortic valve regurgitation and continued at 5, 9 and 12 months with 33.3%, 33.3% and 36.8% of NOS3^{-/-} mice having aortic valve regurgitation, respectively. Furthermore, NOS3^{-/-} mice had aortic stenosis starting at 3 months old. As expected, this phenotype persisted at 5, 9 and 12 months. Moreover, the aortic wall in the NOS3^{-/-} mice was thickened compared with age-matched WT controls. To analyze calcification, aortic valves were harvested from 12 months old WT and NOS3^{-/-} mice and stained with Runx2, a marker of calcification. My data showed that Runx2 staining was significantly increased in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice compared with age-matched WT controls. Furthermore, when WT aortic valve cells treated the osteo-differentiation media in the presence of L-NAME, a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, calcification was significantly increased compared with controls. When NOS3^{-/-} aortic valve cells were treated with osteo-differentiation media in the presence of DETA-NO, a nitric oxide donor, calcification was significantly decreased compared with controls. Finally I showed that the mRNA expression of Notch1 was significantly decreased in the NOS3^{-/-} mice and Runx2 mRNA levels were significantly increased in NOS3^{-/-} mice compared with WT controls. These results were expected since Notch1 represses the activity of Runx2 in normal aortic valves.^{7,8} Taken together, my study suggests that NOS3 plays a crucial role in the normal maintenance of aortic valves during adulthood and aging.

In summary, I have demonstrated a crucial role of NOS3 in normal heart development and in the maintenance of postnatal aortic valve function. More specifically,

I showed that NOS3 is required for coronary artery development and deficiency in *NOS3* leads to hypoplastic coronary arteries. Next, I showed that NOS3 promotes endocardial EMT and the formation of AV valves during embryonic heart development. Finally, I showed deficiency in NOS3 results in thrombosis formation and calcification of aortic valves, suggesting an important role of NOS3 in maintaining normal function and morphology of aortic valves. A summary of these findings and previous work using *NOS3^{-/-}* mice is shown in **Figure 5.2**. My studies may provide important information for developing novel therapeutic strategies for the treatment of congenital heart disease and adult valvular disease.

5.2 STUDY LIMITATIONS

5.2.1 Mouse Models of Human Disease Conditions

Genetically modified mice used as models of human disease conditions are necessary in the evaluation of potential therapeutics for both ethical and practical reasons. The use of mouse models allows for the collection of tissue samples, and the control of experimental conditions that are otherwise not possible in humans. Over 99% of all mouse genes can be traced to a human homologue thus providing a genetic



Figure 5.1 Proposed signaling pathway of NOS3 on coronary artery development, atrioventricular valve formation and adult aortic valve maintenance. NOS3 promotes the expression of Wt1, *Gata4*, TGF β , BMP2 and Notch1 via cGMP. Wt1 and *Gata4* promote coronary artery development via EPDC migration and growth factor signalling, respectively. TGF β and BMP2 regulate AV valve formation via activation of Snail1 and EMT in the endocardial cushion. Finally, Notch1 expression inhibits Runx2 and prevents adult aortic valve calcification. Lack of *NOS3* induces endothelial activation and thrombosis of aortic valves in aging.



Figure 5.2 Summary of the biological effects of NOS3 on the heart during embryonic development and postnatal life.

system that correlates well with the human genome.⁹ Finally, the mouse genome is relatively easy to manipulate and this provides an enormous amount of possibilities for genetic modification to study various human related diseases.¹⁰

This thesis utilized a variety of *in vitro* and *in vivo* experimental models to simulate human heart disease. In vivo, Chapters 2 and 3 used a neonatal mouse model to study the role of *NOS3* in coronary artery development and atrioventricular valve formation. Chapter 4 used an adult mouse model to study the role of NOS3 in the normal maintenance of the aortic valves. In humans, NOS3 polymorphisms with reduced enzyme activity have been shown to be correlated with congenital heart disease and coronary artery disease.¹¹ In my studies, deficiency in NOS3 expression results in congenital heart defects including malformations of coronary arteries and impaired atrioventricular valve development (Chapters 2 and 3) and adult aortic valve thrombosis, stenosis and calcification (Chapters 4). Previous studies from our lab also showed deficiency in NOS3 results in congenital heart defects such as atrial and ventricular septal defects.¹² Whole-body knockout animals and the genetic mutation or polymorphisms in human disease may not be directly comparable. In humans polymorphisms of NOS3 have been associated with congenital heart disease and coronary artery disease.^{11, 13-15} These polymorphisms represent a reduction in the enzyme activity, not a complete deletion of *NOS3*. Therefore we would expect the severity of the phenotypes to be much greater in the animal models. Indeed, in our NOS3^{-/-} mice, up to 80% of offspring dies within the first 5 days of life compared with the polymorphisms seen in humans which has not been associated with postnatal mortality.¹² Next, even though in this case the phenotypes in $NOS3^{-/-}$ animals are similar to humans, it is not certain that these phenotypes are a

primary defect caused by the deficiency of NOS3 in the heart. For example, it is possible that whole-body knockout of *NOS3* leads to changes in other organ systems and through these changes causing a secondary effect on the heart leading to congenital heart disease. To address this issue, we have generated a cardiac-specific *NOS3* transgenic mouse under the control of β-myosin heavy chain promoter. Expression of human NOS3 was detected only during embryonic development and specifically in the heart of *NOS3*^{Tg} mice. The *NOS3*^{Tg} mice were then crossed with *NOS3*-/- to create the *NOS3*^{Tg};*NOS3*-/- mouse, an animal that lacks *NOS3* in all organs except the heart during embryogenesis. cGMP, a critical downstream signaling molecule of NOS3, was significantly decreased in the *NOS3*-/- compared with WT hearts at postnatal day 0 (P0). This animal model allowed use to study the effect of NOS3 specifically in the heart and our data support an important role of myocardial NOS3 in embryonic heart development.

For *in vitro* cell cultures, we isolated ventricular myocytes and epicardium derived cells (**Chapter 2**) and cushion cells (**Chapter 3**) from the embryonic hearts. We also isolated aortic valve tissues from the hearts of adult mice (**Chapter 4**). The use of *in vitro* cultures presents a problem as these cells may, under certain circumstances, respond differently than *in vivo* conditions. For example, the fact that *in vivo* ventricular myocytes are under the constant nourishment from the blood supply as well as its physical and biochemical interaction with surrounding environment simply cannot be duplicated in any *in vitro* cultures. In my studies, these cultures were used to overcome technical barriers *in vivo*. When studying the developing heart or a very specific tissue in the adult heart (aortic valves), *in vivo* manipulations of the tissue of interest is simply not technically possible. Therefore, we have to employ methods of *in vitro* culturing to

delineate the role of NOS3 in these tissues. Notably, our *in vitro* delineation of mechanisms has provided new insights on the pathogenesis of phenotypes in the *NOS3^{-/-}* mice.

In summary, this thesis utilized transgenic and knockout mouse models to study the role of NOS3 in embryonic heart development and in maintaining normal aortic function during postnatal life. However, murine research also has inherent limitations in that the mouse heart is different from the human heart. For example the mouse heart beats approximately 7 times faster and 250 times smaller than the adult human heart. The most important differences in cardiac structure of human and mouse are confined to the atria. In the mouse, unlike the human counterpart, there is no extensive formation of a secondary atrial septum.¹⁶ Thus, the relevance of any NOS3-mediated effects described in this thesis ultimately needs to be confirmed in humans.

5.2.2 Use of Pharmacological Inhibitors to Delineate Signaling Pathways

In **Chapter 2 and 3** of this thesis, I used nitric oxide donors DETA-NONOate, as well as nitric oxide inhibitors such as L-NAME. These agents are easy to use, and have previously been shown to be effective in increasing or decreasing the availability of NO to cells. DETA-NONOate belongs to the family of diazeniumdiolates that release low levels of NO spontaneously at physiological conditions.¹⁷ The half-life of DETA-NONOate under physiological pH is approximately 20 hours and therefore, it is a slow acting prolonged NO donor that mimics NOS3 when given at low µM concentrations.¹⁸ L-NAME is an analogue for L-arginine. It competes with L-arginine for the substrate binding site on NOS. However, unlike L-arginine, L-NAME cannot be converted to Lcitrulline and therefore NO production is inhibited.¹⁹ Although L-NAME is considered a

non-selective NOS inhibitor, it appears to have a higher selectivity to NOS3 than iNOS.^{20, 21} Therefore, the choices of the nitric oxide donor and inhibitor are based on the understanding of their functions, and studies using these agents to ensure proper dosing and selectivity. However, as is the case with all pharmacological compounds, I cannot rule out the non-specific effects of the pharmacological agents. For example, L-NAME (2 μ M) can also inhibit the production of prostaglandins and interleukin-1 beta.^{20, 21} In my studies, I used pharmacological agents as a secondary verification of genetic manipulations such as genetically altered mice. Thus I am confident that the results I obtained are indeed due to alterations of NO levels rather than non-specific effects of these agents.

5.3 SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The novelty of this thesis is the demonstration that NOS3 is crucial in the developing heart and maintenance of adult aortic valve function. However, there are many valuable aspects of the role of NOS3 during development still warrant further investigation.

In **Chapter 2**, I observed that *NOS3* deficiency leads to coronary artery malformations. Coronary artery development involves many complex highly regulated steps. The epicardium first undergoes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and gives rise to epicardium-derived cells (EPDCs), which migrates into the myocardium to form smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts that are essential for the development of coronary arteries.²²⁻²⁴ Recent clonal analysis confirmed earlier studies in avian embryos that the endothelium of the coronary vascular system derives from endothelial sprouts of sinus venosus with a minor contribution from the endocardium.²⁵⁻²⁷ Thus, endothelial

cells from sinus venosus and endocardium, and vascular smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts derived from EPDCs contribute to the formation of coronary arteries. Coronary artery development is further divided into major coronary artery development, coronary artery capillary vessel development and coronary vessels connection to the aorta. In this thesis and previous studies from our lab showed deficiency in *NOS3* leads to major coronary artery malformations and decreased coronary capillary vessels development. However, we did not look at the role of NOS3 in the connection of coronary vessels to the aorta. In humans and mice, many coronary artery anomalies can occur.²⁸⁻³⁰ For example, both left main and right main coronary artery are connected to the same sinus of Valsalva of the aorta.^{29, 30} Whether a disruption of NOS3 mediates the abnormal connection of coronary arteries to the aorta is an interesting area to pursue for future studies.

In addition to studying the role of NOS3 in coronary artery development, one potential project could look at other vascular development in the body. There are major similarities in vessel development in the developing embryo. For example, it has been shown lungs of *NOS3*-deficient mice also exhibit a paucity of distal arteriolar branches and capillary hypoperfusion, which resemble alveolar capillary dysplasia in humans.³¹ The finding is consistent with the role of NOS3 in capillary development and angiogenesis.^{32, 33}

Additionally, during development of the cardiac conduction system, Purkinje fibers receive paracrine cues from developing coronary vessels.^{34, 35} Inhibition of coronary artery development decreases Purkinje fiber differentiation suggesting that coronary arteries are necessary and sufficient for the induction of Purkinje fibers.³⁴ Thus,

it is possible that coronary artery defects in *NOS3^{-/-}* mice may impede the development of the cardiac conduction system. ^{34, 35} Whether lack of *NOS3* impairs development of cardiac conduction system remains to be investigated.

In **Chapter 3**, I demonstrated that deficiency in *NOS3* leads to congenital atrioventricular valve insufficiency and severe atrioventricular valve regurgitation. They only represent 2 of the 4 valves involved in the regulation of blood flow in the developing heart. The other 2 valves are aortic valve, which controls the blood flow between the left ventricle and outflow aorta and pulmonary valve, which controls the blood flow between the left is right ventricle and outflow pulmonary artery. Previous study showed the deficiency in *NOS3* results in bicuspid aortic valve formation, which is a congenital malformation with only 2 instead of 3 valve leaflets. However, that study did not assess the development of the pulmonary valves. Bicuspid pulmonary valves are extremely rare and are often associated with other congenital cardiac defects. Isolated bicuspid pulmonary valve is exceedingly rare condition. Because of the extremely rare occurrence of bicuspid pulmonary valve, this condition is often under studied. Therefore, it is worthwhile to look at the role *NOS3* in the development of pulmonary valves and to assess whether deficiency of *NOS3* results in the formation of bicuspid pulmonary valves.

In **Chapter 4**, I showed that deficiency of *NOS3* leads to calcified aortic valve stenosis. I demonstrated phenotypes of aortic valve regurgitation, stenosis, thickening and calcification of the valves. In the clinic, later stages of untreated calcified aortic valve stenosis are associated with left ventricular hypertrophy and eventually heart failure. Unfortunately we did not see these phenotypes in the 12 months *NOS3^{-/-}* animals. It would be interesting to study these animals at 18 or 24 months to see if they develop left

ventricular hypertrophy and heart failure. In addition, it would be interesting to see the condition of others valves in these aged mice. More specifically, the function of the pulmonary, mitral and tricuspid valves can be assessed to see if these phenotypes are limited to the aortic valves or it may apply to all valves within the aging heart.

5.4 CLINICAL APPLICATION

Over the past decade, mutations and polymorphisms of the NOS3 gene have been identified in association with coronary artery disease.¹³⁻¹⁵ In addition, a recent study showed the common G894T polymorphism, which has reduced NOS3 function, is also a risk factor for congenital heart disease.¹¹ This finding is consistent with the role of NOS3 in heart development in mice.^{12, 36, 37} Taken together, these findings help to establish a critical role of NOS3 in early heart development in both humans and mice. The present thesis showed for the first time a critical role of NOS3 in the developing heart and in the maintenance of adult aortic valve functions. Along with our current understanding of NOS3 mutations and polymorphisms as a risk factor, reduced *NOS3* function not only puts individuals at higher risk of developing coronary artery disease and congenital heart disease,^{4, 11, 13-15} but may also affect embryonic coronary artery development, atrioventricular valve development and aortic valve dysfunction and calcification in the next generation through heritable mutations and polymorphisms in the NOS3 gene. Furthermore, we propose individuals with heritable mutations and polymorphisms in the NOS3 gene may be at risk for HCAD, atrioventricular valve insufficiency and calcified aortic valve stenosis. We anticipate that these new insights into the mechanisms of coronary artery development, atrioventricular valve development and maintenance of

adult aortic valve function may lead to therapeutic strategies in the prevention and treatment of congenital heart disease and adult valvular disease.

5.5 CONCLUSIONS

This thesis provides the first evidence that NOS3 is crucial in the development of the coronary artery, the formation of atrioventricular valves and the adult maintenance of aortic valve function. While further investigation is required to determine the therapeutic potential of NOS3 in the treatment of HCAD, atrioventricular valve insufficiency and calcified aortic valve stenosis, it is clear that *NOS3* is required in the development heart as well as normal valvular function in the adult. Furthermore, this work has provided valuable insight into the mechanisms by which NOS3 is involved in coronary artery development (**Chapter 2**), formation of the atrioventricular valves (**Chapter 3**) and maintenance of adult aortic valve function (**Chapter 4**). Overall my doctoral research has broadened our understanding of NOS3 in the development of therapeutics for the treatment of HACD, atrioventricular valve insufficiency and calcified aortic valve stenosis.

5.6 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Hammoud L, Xiang F, Lu X, Brunner F, Leco K, Feng Q. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase promotes neonatal cardiomyocyte proliferation by inhibiting tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 expression. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2007;75:359-368
- 2. Quinlan TR, Li D, Laubach VE, Shesely EG, Zhou N, Johns RA. Enos-deficient mice show reduced pulmonary vascular proliferation and remodeling to chronic hypoxia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2000;279:L641-650
- 3. Fukumura D, Kashiwagi S, Jain RK. The role of nitric oxide in tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2006;6:521-534
- 4. Li N, Lu X, Zhao X, Xiang FL, Xenocostas A, Karmazyn M, *et al.* Endothelial nitric oxide synthase promotes bone marrow stromal cell migration to the ischemic myocardium via upregulation of stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha. *Stem Cells.* 2009;27:961-970
- 5. von Gise A, Pu WT. Endocardial and epicardial epithelial to mesenchymal transitions in heart development and disease. *Circ Res.* 2012;110:1628-1645
- 6. Yamagishi T, Ando K, Nakamura H. Roles of tgfbeta and bmp during valvuloseptal endocardial cushion formation. *Anat Sci Int.* 2009;84:77-87
- 7. McKellar SH, Tester DJ, Yagubyan M, Majumdar R, Ackerman MJ, Sundt TM, 3rd. Novel notch1 mutations in patients with bicuspid aortic valve disease and thoracic aortic aneurysms. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*. 2007;134:290-296
- 8. Garg V, Muth AN, Ransom JF, Schluterman MK, Barnes R, King IN, *et al.* Mutations in notch1 cause aortic valve disease. *Nature*. 2005;437:270-274
- 9. Waterston RH, Lindblad-Toh K, Birney E, Rogers J, Abril JF, Agarwal P, *et al.* Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature*. 2002;420:520-562
- 10. Doetschman T, Azhar M. Cardiac-specific inducible and conditional gene targeting in mice. *Circ Res.* 2012;110:1498-1512
- van Beynum IM, Mooij C, Kapusta L, Heil S, den Heijer M, Blom HJ. Common 894g>t single nucleotide polymorphism in the gene coding for endothelial nitric oxide synthase (enos) and risk of congenital heart defects. *Clin Chem Lab Med*. 2008;46:1369-1375
- 12. Feng Q, Song W, Lu X, Hamilton JA, Lei M, Peng T, *et al.* Development of heart failure and congenital septal defects in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2002;106:873-879
- 13. Wang XL, Sim AS, Badenhop RF, McCredie RM, Wilcken DE. A smokingdependent risk of coronary artery disease associated with a polymorphism of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene. *Nat Med.* 1996;2:41-45
- 14. Nakayama M, Yasue H, Yoshimura M, Shimasaki Y, Kugiyama K, Ogawa H, *et al.* T-786-->c mutation in the 5'-flanking region of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene is associated with coronary spasm. *Circulation.* 1999;99:2864-2870
- 15. Hingorani AD, Liang CF, Fatibene J, Lyon A, Monteith S, Parsons A, *et al.* A common variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (glu298-->asp) is a major risk factor for coronary artery disease in the uk. *Circulation*. 1999;100:1515-1520
- 16. Achen MG, McColl BK, Stacker SA. Focus on lymphangiogenesis in tumor metastasis. *Cancer Cell*. 2005;7:121-127

- 17. Wegener JW, Godecke A, Schrader J, Nawrath H. Effects of nitric oxide donors on cardiac contractility in wild-type and myoglobin-deficient mice. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2002;136:415-420
- 18. Yamamoto T, Bing RJ. Nitric oxide donors. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* 2000;225:200-206
- 19. Rees DD, Palmer RM, Schulz R, Hodson HF, Moncada S. Characterization of three inhibitors of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vitro and in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol*. 1990;101:746-752
- 20. Thiemermann C. Selective inhibition of the activity of inducible nitric oxide synthase in septic shock. *Prog Clin Biol Res.* 1995;392:383-392
- Salerno L, Sorrenti V, Di Giacomo C, Romeo G, Siracusa MA. Progress in the development of selective nitric oxide synthase (nos) inhibitors. *Curr Pharm Des*. 2002;8:177-200
- 22. Mu H, Ohashi R, Lin P, Yao Q, Chen C. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of coronary vessel development. *Vasc Med*. 2005;10:37-44
- 23. Reese DE, Mikawa T, Bader DM. Development of the coronary vessel system. *Circ Res.* 2002;91:761-768
- 24. Winter EM, Gittenberger-de Groot AC. Epicardium-derived cells in cardiogenesis and cardiac regeneration. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2007;64:692-703
- 25. Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Mentink MM, Bokenkamp R, Hogers B. Development of the cardiac coronary vascular endothelium, studied with antiendothelial antibodies, in chicken-quail chimeras. *Circ Res.* 1993;73:559-568
- 26. Vrancken Peeters MP, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Mentink MM, Hungerford JE, Little CD, Poelmann RE. Differences in development of coronary arteries and veins. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1997;36:101-110
- 27. Red-Horse K, Ueno H, Weissman IL, Krasnow MA. Coronary arteries form by developmental reprogramming of venous cells. *Nature*. 2010;464:549-553
- 28. Camarda J, Berger S. Coronary artery abnormalities and sudden cardiac death. *Pediatr Cardiol*. 2012;33:434-438
- 29. Malago R, Pezzato A, Barbiani C, Alfonsi U, Nicoli L, Caliari G, *et al.* Coronary artery anatomy and variants. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2011;41:1505-1515
- 30. Misuraca L, Benedetti G, Petronio AS, De Carlo M, Chella P, Pieroni A, *et al.* Coronary artery anomalies and their clinical relevance. *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis.* 2011;76:66-71
- 31. Han RN, Babaei S, Robb M, Lee T, Ridsdale R, Ackerley C, *et al.* Defective lung vascular development and fatal respiratory distress in endothelial no synthase-deficient mice: A model of alveolar capillary dysplasia? *Circ Res.* 2004;94:1115-1123
- 32. Zhao X, Lu X, Feng Q. Deficiency in endothelial nitric oxide synthase impairs myocardial angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2002;283:H2371-2378
- 33. Aicher A, Heeschen C, Mildner-Rihm C, Urbich C, Ihling C, Technau-Ihling K, *et al.* Essential role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase for mobilization of stem and progenitor cells. *Nat Med.* 2003;9:1370-1376

- 34. Hyer J, Johansen M, Prasad A, Wessels A, Kirby ML, Gourdie RG, *et al.* Induction of purkinje fiber differentiation by coronary arterialization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999;96:13214-13218
- 35. Mikawa T, Hurtado R. Development of the cardiac conduction system. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*. 2007;18:90-100
- 36. Lepic E, Burger D, Lu X, Song W, Feng Q. Lack of endothelial nitric oxide synthase decreases cardiomyocyte proliferation and delays cardiac maturation. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2006;291:C1240-1246
- Lee TC, Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Stewart DJ. Abnormal aortic valve development in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 2000;101:2345-2348

APPENDIX

Appendix A: UWO Animal use sub-committee protocol approvals



Curriculum Vitae

bEducation and Training

Bachelor of Medical Sciences Honors Honors Specialization in Physiology & Pharmacology Western University, Canada	2004/09 - 2008/05
PhD in Pharmacology Western University, Canada Supervisor: Dr. Qingping Feng	2008/09 - present
Employment Experiences	
Supervisor at a fast food restaurant St Thomas, Ontario, Canada	2004/06 - 2005/09
Store Manager at Gino's Pizza Tillsonburg, Ontario, Canada	2006/05 - 2006/09
Teaching Assistant Holding 1hr long lecture each week for 180 students in a 3 rd year pharmacology course (3550b) London, Ontario, Canada	2008/09 - 2009/05
Teaching Assistant Holding 1hr long lecture each week for 110 students in a 3 rd year pharmacology course (3550b) London, Ontario, Canada	2009/09 - 2010/05
Teaching Assistant Holding 1hr long lecture each week for 120 students in a 3 rd year pharmacology course (3550b) London, Ontario, Canada	2010/09 - 2011/05
Assistant Coach Coaching senior badminton in A.B. Lucas Secondary School London, Ontario, Canada	2011/02 - 2012/05
Teaching Assistant 3 rd year pharmacology course (3620) London, Ontario, Canada	2011/09 - 2012/05
Teaching Assistant 3 rd year pharmacology course (3620) London, Ontario, Canada	2012/09 - 2013/05

Awards and Accomplishments

Western entrance scholarship (Over 90% average) St Thomas, Ontario, Canada	2004/09 - 2004/09
Queen Elizabeth II Aiming For The Top Scholarship St Thomas, Ontario, Canada	2004/09 - 2008/05
Dean's honor list for each year of study St Thomas, Ontario, Canada	2004/09 - 2008/05
Intramural Competitive Men's Single Badminton Champion London, Ontario, Canada	2009/01 - 2009/05
Intramural Competitive Co-ed's Double Badminton Champion London, Ontario, Canada	2009/01 - 2009/05
Graduate Student Oral Presentation Award Best oral presentation in graduate student category Canadian Nitric Oxide Society, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada	2009/08 - 2009/08
Graduate Student Poster Presentation Award Best poster presentation in graduate student category J. Allyn Taylor International Prize in Medicine Symposium London, Ontario, Canada	2009/11 - 2009/11
Graduate Student Poster Presentation Award Best poster presentation in cardiovascular research category Annual Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Da London, Ontario, Canada	2009/11 - 2009/11 ay
Graduate Student Poster Presentation Award Best poster presentation XXth World Congress of the International Society for Heart Resea Kyoto, Japan	2010/05 - 2010/05 arch (ISHR)
Graduate Student Oral Presentation Award Annual Lawson Health Research Day Waterloo, Ontario, Canada	2011/03 - 2011/03
3-Minute Thesis Oral Presentation Award Each participate have 3 minutes to talk about their thesis London, Ontario, Canada	2012/05 - 2012/05

Invited Presentations

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. Lawson health research day - Invited Oral Presentation Finalist, Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario, Canada, March 2009.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. Margaret Moffat Research Day, Schulich Medicine & Dentistry, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada, March 2009.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. 5th Annual Canadian Nitric Oxide Society Conference, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, August 2009.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. J. Allyn Taylor International Prize in Medicine Symposium, London, Ontario, Canada, November 2009.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. Annual Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, November 2009.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. Lawson health research day, Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario, Canada, March 2010.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. XXth World Congress of the International Society for Heart Research(ISHR), Kyoto, Japan, May 2010.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. 6th Annual Canadian Nitric Oxide Society Conference, London, Ontario, Canada, June, 2010.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu, and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in atrioventricular valve insufficiency. Annual Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, November 2010.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu, and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in

atrioventricular valve insufficiency. Lawson Health Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, March 2011.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Impairs Fetal Coronary Artery Development in Mice. Great Mammalian Meeting, Toronto, Ontario, Canada April 2011.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu, and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in atrioventricular valve insufficiency. Experimental Biology Poster Presentation, Washington DC. USA, April 2011.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in atrioventricular valve insufficiency. Annual Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, November 2011.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu, and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in atrioventricular valve insufficiency. London Health Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, March 2012.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu, and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in atrioventricular valve insufficiency – invited for oral presentation. Great Mammalian Meeting, Toronto, Ontario, Canada April 2012.

Yin Liu, Xiangru Lu, Fuli Xiang, Man Lu, and Qingping Feng. Deficiency of nitric oxide synthase-3 impairs endocardial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and results in atrioventricular valve insufficiency – invited for oral presentation. Developmental Biology Research Day, London, Ontario, Canada, May, 2012.

Yin Liu, Fuli Xiang, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in nitric oxide synthase-3 results in aortic valve dysfunction and calcification – invited for oral presentation. 8th Annual Canadian Nitric Oxide Society Conference 2010, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, June, 2012.

Yin Liu and Qingping Feng. NOing the heart: role of nitric oxide synthase-3 in heart development. Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Seminar, October, 2012, London, Ontario, Canada

Yin Liu, Fuli Xiang, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in nitric oxide synthase-3 results in aortic valve dysfunction and calcification. Annual Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, November 2012. **Yin Liu,** Fuli Xiang, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in nitric oxide synthase-3 results in aortic valve dysfunction and calcification. London Health Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, March 2013.

Yin Liu, Fuli Xiang, Xiangru Lu and Qingping Feng. Deficiency in nitric oxide synthase-3 results in aortic valve dysfunction and calcification. Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day Poster Presentation, London, Ontario, Canada, November 2013.

Publications

- 1. **Liu Y**, Lu X, Xiang FL, Lu M, Feng Q. Nitric oxide synthase-3 promotes embryonic development of atrioventricular valves. *PLoS One*. 2013;**8**:e77611
- 2. Xiang FL, Lu X, **Liu Y**, Feng Q. Cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of human stem cell factor protects against myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;**168**:3486-3494
- 3. Liu Y, Lu X, Xiang FL, Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Robbins J, *et al.* Nitric oxide synthase-3 deficiency results in hypoplastic coronary arteries and postnatal myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J.* 2012
- 4. **Liu Y**, Feng Q. Noing the heart: Role of nitric oxide synthase-3 in heart development. *Differentiation*. 2012;**84**:54-61
- 5. Zhang T, Lu X, Arnold P, **Liu Y**, Baliga R, Huang H, *et al.* Mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 inhibits myocardial tnf-alpha expression and improves cardiac function during endotoxemia. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2012;**93**:471-479